
 

Page 1 of 3 

Notice of Meeting  
 

Audit & Governance Committee  
 

Date & time Place Contact Chief Executive  
Monday, 18 March 
2013  
at 10.00 am 

Ashcombe Suite, 
County Hall, Kingston 
upon Thames, Surrey 
KT1 2DN 
 

Helen Rankin 
Room 122, County Hall 
Tel 020 85419 126 
 
helen.rankin@surreycc.gov.uk 

David McNulty 
 

 

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in 
another format, eg large print or braille, or another language please 
either call 020 8541 9068, write to Democratic Services, Room 122, 
County Hall, Penrhyn Road, Kingston upon Thames, Surrey KT1 
2DN, Minicom 020 8541 8914, fax 020 8541 9009, or email 
helen.rankin@surreycc.gov.uk. 
 

This meeting will be held in public.  If you would like to attend and you 
have any special requirements, please contact Helen Rankin on 020 
85419 126. 

 

 
Members 

Mr Nick Harrison (Chairman), Mr W D Barker OBE (Vice-Chairman), Mr Stephen Cooksey, Mr 
Tony Elias, Mr Mel Few and Denis Fuller 
 

Ex Officio: 
Mr David Hodge (Leader of the Council), Mr Peter Martin (Deputy Leader), Mr David Munro 
(Vice Chairman of the County Council) and Mrs Lavinia Sealy (Chairman of the County Council) 
 

 



 
Page 2 of 3 

AGENDA 
 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 
 
 

 

2  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING [21 FEBRUARY 2013] 
 
To agree the minutes as a true record of the meeting. 
 

(Pages 1 
- 10) 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests from 
Members in respect of any item to be considered at the meeting. 
 
Notes: 

• In line with the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012, declarations may relate to the interest 
of the member, or the member’s spouse or civil partner, or a 
person with whom the member is living as husband or wife, or a 
person with whom the member is living as if they were civil 
partners and the member is aware they have the interest. 

• Members need only disclose interests not currently listed on the 
Register of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. 

• Members must notify the Monitoring Officer of any interests 
disclosed at the meeting so they may be added to the Register. 

• Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item 
where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

 

 

4  QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
 
To receive any questions or petitions. 
 
Notes: 
1. The deadline for Member’s questions is 12.00pm four working days 

before the meeting  
2. The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting  
3. The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and no 

petitions have been received. 
 
 

 

5  RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER 
 
To review the Committee’s recommendations tracker. 
 

(Pages 
11 - 24) 

6  EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW OF THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
This report sets out the findings and recommendations from the 2012/13 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal audit in Surrey County 
Council.    
 
 

(Pages 
25 - 52) 

7  EXTERNAL AUDIT - AUDIT PLAN 
 
Please see attached 2 reports from the Council’s external auditors, Grant 
Thornton: 

a) This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report 

(Pages 
53 - 86) 



 
Page 3 of 3 

on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors.  
The paper also includes a summary of emerging national issues and 
developments that may be relevant to you as a County Council.  

b) the external auditor’s annual audit plan for year ended 31 March 2013 

 
 

8  PENSION FUND Q3 
 
To receive the latest report on Pension Fund investments. 
 

(Pages 
87 - 92) 

9  SELF ASSESSMENT ON ISSUES RAISED IN -'FINANCIAL 
SUSTAINABILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES' 
 
This report summarises two recent publications on financial sustainability 
and good governance in local authorities. It analyses Surrey County 
Council’s performance and highlights some areas for improvement. 
 

(Pages 
93 - 168) 

10  INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 
 
To receive the Internal Audit plan for 2013/14. 
 

(Pages 
169 - 
192) 

11  COMPLETED INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the Internal Audit 
reports that have been completed since the last meeting of this Committee 
in February 2013. 
 

(Pages 
193 - 
198) 

12  LEADERSHIP RISK REGISTER 
 
The purpose of this report is to present the latest Leadership risk register 
and update the committee on any changes made since the last meeting. 
 
 

(Pages 
199 - 
206) 

 
 

David McNulty 
Chief Executive 

Published: 8 March 2013 
 

MOBILE TECHNOLOGY – ACCEPTABLE USE 
 
Use of mobile technology (mobiles, BlackBerries, etc.) in meetings can: 
 

• Interfere with the PA and Induction Loop systems 

• Distract other people 

• Interrupt presentations and debates 

• Mean that you miss a key part of the discussion 
 
Please switch off your mobile phone/BlackBerry for the duration of the meeting.  If you 
wish to keep your mobile or BlackBerry switched on during the meeting for genuine personal 
reasons, ensure that you receive permission from the Chairman prior to the start of the 
meeting and set the device to silent mode. 
 

Thank you for your co-operation 



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 10 

MINUTES of the meeting of the AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE held 
at 10.00 am on 21 February 2013 at Ashcombe Suite, County Hall, Kingston 
upon Thames, Surrey KT1 2DN. 
 
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its meeting. 
 
Elected Members: 
 
 Mr Nick Harrison (Chairman) 

Mr W D Barker OBE (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr Stephen Cooksey 
Mr Tony Elias 
Mr Mel Few 
Denis Fuller 
 

   
 

In Attendance 
Cath Edwards, Risk & Governance Manager 
Kevin Kilburn, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Representative) 
Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor 
Helen Rankin, Committee Manager 
   

  
 

Item 2

Page 1



Page 2 of 10 

6/13 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  [Item 1] 
 
There were none. 
 

7/13 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS - 6 DECEMBER 2012 AND 12 
FEBRUARY 2013  [Item 2] 
 
The minutes of the 6 December 2012 were agreed as a true and correct 
record. 
 
The minutes of the 12 February 2013 were agreed as a true and correct 
record, subject to amendments circulated ahead of the meeting.  The 
amendments drew attention to follow up action required by the Committee, 
following recommendations from the Council Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
on Business Planning for 2013/14. 
 
The minute relating to Item 5 (Dispensation for Members to enable them to 
participate in the Council budget meeting) was also amended to clarify that 
the Council had decided to proceed with the recommendation as government 
advice had not specifically covered the issue of a Member being a freeholder 
or lease holder of a property in Surrey.   
 

8/13 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  [Item 3] 
 
There were none. 
 

9/13 QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  [Item 4] 
 
There were none. 
 

10/13 RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER  [Item 5] 
 
Tony Elias joined the meeting. 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Cath Edwards, Risk & Governance Manager 
Kevin Kilburn, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor 
Helen Rankin, Regulatory Committee Manager 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. In relation to A14/12 (internal audit reports on the SNet), the 
Regulatory Committee Manager advised that all Internal Audit reports 
published in the period May 2012 – present had been uploaded into 
an intranet library.  The Chief Internal Auditor would send out a link to 
all Members after the meeting. 

2. In relation to A20/12 (damage to county property recovery rates), the 
Chairman advised that he would ask the Projects and Contracts Group 
Manager to attend the next meeting.   

3. In relation to A38/12 (Creditor balance), the Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer provided an update.  He reported that the action related to an 
uncorrected non-material error identified by the eternal auditor.  The 

Page 2



Page 3 of 10 

Finance service had been investigating this since September 2012 
and found that £1.7m (of the reported £9.3m balance) had 
subsequently been paid.  The investigation had been broken down 
into vendor balances of over £50k, those worth £25k-50k, and under 
£25k.  The higher balances had been the focus of the initial stages of 
the investigation, and good progress had been made so far.  The 
problem had occurred because of a difference between amounts 
recorded on purchase orders and actual goods received.  It was noted 
that there had also been cases where invoices had not been received 
or where use of an alternative payment method had not been advised 
to Accounts Payable.  The Deputy Chief Finance Officer explained that 
the whole end-to-end purchasing-to-pay process was being reviewed.  
He clarified that no balances (which were favourable) had been written 
back yet, as the investigation was not complete and officers were keen 
to avoid writing back any balances that could be a proper liability.  In 
terms of timescales, it was reported that some of the work, particularly 
on the smaller balances, was likely to continue after the end of this 
financial year.  It was reported that when the total amount was 
confirmed, it would be written back centrally so that Cabinet could 
decide what to do with it.  The Deputy Chief Finance Officer advised 
that he would speak to the external auditor about the next steps, but 
did not anticipate that reallocating the expenditure by expense 
category to services in the financial accounts would be a time 
consuming task.  

4. Members expressed concern that items were being marked as goods 
receipted, without the Council ever receiving the goods.  The Deputy 
Chief Finance Officer explained that necessary controls were in place 
through budget monitoring.    The Chief Internal Auditor confirmed that 
audits of budgetary control, accounts payable and the General Ledger 
were currently underway   

5. In relation to A45/12 (schools early closure of accounts), the Deputy 
Chief Finance Officer reported that major problems were not 
anticipated this year as Easter fell earlier than previous years.  In 
addition, Babcock 4S were sending out additional information to 
schools, a new SAP module had been implemented for capital and 
quarterly closing was helping to ensure that there should not be any 
issues with early close because of schools.  The Audit Manager (Grant 
Thornton) reported that the Finance Manager (Assets and Accounting) 
had been present at a recent Grant Thornton session on account 
closing where Oldham Council had shared information about 
successful accounts closing with relation to schools. 

6. In relation to A53/12 (select committee review of Internal Audit 
reports), the Committee agreed the proposed wording of a 
recommendation to select committee chairmen setting out the process 
handling Internal Audit reports. 

7. In relation to A58/12 (Environment and Infrastructure risk register), the 
Risk & Governance Manager advised that she had not yet received an 
updated version of the register.  The Chairman agreed to write to the 
relevant Portfolio Holder again. 

8. In relation to A59/12 (energy purchasing contract), the Chairman 
confirmed that a letter had been drafted, signed by the Leader and 
sent to the Leader of the local authority in question.  

9. It was noted that A1/13 would be updated to reflect the amended 
minutes, agreed at Item 2. 

Page 3



Page 4 of 10 

10. Before concluding the item, Members agreed that it would be helpful to 
ensure that the recommendations tracker was fully up-to-date, ahead 
of the forthcoming elections, which could see a change in Committee 
membership. 

 
Actions/Further information to be provided: 
The recommendations tracker to be updated to reflect the discussion, as 
noted above. 
 
RESOLVED: 
The recommendations tracker was noted and the Committee agreed to 
remove pages 37 – 39 of the tracker, as the actions were completed. 
 
Committee Next Steps: 
The Chairman agreed to write to: 

• The Portfolio Holder for Environment & Transport about the 
Environment & Infrastructure Strategic Risk Register 

• Select Committee chairmen, with reference to the select committee 
process for handling Internal Audit reports 

• The Highways Department, with regard to A20/12 
 

11/13 EXTERNAL AUDIT - CERTIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND RETURNS  [Item 
6] 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Kevin Kilburn, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor 
Andy Mack, Engagement Lead (Grant Thornton) 
Kathryn Sharp, Audit Manager (Grant Thornton) 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. The Audit Manager (Grant Thornton) introduced the report, and 
advised that it summarised the work undertaken on 3 grants during 
2011/12.  2 claims had been submitted on time, with the third slightly 
delayed due to further clarification being required.  It had been noted 
that the processes had improved on previous years, and 
recommendations from the previous year’s audit had been addressed, 
particularly around information relating to external payroll providers.   

2. The Teacher’s Pensions Return had been qualified due to 
identification by Internal Audit of payments coded as honorarium being 
made to teachers.  The Deputy Chief Finance Officer explained that he 
was working on resolving this issue.  

3. In the previous year, the external auditor had reported problems with 
obtaining information from external payroll providers, and it was noted 
that this issue had now been resolved.  The Chairman thanked the 
Section 151 Officer and her team for addressing and resolving this 
problem. 

4. It was noted that the total fee for certification of claims and returns for 
the previous year was £9,630 in total, against the budget of £11,858. 

Page 4



Page 5 of 10 

5. The Audit Manager (Grant Thornton) clarified that the grant claim for 
Walton Bridge had been completed by the Audit Commission, before 
duties were transferred to Grant Thornton. 

6. Members queried why the external auditor was intending on placing 
less reliance on Internal Audit.  The Audit Manager (Grant Thornton) 
advised that this approach meant that Internal Audit were less bound 
by what the external auditor required of them, and therefore they had 
more freedom in their approach to auditing the key financial systems.  
The Chief Internal Auditor commented that different external auditors 
often took different approaches and that this approach would give her 
team more freedom with regards to their testing. 

7. Members asked whether there was any further information on the 
coded as honorarium payments made to teachers.  The Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer explained that he had been in touch with the Teacher’s 
Pension Agency (TPA) and submitted all relevant information.  At this 
stage officers were responding to queries from the TPA on the 
information submitted. 

8. Members queried whether Internal Audit’s involvement in the 
certification of grants and returns work in previous years had been 
resource intensive.  The Chief Internal Auditor explained that when 
she presented her audit plan for 2013/14, at a future committee, 
Members would see that days set aside for grant work had reduced 
further, meaning there was more capacity within the plan for other 
audit work. 

 
Actions/Further information to be provided: 
None. 
 
RESOLVED: 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
Committee Next Steps: 
None. 
 

12/13 EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT  [Item 7] 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Kevin Kilburn, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
Andy Mack, Engagement Lead (Grant Thornton) 
Kathryn Sharp, Audit Manager (Grant Thornton) 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. The Engagement Lead (Grant Thornton) advised that initial planning 
for the year’s audit had been completed, and the proposed audit plan 
would be presented at the Committee’s next meeting.  He reported 
that initial conversations with officers had been successful and time 
had been spent discussing the relationship between the Council and 
the external auditor moving forward. 

2. The report also brought to the attention of Members national 
publications on the challenges that local government was facing.   

3. Members queried whether the external auditor could audit balances at 
an earlier date than month-end, to help the Council bring its account 

Page 5



Page 6 of 10 

closing forward by a month.  The Engagement Lead (Grant Thornton) 
explained that he was currently engaged in discussions with Finance 
about bringing timescales forward.   

4. The Chairman confirmed that even though it was not a statutory duty, 
the Committee would be reviewing and signing off unaudited accounts 
on 24 June.  The audited accounts would be presented to the 
Committee in early September 2013, but it was hoped that this could 
be brought forward by a month in future years.  The Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer explained that a faster close was anticipated this year, 
with the target for draft account completions set for  the end of May, 
although the external audit would not start until the end of June 

5. Members asked the external auditor how reserves should be shown 
on the balance sheet. The Engagement Lead (Grant Thornton) 
explained that for long term planning decisions the holding of reserves 
was beneficial.   He agreed to include consideration of this in the 
interim work undertaken by the external auditor before the final 
findings were reported.  (Recommendations tracker ref: A2/14 ) 

6. It was noted a report would be brought to the Committee at their next 
meeting with a self assessment of the Council against the 
recommendations made in Grant Thornton’s ‘Toward a Tipping Point’ 
and the National Audit Office’s ‘Financial Sustainability of Local 
Authorities’. 

 
Actions/Further Information to be provided: 
The recommendations tracker to be updated to reflect the actions identified 
during the discussion.   
 
RESOLVED: 
The Committee noted the update. 
 
Committee next steps: 
None. 
 

13/13 REVIEW OF THE PAMS SYSTEM  [Item 8] 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Nigel Jones, Performance Manager 
John Stebbings, Chief Property Officer 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. The Performance Manager introduced the report and explained that 
the Property Asset Management System (PAMS), was a joint 
procurement exercise between Surrey County Council (SCC) and 
Hampshire County Council (HCC).  PAMS would enable the Council to 
have all its information relating to property assets in one system, 
including information at the point of purchase right through to disposal.   

2. The first phase of the PAMS launch was scheduled for April 2013 and 
would include all maintenance projects.  Rental accounting information 
was expected to be live in the system by the end of the first quarter of 
the 2013/14 financial year.  There would then be an incremental 
implementation of the rest of the features of PAMS, through to 
November 2013.   

Page 6



Page 7 of 10 

3. Members asked whether officers could guarantee that the system 
would include information on all buildings owned by the Council.  The 
Chief Property Officer explained that PAMS would ensure a clearer 
and more transparent record. 

4. The Committee asked what the overall cost of procuring the system 
would be and when the implementation was likely to be complete.  The 
Performance Manager advised that it was aimed for the system to be 
fully functional by November 2013.  It was noted that costs would be 
shared with HCC.  The cost of implementation for SCC was £52,025 
and thereafter a licence fee of £7,500 would be payable per annum.   

5. The Chief Property Officer explained that once the system was up and 
running it would continue to be developed so that South East Seven 
authorities could invest in it.   

6. Members noted that PAMS had been purchased through the ‘Invest to 
Save’ budget and queried what the actual savings had been.  The 
Performance Manager explained a number of savings had been 
factored in, including looking at how money could be saved by having 
better information about properties and analysing assets.  Further 
benefits of PAMS included increased levels of customer service and 
better transparency.   

7. The Committee asked for assurance that the company providing the 
software was resilient in the current economic climate.  The 
Performance Manager advised that the procurement process had 
included checks on the company.  In addition, SCC would still have 
access to the system, even in the event of the provider no longer 
being active.   

8. The Performance Manager explained that the system would require 
very little customisation.  He went on to advise that expressions of 
interest had been received from 3 other local authorities about using 
PAMS. 

9. The Chief Property Officer reported that his department had recently 
been through a restructure and around 15 roles were still being 
actively recruited too.  However, he reassured the Committee that 
there was adequate cover available to keep the service running.   

10. It was noted that the system would be hosted on an external server, 
and Members asked what assurance there was that data would be 
secure.  The Performance Manager explained that he had been 
working closely with SCC and HCC’s IMT departments to ensure that 
the system would be secure.  Once implemented, the security of the 
system would continue to be reviewed. 

11. Members asked whether consideration had been given to hosting the 
software at the Council’s Data Centre.  The Performance Manager 
explained that this had been considered, although at the time of 
procurement the SCC Data Centre was not live.  HCC had also 
considered hosting the system, but had concluded that the work 
involved would significantly delay the project.  However, moving the 
system across to a Council server was an option for the future. 

 
Actions/further information to be provided: 
None. 
 
RESOLVED: 
The Committee: 

a) Noted the progress made against the implementation plan so far and 
recognised the achievements to date. 

Page 7



Page 8 of 10 

b) Agreed to receive further updates on progress against planned 
activities at future Committee meetings, as required. 

 
Committee next steps: 
The Committee to receive a further update and demonstration of the system 
once it is implemented. (Recommendations tracker ref: A3/13 ) 
 

14/13 COMPLETED INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS  [Item 9] 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. The Chief Internal Auditor drew the Committee’s attention to the 
Records Management audit report, which had attracted an ‘Effective’ 
audit opinion.  However, it was noted that the Direct Payments follow 
up audit and the Corporate Purchasing Cards audit had received 
‘Major Improvement Needed’ opinions.  The review of Special Schools 
(funding of residential provision) was the only report to receive an 
‘unsatisfactory’ audit opinion. 

2. It was noted that the Direct Payments follow up audit had been 
discussed in detail at the Adult Social Care Select Committee in 
November 2012.  Most of the other reports, including the Corporate 
Purchasing Cards report, had been discussed at the last meeting of 
the Council Overview & Scrutiny Committee (COSC). 

3. Members were concerned that staff other than the designated card 
holder might be using purchasing cards.  The Chief Internal Auditor 
explained that when issued with a card, the terms of issue stated that 
only the cardholder must use it. Discussions were taking place to 
ensure that adequate controls were in place to ensure that others were 
not able to use purchasing cards that had not been assigned to them.  
It was reported that managers were issued with guidance when a 
member of staff received the card; however, this guidance may not be 
passed on to any subsequent manager taking on that role.  Therefore, 
it was important that awareness of guidance and rules continued to be 
promoted on an ongoing basis.  

4. The Committee asked whether inappropriate expenditure had been 
recovered.  The Chief Internal Auditor advised that appropriate action 
was taken on individual cases such as repayment of money and 
removing the card from an individual.  Members felt that if the 
responsibility lay with the manager not making the required checks on 
a team’s purchasing card use, the use of cards should be withdrawn 
from that department.  It was agreed that the Committee would make 
this recommendation to the Head of Corporate Purchasing.  
(Recommendations tracker ref: A3/13). 

5.  The Chief Internal Auditor explained that as a result of the Corporate 
Purchasing Cards audit attracting an opinion of ‘major improvement 
needed’, a follow up audit would be planned.  Members agreed that 
the Chief Internal Auditor should report on progress against actions at 
the next meeting, along with the Head of Corporate Purchasing. 
(Recommendations tracker: A4/13). 

Page 8



Page 9 of 10 

6. One Member of the Committee commented, during the debate, that 
the content of the Schools Basic Needs Programme audit report was 
being considered very closely by the Education Select Committee. 

7. Members commended the work of the Superfast Broadband team and 
the work undertaken so far.   

8. During the debate, one Member queried whether Internal Audit would 
be reviewing the end-to-end process for accounts receivables in Adult 
Social Care.  The Chief Internal Auditor confirmed that an audit of 
financial assessments and benefits was underway.   

 
Actions/Further Information to be provided:  
The recommendations tracker to be updated to reflect the actions identified 
during the discussion. 
 
RESOLVED: 
The Committee noted the content of the report. 
 
Committee next steps: 
The Committee to receive a further update on the Corporate Purchasing 
Cards audit report at their next meeting. 
 

15/13 PUBLIC SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS  [Item 10] 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. The Chief Internal Auditor introduced the item and explained that in 
recent years, Surrey County Council had adopted the CIPFA Code of 
Best Practice.  The annual effectiveness review of the system of 
internal audit had been used to assess compliance with the Code in 
the past years.  It was reported that the Institute of Internal Auditors 
and CIPFA had collaborated and produced the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS), which would come into effect in April 2013, 
replacing the CIPFA code.  

2. The Chief Internal Auditor explained that if it were found that the 
Council’s Internal Audit department did not comply with the PSIAS in 
any significant way, it should form part of the findings of the Annual 
Governance Statement.   

3. It was noted that the terms of reference for this year’s effectiveness 
review of the system of internal audit had included an assessment of 
the readiness of the Council to adopt the new standards.  

4. It was agreed that the terms of reference for the Committee would 
need to be changed to reflect the adoption of the new standards 
(recommendations tracker: A5/13). 

5. The Chief Internal Auditor confirmed that there were no fundamental 
differences between the CIPFA Code of Best Practice and the PSIAS.  
There were some small changes which would be reflected in Internal 
Audit’s work, such as the requirement to link the Internal Audit plan to 
level of resource within the team.   

 
Actions/Further information to be provided: 

Page 9



Page 10 of 10 

The recommendations tracker to be updated to reflect the actions determined 
during the discussion. 
 
RESOLVED: 
The Committee agreed to adopt the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards as 
best practice for the delivery of a quality Internal Audit Service at Surrey 
County Council, for the benefit of both the Council as a whole and the 
residents of Surrey.  
 
Committee next steps: 
Terms of reference to be amended to reflect the changes identified in the 
report.  
 

16/13 LEADERSHIP RISK REGISTER  [Item 11] 
 
Declarations of interest: 
None. 
 
Officers: 
Cath Edwards, Risk & Governance Manager 
 
Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. The Risk & Governance Manager introduced the report and advised 
that there had been no changes to the register since the Committee 
last reviewed it.  However, it was noted that proposed changes would 
be considered at the next meeting of the Corporate Board.   

2. In relation to L1 (Medium Term Financial Plan), Members were 
concerned that in some departments underspend was being 
transferred to other departments.  It was clarified that there was a 
virement process which needed to be followed if budgets were 
transferred between departments.   

3. Members repeated concern about the Strategic Director risk register 
for Environment & Infrastructure, which had not recently been 
updated.  It was noted that this would be followed up through the item 
on the recommendations tracker.   

 
Actions/further information to be provided: 
None. 
 
RESOLVED: 
The Leadership Risk Register was noted. 
 
Committee next steps: 
The Committee to review the updated risk register at their next meeting. 
 
 Before closing the Committee, it was noted that it was the Committee 
Manager’s last meeting in her current role.  Members thanked Helen for the 
support she had provided to the Committee over the last 2 years. 
 
 
 
 
Meeting ended at: Time Not Specified 
______________________________________________________________ 
 Chairman 

Page 10



Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 

S 
 

Audit & Governance Committee 
18 March 2013 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER  

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT:  
 
For Members to consider and comment on the Committee’s recommendations 
tracker. 
 

 

INTRODUCTION: 

 
A recommendations tracker recording actions and recommendations from previous 
meetings is attached as Item 5 Annex A, and the Committee is asked to review 
progress on the items listed. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The Committee is asked to monitor progress on the implementation of 
recommendations from previous meetings (Item 5 Annex A). 

 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
REPORT CONTACT: Helen Rankin, Regulatory Committee Manager 
020 8541 9126 
Helen.rankin@surreycc.gov.uk 
 
Sources/background papers:  None 

 

Item 5

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

Recommendations (REFERRALS) 
 

Number 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Item Recommendation / 
Referral 

To Response 

R3/11 05/10/11 (75/11) That the audit report 
‘accounts receivable’ be 
referred to the Adult Social 
Care Select Committee for 
scrutiny (with a particular 
focus on the finding that 
debts had arisen as a result 
of recipients of direct 
payments within ASC, using 
the money for purposes other 
than to meet their care needs 
and improvements in the 
dunning process). 

Adult Social Care 
Select Committee 

An audit of Social Care debt was included in the 
‘Completed Audit reports’ item on the agenda (5 April 
2012) and an audit of Direct Payments is included on 
the ‘Completed Audit Reports Item’ on the 21 May 
2012 agenda. 
 
An update on Social Care Debt was considered by 
the Adult Social Care Select Committee at their 
meetings on 4 July and 30 November 2012.  The 
Audit & Governance Committee will continue to be 
kept updated on the outcome of the Adult Social Care 
Committee’s debate through the Bulletin. 

R1/12 21/05/12 (36/12) 
Annual 
Governance 
Statement 

That the Annual Governance 
Statement be COMMENDED 
to Cabinet for publication with 
the council’s statement of 
accounts. 

Cabinet The Annual Governance Statement was presented to 
the Cabinet on 19 June 2012.  The Cabinet approved 
the content and authorised the Leader and Chief 
Executive to sign for inclusion in the Statement of 
Accounts.  The Committee will continue to monitor 
progress on the implementations of the actions 
required and report to Cabinet where appropriate.   

P
age 13



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

Number 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Item Recommendation / 
Referral 

To Response 

R3/12 21/05/12 (38/12) 
Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 

The Committee recommends 
that the Adult Social Care 
Select Committee: 
 
Review the Direct Payments 
audit report and monitor the 
situation until the policy 
commitment for annual 
reviews of the social care 
needs of the recipients of 
direct payments is met.  
 

Adult Social Care 
Select Committee 

An officer working group reported to the Adult Social 
Care Select Committee on 30 November 2012. The 
Assistant Director for Transformation reported to the 
Committee that the intention was that the review 
process would be embedded within the Locality 
Teams in the future, rather than responsibility of a 
dedicated team.  There would be a review of the 
Direct Payment Review team in March 2013. 
 
A Member Reference Group of the Adult Social Care 
Select Committee has also been set up to review 
whether AIS meets the needs of the directorate.  The 
outcome of this review is due to be reported in May 
2013. 

 

P
age 14



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

 
Recommendations (ACTIONS) 

 

Number 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Item Recommendation / Action Action by 
whom 

Action update 

A17/12 07/04/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(21/12) 

Traffic Signal Management 
audit report: Data to be 
reported to the Committee 
regarding the level of 
collection rates. 

Audit 
Performance 
Manager 

An update was annexed to this tracker with the agenda 
papers for 21 May 2012.  Members were concerned 
that recovery rates were still low and commented on 
the fact that action had only been taken on 50 cases 
out of the 71 recorded.  It has subsequently been 
confirmed that the remaining 21 cases are those being 
actively pursued with companies, insurance companies 
and individuals.  

A20/12 21/05/12 Recommenda
tions tracker 
(31/12) 

With regards to low recovery 
rates in cases of damage to 
county property, the 
Chairman to write to the 
Portfolio Holder and ask for 
his comments on the matter 
and seek assurance that 
relevant action was being 
taken to improve collection 
rates for damage to county 
property. 

Chairman of the 
Committee 

Following the response to action A17/12 (above), the 
Chairman determined that it was no longer necessary 
to write to the Portfolio holder on damage to traffic 
signals. 
 
However, the Chairman has requested further 
information about other damage to county property.   At 
the meeting in February 2013, the Committee agreed 
to invite the accountable officer to the next meeting. 
 

A33/12 25/06/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
reports 
(51/12) 

An update to be provided on 
the recommendations made 
in the Highways Contract 
audit report. 

Projects & 
Contracts Group 
Manager 
(Surrey 
Highways) 

A follow up audit will commence at the end of February, 
with an audit report circulated in April 2013. 

A36/12 25/06/12 Future of 
External Audit 
(54/12) 

When the new external 
auditors are in place, the 
Committee to challenge how 
the estimated 40% savings 
will and have been met. 

Committee 
Members 

The new external auditor’s attended the meeting in 
December 2012.  The new District Auditor was 
confident that the 40% savings could be met, based on 
the quality of the previous year’s accounts. 

P
age 15



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

Number 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Item Recommendation / Action Action by 
whom 

Action update 

A39/12 3/09/12 2011/12 
Surrey 
County 
Council 
accounts and 
external audit 
annual 
governance 
report (63/12) 

Recommended that 
Environment & Transport 
Select Committee should be 
considering the outcome of 
the MAXIMO internal audit 
report 

Projects & 
Contracts Group 
Manager 
(Surrey 
Highways) 

 
A six-month review of the May Gurney contract was 
considered by the Environment & Transport Select 
Committee in February 2013. Members were satisfied 
with the performance figures and supported proposals 
to improve the highways maintenance programme. A 
twelve-month review will be considered by the Select 
Committee in June 2013. 
 

P
age 16



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

 
A45/12 03/10/12 Financial 

Management 
PVR Update 
(75/12) 

Officers to consider whether 
early close of schools 
accounts would help 
overcome the barrier of 
schools not using SAP 

Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer 

At the meeting in December 2012, the Finance 
Manager (Assets & Accounting) advised that a mini 
project on schools accounts closing was underway.     
 
A further update was provided at the meeting in 
February.  Detail of the response can be found in the 
minutes of the meeting on 21 February 2013.    
   

A53/12 06/12/12 Recommenda
tions tracker 

Letter from Chairman to 
select committee chairmen 
about importance of internal 
audit reports 

Chairman of the 
Committee. 

The Chairman has discussed with the Chairman of the 
Council Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  A draft paper 
on select committee review of audit reports has been 
circulated for Member comment before being shared 
with select committee chairmen. 
 
It was agreed at the meeting on 21 February 2013, that 
the Chairman would write to the select committee 
chairmen to advise them on the process of handling 
Internal Audit reports at select committees.  

A54/12 06/12/12 Whistleblowin
g update 
(92/12) 

Babcock 4S representative to 
attend the meeting when the 
next 6 monthly 
whistleblowing report is 
presented. 
 

Deputy Head of 
HR&OD 

This is scheduled for June 2013. 

A55/12 06/12/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(95/12) 

Further update to be provided 
on the recommendation that 
finance staff continue to 
develop reports for budget 
holders to analyse all 
additional payroll costs. 

Chief Internal 
Auditor 

Implementation of the Finance Dashboard will enable 
these to be developed 
 

A57/12 06/12/12 Risk 
Management 
Half year 
report (96/12) 

The Assistant Chief 
Executive to attend a future 
meeting of the Committee to 
talk about risk management 
arrangements. 

Risk & 
Governance 
Manager/Assist
ant Chief 
Executive 

The Assistant Chief Executive will be invited to attend 
the meeting in June, when the Risk & Governance 
Manager presents her annual report. 

P
age 17



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

A58/12 06/12/12 Risk 
Management 
Half year 
report (96/12) 

The Chairman to write to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment & Transport to 
raise his concern about the 
outstanding Strategic Director 
risk register. 

Chairman of the 
Committee 

A response was received from the Cabinet Member 
which read: 
 
Work has been underway since November to review 
and revise the 3 Service Risk Registers within the 
directorate.  Once these are completed a revised 
Directorate Risk Register will be compiled.   This is due 
to be agreed early this month.  The new Directorate 
Risk Register will be reviewed at Directorate 
Management Team, Directorate Leadership Team and 
by myself (with DMT) on a quarterly basis. 
 
At the meeting on 21 February 2013, the Risk & 
Governance Manager confirmed that she had not yet 
received the updated risk register.  The Chairman 
agreed to write to the Portfolio Holder again. 
 
 

A59/12 06/12/12 Energy 
Purchasing 
Contract 
(99/12) 

The Committee to urge the 
Leader to write to the Council 
involved to offer support to 
amending the terms of 
reference of the governance 
panel. 

Chairman of the 
Committee 

A letter has been sent from the Leader of the Council to 
the Leader of the local authority in question, to make 
the recommendations.     

A1/13 12/02/13 Business 
Planning 
2013 – 2018 
(4/13) 

The recommendations from 
the 5 February Council 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee to the Cabinet 
include follow up action by 
the Committee (see Annex A) 

Chairman of the 
Committee. 

The details of these recommendations will be added to 
the Committee’s forward work programme. 

P
age 18



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

A2/13 21/02/13 External Audit 
Progress 
Report  
(12/13) 

Members asked the external 
auditor how reserves should 
be shown on the balance 
sheet. The Engagement Lead 
(Grant Thornton) explained 
that for long term planning 
decisions the holding of 
reserves was beneficial.   He 
agreed to include 
consideration of this in the 
interim work undertaken by 
the external auditor before 
the final findings were 
reported 

Engagement 
Lead (Grant 
Thornton) 

Updates to be provided through the external auditor’s 
progress reports 

A3/13 21/02/13 PAMS 
(13/13) 

The Committee to receive a 
further update and 
demonstration of the system 
once it is implemented 

Chief Property 
Officer/Performa
nce Manager 

Progress check in June 2013. 

A4/13 21/02/13 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(14/13) 

Committee recommend to 
Head of Corporate 
Purchasing that where 
managers are failing to follow 
Purchasing Card guidelines, 
consideration be given to 
removing cards from use in 
that department. 

Head of 
Procurement & 
Commissioning 

The Procurement & Commissioning Manager has 
replied that new guidelines re clear that where there 
are repeated failures to follow guidelines, then the 
user’s card is withdrawn.  Monitoring is in place to 
ensure this happens.  

A5/13 21/02/13 Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards 
(15/13) 

It was agreed that the 
terms of reference for the 
Committee would need to 
be changed to reflect the 
adoption of the new 
standards 

Chairman The Chairman to discuss with the Monitoring Officer. 

P
age 19



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

 
 
 
Completed Recommendations/Referrals/Actions  

Recommendations – to be deleted 

A9/12 07/04/12 Recommenda
tions tracker 
(17/12) 

It was noted that Babcock 4S 
were known to have large 
cash balances, but taking out 
dividends was restricted by 
pension liability.  It was 
agreed that options would be 
explored outside of the 
meeting 

Section 151 
Officer 

Babcock 4S attended the Committee in December 
2012. 
 
The Finance Director (Babcock 4S) provided the 
following  update: 
Based on the quarter three company accounts, with a 
revised valuation of the pension fund deficit, there was 
a sufficient balance on the company's profit and loss 
account to make a dividend payment of £1,865,000. 
This has been approved by the company board and the 
council has received its 30% of this, which is £559,500 
on 7 February 2013. 

A14/12 07/04/12 Internal Audit 
Plan 2012/13 
(19/12) 

Consideration to be given to 
the wider distribution of 
internal audit reports. 

Chief Internal 
Auditor/Chairma
n of the 
Committee 

At the meeting on 21 May, most Members agreed with 
the recommendation that audit reports would be 
published on the S-Net for use by Members.  
 
Democratic Services have procured a new committee 
management system and all Internal Audit reports 
published since 21 May 2012 are now available on the 
S-Net.  A link was included in the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s regular email to all Members to notify them of 
reports considered at each Audit & Governance 
Committee.   

P
age 20



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

A34/12 26/05/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
reports 
(51/12) 

The findings of the work 
being carried out by the 
Council Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee relating to 
mapping vacancies across 
the organisation be reported 
back to the Committee.  

Committee 
Manager 

The findings were presented to the Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee in December 2012.  The 
Committee agreed that further consideration needed to 
be given to the wording of the recommendations arising 
from the review, and therefore resolved to receive a 
further at their next meeting.  At their meeting in 
February 2013, the Committee agreed the following 
recommendations:  

a. That a policy is formulated to define what 
constitutes a vacant position the 
organization structure. 

b. That criteria are established which vacant 
positions must meet in order to remain in 
the organization structure together with the 
operating budget allowance. 

c. That the definition and criteria be 
consistently applied in all services in the 
management of their business plans. 

 

A38/12 3/09/12 2011/12 
Surrey 
County 
Council 
accounts and 
external audit 
annual 
governance 
report (63/12) 

Updates throughout the year 
to be provided on the work 
being undertaken to identify 
the extent of overstatement 
identified in the external 
auditor’s Annual Governance 
Report. 

Deputy Chief 
Finance Officer 

An update was provided at the meeting.  Detail of the 
response can be found in the minutes of the meeting 
on 21 February 2013.    

A42/12 03/10/12 Leadership 
Risk Register 
(73/12) 

An update to be provided on 
whether the Waste Contract 
risk was still ‘high’. 

Section 151 
Officer 

At the meeting in December 2012 the Section 151 
Officer advised that she had spoken to the Strategic 
Director for Environment & Transport and could confirm 
that the risk should remain ‘high’.  This was because of 
the significant implications should the contract fail in 
anyway – however, it was stressed that there was no 
indication that the contract would fail. 

P
age 21



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

A43/12 03/10/12 Funding 
Strategy 
Update 
Report 
(74/12) 

Update to be provided on the 
impact of the Strategic 
Director for Customers & 
Communities working part-
time with Mole Valley District 
Council, on the rest of CLT. 

Section 151 
Officer 

At the meeting in December 2012, the Section 151 
Officer assured the Committee that she still had as 
much access to all of the strategic directors and that 
the Strategic Director for Customers & Communities 
had been present at all CLT meetings, since taking on 
the additional responsibilities at Mole Valley District 
Council.   

A44/12 03/10/12 Funding 
Strategy 
Update 
Report 
(74/12) 

Funding Strategy task group 
to report findings to the 
Committee in due course. 

Chairman A joint meeting of the task group and the Council 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee Finance Sub Group 
was held in December 2012.  Audit & Governance 
Committee also joined Council Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee at their formal meeting on 1 February 2013, 
to consider the Treasury Management Strategy. 

A46/12 03/10/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(77/12) 

An update to be provided on 
the actions coming out of the 
ICS audit report, to include: 

• The views of 
Children’s Services in 
terms of how serious 
situationwas 

• Detail of how much 
information had been 
transferred incorrectly 
from the old SWIFT 
system to the new 
ICS System 

Compliance 
Auditor 

An update was circulated on 3 January 2013. 

A47/12 03/10/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(77/12) 

Members to raise their 
concern about the Telecare 
audit at the next Council 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Chairman of the 
Council 
Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

Members of the Committee who also sat on the Council 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee explained that the 
projected savings of the Telecare project had reduced 
from £1m to £200k – however, matters were 
progressing.    

P
age 22



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

A48/12 03/10/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(77/12) 

Chief Internal Auditor to 
report back regarding the 
control and cost issues 
identified in the Waste 
Contract Management report 

Chief Internal 
Auditor 

An update was circulated by email on 13 December 
2012.  
 
The auditor advised that:  
1. The Environment & Infrastructure directorate was 
being re-structured in 2011/12 (Nov '10 - March '11) 
and a Finance Manager responsible for verifying 
recycling credits,  was seconded to oversee this 
change. 
2. Information on any items recycled by SITA as part of 
the contract is provided by SITA monthly. 
3. The districts and boroughs (D&B) have their own 
waste collection contracts and recycling arrangements 
which is not part of the SITA contract. They provide the 
recycling credit figures to SCC who undertake a 
sample test to verify these before finally agreeing the 
recycling credits to be granted to D&Bs. It is this check 
which slipped in 2011/12 due to resource constraints 
but was put back on track in early 2012/13 after the 
new structure was in place and as part of finalising and 
completing year-end accounts.   
 
 

A49/12 03/10/12 Completed 
Internal Audit 
Reports 
(77/12) 

Chairman to write to the 
Leader of the Council to 
stress that select committee 
chairmen take audit reports 
more seriously when 
considering their work 
programmes 

Chairman The Chairman has raised concerns with the Leader of 
the Council.   
 
It has been agreed that where the Audit & Governance 
Committee feel matters need to be considered more 
seriously, they will make a direct recommendation to 
the relevant select committee. 

P
age 23



Audit & Governance Committee Recommendations Tracking 
 
 

A51/12 03/10/12 Fighting 
Fraud Locally 
(78/12) 

Feedback to be provided 
following discussions with HR 
about changes to recruitment 
vetting procedures 

Chief Internal 
Auditor 

At the meeting in December 2012 the Chief Internal 
Auditor explained that here team were working closely 
with HR on vetting procedures.  In addition, the Better 
Governance Forum had recently issued a publication 
on recruitment practices, which had been shared with 
HR, so that they could look at best practice related to 
fighting fraud locally.  

A56/12 06/12/12 Risk 
Management 
Half year 
report (96/12) 

Risk & Governance Manager 
to circulate one page 
summary of directorate risk 
registers 

Risk & 
Governance 
Manager 

The summary was circulated to Committee Members 
on 19 December 2012. 

      

 P
age 24



 
 

  

S 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
18 March 2013 

 

2012/13 Review of the Effectiveness of the System of Internal Audit 

 
 

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

 
This report sets out the findings and recommendations from the 2012/13 review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal audit in Surrey County Council.    
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The Committee is asked to consider the findings of this report and request an update on 
progress in implementing the recommendations arising from the review be included in the 
Annual Internal Audit report to be presented to this Committee by the Chief Internal Auditor in 
June 2013. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

 
1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations require local authorities “to conduct, at least once in 

each year, a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal audit.” The Audit and 
Governance Committee, as the Committee charged with responsibility for Internal Audit, 
considers that it is best placed to sponsor such a review on behalf of Surrey County 
Council. 

 
2 As well as assessing the effectiveness of the current system of Internal Audit in Surrey 

County Council, this year’s review considered whether any changes are required to 
ensure compliance with the new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which 
come into effect from 1 April 2013. 

 
3 To ensure an appropriate level of objectivity this review was undertaken by a suitably 

qualified external assessor (appointed through CIPFA). This approach seems to be 
favoured by the PSIAS which suggests that “External assessments must be conducted 
as least once every five years by a qualified independent assessor or assessment team 
from outside the organisation”. 

 
4 The report produced by the external assessor concluded that internal audit in the Council 

is well led and is given a high priority by those charged with good governance who 
acknowledge that improvements have been made in the service over recent years.  The 
report did however include a number of recommendations to ensure compliance with the 
PSIAS for 2013/14.  The Chief Internal Auditor has agreed actions in response to those 
recommendations and these are detailed in the full copy of the assessor’s report which is 
attached at Annex A. 

Item 6

Page 25



 
 

  

 
 
 

IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial  
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report 
Equalities 
There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report 
 
Risk management  
An effective system of internal audit complements good risk management across the Council 
 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
The findings from this review will help inform the Council’s 2012/13 Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Nick Harrison, Chairman of Audit and Governance Committee 
 
CONTACT DETAILS:  telephone: 01737 371908 e-mail: nicholas.harrison@surreycc.gov.uk  
 
Sources/background papers:  Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

Page 26



 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

External Review of the System of 
Internal Audit in Surrey County 

Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
6th March 2013 

 

Page 27



 
 

  

Contents 

 
Acknowledgements .......................................................................................5 

1.0 Introduction .........................................................................................6 

Background and terms of reference ..............................................................6 

Scope and methodology ..............................................................................6 

2.0 Executive summary ..............................................................................8 

3.0 Internal audit review findings ............................................................... 10 

Standard 1000: Purpose, authority and responsibility ................................... 11 

Standard 1100: Independence and objectivity ............................................. 11 

Standard 1200: Proficiency and due professional care ................................... 12 

Standard 1300: Quality assurance and improvement programme ................... 13 

Standard 2000: Managing the internal audit activity ..................................... 13 

Standard 2100: Nature of work .................................................................. 14 

Standard 2200: Engagement planning ........................................................ 15 

Standard 2300: Performing the engagement ............................................... 16 

Standard 2400: Communicating the results ................................................. 16 

Standard 2500: Monitoring progress ........................................................... 17 

Standard 2600: Communicating the acceptance of risks ................................ 18 

Annex 1: Participants in the review ............................................................... 19 

Annex 2: Schedule of recommendations ........................................................ 20 

Annex 3: Terms of reference ........................................................................ 25 

Effectiveness of the system of internal audit 2012/2013 ................................ 25 

Annex 4: Issues and investigation matrix ....................................................... 27 

Annex 5: Review sheet ................................................................................ 28 

 

For more information about the content of this document or about CIPFA, please 
contact: 

 
Stephen G Mungavin 

CIPFA  
3 Robert Street 
London 

WC2N 6RL 
E-mail steve.mungavin@cipfa.org     

Telephone: 028 9026 6778 

Page 28



 
 

  

Acknowledgements 

 
Steve Mungavin, Elizabeth Humphrey and the team at CIPFA would like to thank 

elected members, the chief internal auditor, management and staff of Surrey 
County Council for their help and co-operation during this review.   

Page 29



 
 

  

1.0 Introduction 

Background and terms of reference 

 

1. A professional, independent and objective internal audit service is one of the 
key elements of good governance, as recognised throughout the public sector. 

 
2. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2006 introduced a requirement for local 

authorities “to conduct, at least once in each year, a review of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal audit.”  

 

3. The CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Authorities in the United 
Kingdom is recognised as best practice and has been adopted by the County 

Council and previous effectiveness reviews have assessed the level of 
compliance against this standard. 

 

4. A collaboration announced by CIPFA and the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors (IIA) in May 2011 has led to the development of a new set of Internal 

Audit Standards – the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which 
will, in effect, replace the CIPFA Code of Practice and will provide a coherent 

and consistent internal audit framework for the whole of the public sector. 
 
5. The draft standard will come into effect from 1 April 2013. In anticipation of 

this, the Chairman of Audit and Governance Committee of Surrey County 
Council (the Council) has asked that the effectiveness review for 2012/2013 

assesses the Council’s readiness for the PSIAS. 
 
6. To ensure an appropriate level of objectivity it is proposed that this review is 

undertaken by a suitably qualified external assessor. This approach is favoured 
by the PSIAS which states that “External assessments must be conducted as 

least once every five years by a qualified independent assessor or assessment 
team from outside the organisation”. 

 

7. The Council therefore commissioned CIPFA in December 2012 to undertake an 
external review of the system of internal audit. The review was benchmarked 

against the new PSIAS. 
 
8. The aim of the review as set out in the terms of reference (Annex 3) is to 

review the effectiveness of the current system of Internal Audit in Surrey 
County Council and consider whether any changes are required to ensure 

compliance with the PSIAS from 1 April 2013. 

Scope and methodology 

 

9. In order to reach an opinion on the extent to which the internal audit function 
is complying with the PSIAS, CIPFA undertook: 

 
· A review of key audit documentation  
 

· Interviews with internal audit staff 

Page 30



 
 

  

· A review of feedback from key stakeholders through internal audit 

customer satisfaction questionnaires and interviews (refer to the list of 
participants in Annex 1) 

 

10. It should be noted that the Council’s internal audit service does not carry out 
any consultancy engagements. The standards relating to consultancy have not 

been included in this review. 
 

Page 31



 
 

  

2.0 Executive summary 
 

11. CIPFA found that internal audit in the Council is well led and is given a high 
priority by those charged with good governance.  The Council Leader, Audit 
Committee and chief executive are all strong advocates of internal audit and 

acknowledged that improvements have been made in the service over recent 
years.  

 
12. We undertook an assessment of Surrey County Council’s internal audit 

section’s readiness against the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), 

interviewing key stakeholders, reviewing working papers and other 
documents. The review found that most aspects of internal audit are 

satisfactory. Most of the necessary documents were compliant with the 
standards or needing only minor tweaks to make them compliant, interviewees 
were generally complimentary about the service provided by internal audit and 

audit planning and performance was broadly satisfactory. 
 

13. There are, however, some areas for improvement, as follows:  
 

· Although assurance was given that all the appropriate processes are 

followed by auditors in planning and carrying out their work and its 
supervision and review, there was limited documentation of these 

processes in the two audits selected for review and so we were unable 
to assess them 

 

· In particular, although risks are identified in final audit reports, the 
links to risk were not made clear in the underlying supporting working 

papers or terms of reference reviewed by CIPFA 
 

· Audit should be more explicit about many of the aspects of its work, 
particularly in relation to the charter, annual internal audit report and 
other similar documents. For example, the internal audit charter should 

explicitly state that internal audit activity must be free from 
interference in determining the scope of internal audits, performing 

work and communicating results 
 
14. CIPFA has assessed the position against each of the standards as follows: 

 

Standard CIPFA opinion 

1000 Purpose, authority and 
responsibility 

Minor amendments needed to achieve 
full compliance 

1100 Independence and objectivity Minor amendments needed to achieve 
full compliance 

1200 Proficiency and due professional 
care 

Partially compliant 

1300 Quality assurance and 
improvement programme 

Minor amendments needed to achieve 
full compliance 

2000 Managing the internal audit activity Minor amendments needed to achieve 

Page 32



 
 

  

Standard CIPFA opinion 

full compliance 

2100 Nature of work Partially compliant 

2200 Engagement planning Partially compliant 

2300 Performing the engagement Partially compliant 

2400 Communicating the results Partially compliant 

2500 Monitoring progress Fully compliant 

2600 Communicating the acceptance of 

risks 

Fully compliant 

 

15. In order to address these, CIPFA has made a series of recommendations which 
are set out in section 3 of this report and which are consolidated in the 
schedule in Annex 2. However, the three most important recommendations to 

effect the necessary improvements to internal audit and enable compliance 
with PSIAS are as follows: 

 
· Use risk as a thread throughout the audit, driving the audit work and 

acting as a focus for the results (standard 2100) 
 
· Have a standardised approach to audit planning, including documenting 

discussions between the auditor and audit manager about the audit, 
related risks and controls and service objectives so that there is a clear 

link between expectations of the audit through the work carried out to 
the findings included in the report (standard 2200) 

 

· Introduce standard review sheets (see Annex 5 for a suggested format) 
for all audits, raising and clearing concerns or identifying where there 

are no review points (standard 2300) 
 
 

Page 33



 
 

  

3.0 Internal audit review findings 
 

16. At a strategic level, we found that internal audit in the Council is well led and 

is given a high priority by those charged with good governance who 
acknowledge that improvements have been made in the service over recent 
years. The Council has proactively sought to improve the internal audit 

function for example by regular internal reviews, by learning from visits to 
neighbouring councils and by commissioning this external review.   

 
17. The Leader of the Council recognises the value of the internal audit service and 

takes a proactive interest in its work.  For example, we were informed the 

Leader makes a point of reading all internal audit reports to help keep 
informed of risks and controls in the Council. We also found the Audit 

Committee to be well respected in the Council with a good mix of skills and an 
effective Chair and Vice-Chair. 
 

18. The chief executive places a strong reliance on internal audit to help provide   
assurances to the Council and he respects the independence and integrity of 

the chief internal auditor.  The chief executive meets with the chief internal 
auditor regularly on a one-to-one basis as well as part of the statutory officers’ 

team (which also includes the section 151 officer and the monitoring officer).   
 

19. Despite the financial pressures of the current environment, the Council 

recognises the need to maintain internal audit resources as an important part 
of its assurance framework. Overall, we found that users of internal audit 

believed the service is strong in its regulatory role, although it could make 
some improvements, and it could add even greater value by providing 
professional advice and guidance. This is the backcloth to our review of 

internal audit against best practice. 
 

20. When reviewing internal audit, in order to reach an opinion on the overall level 
of compliance with PSIAS best practice, CIPFA benchmarked audit practice in 
the Council with the following standards:   

Attribute Standards 

· Purpose, authority and responsibility 

· Independence and objectivity 
· Proficiency and due professional care 
· Quality assurance and improvement programme 

Performance Standards 

· Managing the internal audit activity 

· Nature of work 
· Engagement planning 
· Performing the engagement 

· Communicating results 
· Monitoring progress 

· Communicating the acceptance of risks 

Page 34



 
 

  

Standard 1000: Purpose, authority and responsibility 

21. This standard states that the purpose, authority and responsibility of the 
internal audit activity must be formally defined in an internal audit charter, 
consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the 

Standards. The chief audit executive must periodically review the internal 
audit charter and present it to senior management and the board for approval. 

 
22. This standard is designed to ensure clarity of the role and scope of internal 

audit and to provide a firm foundation for its powers and rights of access etc.  

 
23. CIPFA found that internal audit has a draft charter (to be approved at the 

March 2013 Audit and Governance Committee) that reflects all the 
requirements of the standard although, in some cases, this was implicit rather 
than explicit. This charter will supersede the current terms of reference. 

Although the terms of reference are clear, it became evident that some 
auditees are unsure about audit’s role and responsibilities. 

 

24. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 
should amend the charter to: 

 
· Define the scope of internal audit more clearly, explicitly stating that it 

is able to cover all the operations of the Council 
 
· Refer to all the resources available to it (for example, hardware and 

software, access to information and training), rather than just to staff 
 

25. We also suggest that the chief internal auditor produce a one-page summary 
of the charter, making internal audit’s roles and responsibilities clear, to give 
to auditees at the start of each assignment and to help promote internal audit 

across the organisation. 

Standard 1100: Independence and objectivity 

 

26. This standard states that the internal audit activity must be independent and 
internal auditors must be objective in performing their work. 

 

27. This is important because internal audit has to be able to carry out its work 
without being fettered or influenced in any way. If audit’s independence is 

compromised, it is unable to deliver a valid opinion on the Council’s 
operations. 

 

Page 35



 
 

  

28. CIPFA found that there were no significant problems with independence and 

objectivity but that some minor improvements would aid the perception of this 
independence and objectivity. The chief internal auditor’s reporting lines do 
not follow best practice (CIPFA guidance on the role of the head of internal 

audit states that he or she should report directly to the chief executive or head 
of finance), something that is of concern to members of the Audit and 

Governance Committee. In practice, however, the chief internal auditor (CIA) 
has direct access to and regular contact with the chief executive and the 
senior management team and we believe that her independence is not, 

therefore, compromised. 

 

29. The key areas for improvement are as follows: 

 
· Include an explicit independence statement in the chief internal 

auditor’s annual report and the audit plan report and the words “free 
and unfettered” or similar should be included in the charter 

 

· Ensure internal audit staff receive annual documented reminders of the 
ethical standards of behaviour expected of them, especially around 

impartiality and being unbiased. One way to do this would be to discuss 
this review and the standards in a formal team meeting which would be 

minuted. 

Standard 1200: Proficiency and due professional care 

 

30. This standard states that audit engagements must be performed with 

proficiency and due professional care. 

31. This is important because reliance is placed on audit’s work to improve 
services and to reduce the risk of fraud and error. Poor quality work that 

includes errors is, at best, worthless and, at worst, could lead to reduced 
service quality, illegalities and other such problems. 

32. CIPFA found that internal audit has a good mix of staff with different skills, 

knowledge and backgrounds and with access to the IT tools needed to carry 
out their work. Staff are kept up to date on emerging issues and undertake 
the training required of them although evidence of this at a corporate level is 

patchy with inconsistent use of the Galileo module to record training. 

33. Our review of two audit files found no evidence of problems with the planning 
of audit assignments and we were told that the auditor and audit manager 

discuss approaches to the audit before work starts and as the work 
progresses. There was, however, no formal evidence of these audit planning 
discussions. Without these records, it may be difficult to demonstrate that an 

audit has been carried out as planned and staff may have limited information 
to refer to if they need reminding of the work required. Furthermore, in the 

absence of formal audit planning documentation, it may be difficult for audit 
managers to hold staff to account for their work. 

 

34. Risk is considered as part of each audit assignment as evidenced by the 
references to risks in the final reports. However, there is no evidence that 

there is a link between risks and audit tests (formal audit planning 

Page 36



 
 

  

documentation would support this) nor is there any reference to the risks 

being considered in the audit terms of reference. 
 

35. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 

should: 
 

· Require use of the training module in Galileo 

 
· Formalise planning of individual audits, perhaps through an issues and 

investigations matrix or similar (see Annex 4 for example) 
 

· Consider ways to make the link to risk explicit by, at the very least, 

highlighting some of the key risks to be examined in the audit terms of 
reference 

Standard 1300: Quality assurance and improvement programme  

 
36. This standard states that the chief audit executive must develop and maintain 

a quality assurance and improvement programme that covers all aspects of 
the internal audit activity. 

 
37. This is important because, without such a challenge to processes and systems, 

audit is unlikely to identify where it is not complying with best practice nor will 
it identify new areas of audit work and its value to the organisation is likely to 
diminish. On-going performance monitoring and regular reviews of audit 

effectiveness will identify where improvement is needed, show when that 
improvement has been made and demonstrate that audit is delivering as well 

as it can. 
 
38. CIPFA found that there is an annual assessment of delivery against the plan 

and customer satisfaction reported in the annual report as well as references 
to performance at each Audit and Governance Committee meeting. These 

concentrate on quantitative not qualitative matters. In addition, the Audit and 
Governance Committee carries out an annual review of internal audit 
effectiveness, identifying areas for improvement. These reviews are reported 

separately from the annual internal audit report and no reference is made to 
them in that report although they clearly could contribute to the conclusions 

drawn therein. This review is the first external review of internal audit 
commissioned by the Council and it was set up in accordance with the 
standards. The Council is to be commended for taking this initiative. 

 

39. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 
should: 

 
· Summarise the outcome of the effectiveness reviews in the annual 

internal audit report. 
 

Standard 2000: Managing the internal audit activity  

 

40. This standard states that the chief audit executive must effectively manage the 

internal audit activity to ensure it adds value to the organisation. 
 

Page 37



 
 

  

41. This is important because, without a fully-thought-through risk-based plan, 

internal audit is highly unlikely to identify where best to concentrate its efforts 
to deliver a useful output that will support its annual opinion and add value to 
the Council. 

 
42. CIPFA found that annual audit planning was thorough, consultative and risk-

based so that it could support the chief internal auditor’s annual opinion. 
Making the link to the Council’s objectives would be ideal but is not practical 
for two reasons: the objectives are high level and do not lend themselves to 

audit plans and they are not developed in time for the audit plan. However, 
although the audit team does consult with senior management to draw up 

these plans and explain their role and purpose, some managers seemed 
unaware of this. 

 

43. We also believe that the annual planning report could be more explicit in 
making the link to risk as the basis for providing the chief internal auditor’s 

annual opinion. 
 

44. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 

should include a specific reference in the annual planning report to: 
 

· Risk-based (as opposed to risk priority) planning 
 
· Supporting the chief internal auditor’s opinion 

 
45. The Council should consider ways to develop engagement with senior 

management and their staff. The one-page summary of the charter referred to 
above may help. In addition, being explicit about the nature of annual audit 
planning (and other) meetings, perhaps formalising them with agendas and 

minutes, could also be of benefit. 

Standard 2100: Nature of work  

 

46. This standard states that the internal audit activity must evaluate and 
contribute to the improvement of governance, risk management and control 

processes using a systematic and disciplined approach. 
 

47. This is important because these are key areas for delivery of the Council’s 

objectives and fundamental to delivering a comprehensive audit opinion. 
 
48. CIPFA found that internal audit carries out an annual review of risk 

management, varying the focus each year to ensure broad coverage. These 
audits may be reduced as risk management is a low risk audit having been 

assessed as effective in the most recent review. 
 
49. In addition, all audits consider areas of risk and risks are highlighted in 

reports. However, the wording does not comply with the Council’s risk 
approach nor with best practice in that there is no clear description of 

underlying cause of the risk, the risk itself or the effect or impact of the risk 
should it occur. Improving this wording would help management understand 

the underlying concerns, make the link between risk and audit work clearer 
and make inclusion in the risk register, if necessary, simpler. 

Page 38



 
 

  

 

50. We found that controls and their related risks are explicitly documented in 
audit reports and we were told that auditors place considerable emphasis on 
controls in their work. 

 
51. Internal audit’s remit does not extend to auditing the governance process, 

other than in relation to information governance, although the chief internal 
auditor sits on the Governance Panel and contributes towards the Annual 
Governance Statement. Governance work is carried out by the Governance 

team in liaison with internal audit. We believe that this coverage of 
governance is generally sufficient and the CIA is likely to identify where there 

are areas of concern or where audit should be more closely involved. 
 

52. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 

should consider: 
 

· Aligning risk wording in reports with the approach used in the risk 

register 
 

· Using risk as a thread throughout the audit, driving the audit work and 
acting as a focus for the results 

 

53. The Council might want to consider occasional independent (external) reviews 
of its governance arrangements. 

 
Standard 2200: Engagement planning 

 

54. This standard states that internal auditors must develop and document a plan 

for each engagement, including the engagement’s objectives, scope, timing 
and resource allocations. 

 
55. This is important because such plans ensure that auditors, audit management 

and clients all have the same expectations of the audit and these are agreed in 

advance. The audit can then be checked against these plans and reviewed 
accordingly. Without such a plan, misunderstandings and confusion are 

possible resulting in wasted effort and possible conflict between auditor, 
auditee and management. 

 
56. CIPFA found that terms of reference were issued for all audits and were 

accepted by clients before any audit work began. However, there was some 

evidence that managers did not understand what they were agreeing to as the 
purpose of the audit was not made completely clear nor is there a clear link to 

risk in the standard terms of reference. We were told that there was a risk 
assessment before every audit but, as this was not documented in the notes 
for the two audits that we reviewed in detail, we were unable to assess this. 

We were shown risk assessments for some of the more standard (mandatory) 
audits.  

 
57. Neither of the audits that we reviewed included any audit planning 

documentation other than the terms of reference. It was, therefore, impossible 

to assess if the work had been carried out as planned and we did not know 
what guidance or support had been given to the auditor before carrying out 

Page 39



 
 

  

this work. There is some guidance on sources of information to inform an audit 

in the manual. This list did not include checking service business plans. 
 

58. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the Council’s internal audit 

service should: 
 

· Be more explicit about the risks that are been tested for at the start of 

each audit, including them in the terms of reference 
 

· Have a standardised approach to audit planning, including documenting 
discussions between the auditor and audit manager about the audit, 
related risks and controls and service objectives so that there is a clear 

link between expectations of the audit through the work carried out to 
the findings included in the report (the issues v investigation matrix 

referred to earlier is one possible approach) 
 

· Include service business plans on the sources of information list 

Standard 2300: Performing the engagement  

 

59. This standard states that internal auditors must identify, analyse, evaluate and 

document sufficient information to achieve the engagement’s objectives. 
 

60. This is important because, without such information, it is impossible to 
demonstrate that the audit has been carried out properly and that its 
conclusions are valid. The chief internal auditor would be unable to form an 

opinion without this information. 
 

61. CIPFA found that, with the exception of consistently demonstrating audit 
supervision, the requirements of this standard are met. 
 

62. To address this issue, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 
should: 

 
63. Introduce standard review sheets (see Annex 5 for a suggested format) for all 

audits, raising and clearing concerns or identifying where there are no review 

points 

Standard 2400: Communicating the results 

 
64. This standard states that internal auditors must communicate the results of 

engagements. 

 
65. This is important because, if the results are not communicated clearly and 

promptly, risks, frauds or errors may materialise, necessary action will not be 
taken speedily and the audit opinion will be compromised. In addition, 
misunderstandings about results can lead to time being spent on clarification 

rather than on planned audit work. 
 

66. CIPFA found that audit reports were generally clear (other than the risk 
wording mentioned above), balanced and, in the cases that we examined, 

issued in a timely manner. All draft reports are reviewed by the relevant audit 

Page 40



 
 

  

manager and by the chief internal auditor to ensure quality. Reports are 

written on an exception basis and some interviewees commented that on 
occasions there is, therefore, little recognition of good practice and audit 
reports can appear judgemental and disproportionate. There is clear guidance 

about report distribution which was followed in the cases that we reviewed. 
There was one instance of management concern about not being included in 

the distribution for a contentious report in a timely fashion, having missed the 
advanced copy they were sent.  
 

67. Each report contains an overall opinion on a four-point scale and these 
opinions are defined in each report. We understand that there have been many 

discussions about these opinion definitions but our interviews revealed that 
there is some lingering confusion about the distinction between “some 
improvement needed” and “major improvement needed”. In addition, there 

was concern about the judgement call required to distinguish between these 
two opinions. 

 
68. To address these issues, CIPFA recommends that the chief internal auditor 

should: 

 
· Make the basis on which the report is written clearer, perhaps with an 

opening statement along the following lines: “We have examined such-
and-such service, looking at the following areas [list]. All areas other 
than those mentioned below were effective” or “This report is written 

on an exception basis and, as such, highlights only those areas where 
there are weaknesses. Any areas not mentioned below are deemed to 

be effective” 
 
· Consider ways to improve report writing further, perhaps through a 

team meeting, discussion and guidance note to be included in the audit 
manual 

 
· Consider ways to bring management’s attention earlier to reports that 

are contentious so that they are not caught unawares 

 
· Consider sharpening the definitions for the two opinions to make the 

distinction between them clearer. Alternatively, consider if different 
opinion titles or a numerical system might assist 

Standard 2500: Monitoring progress 

 
69. This standard states that the chief audit executive must establish and maintain 

a system to monitor the disposition of results communicated to management. 
 

70. This is important because otherwise there is a risk that audit recommendations 
will not be implemented, negating the purpose of the audit and increasing the 
chance of fraud, error, inefficiencies, etc. 

 
71. CIPFA found that the requirements of this standard were met. 

 

 

 

Page 41



 
 

  

Standard 2600: Communicating the acceptance of risks 

 
72. When the chief audit executive concludes that management has accepted a 

level of risk that may be unacceptable to the organisation, the chief audit 

executive must discuss the matter with senior management. If the chief audit 
executive determines that the matter has not been resolved, the chief audit 

executive must communicate the matter to the board (i.e. the Audit and 
Governance Committee). 
 

73. This is important because the organisation should not put itself in a position of 
taking ill-thought-through risks.  CIPFA was told that this situation had never 

occurred at the Council. 
 
Conclusion 

 
74. Overall, our review found that most aspects of internal audit are satisfactory. 

Most of the necessary documents were compliant with the standards or 
needing only minor tweaks to make them compliant. 
 

75.  From the range of personnel interviewed, feedback was generally 
complimentary about the service provided by internal audit and we found that 

audit planning and performance was broadly satisfactory. There are, however, 
some areas for improvement which we have identified under each standard 
and in summary format in Annex 2. 

 

Page 42



 
 

  

Annex 1: Participants in the review 
 

CIPFA would like to thank all those who contributed to this review. 

 

Bill Barker Audit and Governance Committee Vice Chair 

Anne Butler Assistant Director for Commissioning, A&SC Directorate 

Paul Carey-Kent   Senior Finance Manager, A&SC Directorate 

Ann Charlton Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Cath Edwards Risk and Governance Manager 

Julie Fisher Strategic Director Change and Efficiency 

Denise Le Gal Cabinet Member for Change and Efficiency 

Nick Harrison Audit and Governance Committee Chair 

David Hodge Leader of the Council 

Sue Lewry-Jones Chief Internal Auditor 

Sheila Little Chief Financial Officer & Deputy Director for Change & Efficiency 

David McNulty Chief Executive 

Sarah Mitchell   Strategic Director, A&SC Directorate 

Trevor Pugh Strategic Director Environment and Infrastructure 

John Woods Assistant Director Transformation, A&SC Directorate 

Members of the internal audit team 

 

 

Page 43



 
  

 

A
n

n
e
x
 2

: 
S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 o
f 

r
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

 S
ta

n
d

a
r
d

 

 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

F
u

r
th

e
r
 a

c
ti

o
n

 

S
td

 1
0

0
0

 
P

u
r
p

o
s
e
, 

a
u

th
o

r
it

y
 a

n
d

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
 

 
 

 
 D

e
fi
n
e
 

th
e
 

s
c
o
p
e
 

o
f 

in
te

rn
a
l 

a
u
d
it
 

m
o
re

 
c
le

a
rl

y
, 

e
x
p
li
c
it
ly

 
s
ta

ti
n
g
 

th
a
t 

it
 

is
 

a
b
le

 
to

 
c
o
v
e
r 

a
ll
 

th
e
 

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il
 

 

 T
h
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 C

h
a
rt

e
r 

w
il
l 
b
e
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
is

 r
e
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
t 

 

 
 R
e
fe

r 
to

 a
ll
 t

h
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

v
a
il
a
b
le

 t
o
 i

t 
(f

o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

, 

h
a
rd

w
a
re

 
a
n
d
 

s
o
ft

w
a
re

, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 

to
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 

tr
a
in

in
g
),

 r
a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 j
u
s
t 

to
 s

ta
ff

 

 

 T
h
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 C

h
a
rt

e
r 

w
il
l 
b
e
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
is

 r
e
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
t 

 

   

P
ro

d
u
c
e
 
a
 

o
n
e
-p

a
g
e
 
s
u
m

m
a
ry

 
o
f 

th
e
 
in

te
rn

a
l 

a
u
d
it
 

c
h
a
rt

e
r  

 O
n
c
e
 t

h
e
 i
n
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 c

h
a
rt

e
r 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 A

u
d
it
 a

n
d
 G

o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 t

h
e
 C

h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

w
il
l 

p
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

 o
n
e
-p

a
g
e
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 f
o
r 

s
h
a
ri

n
g
 

w
it
h
 a

u
d
it
e
e
s
 a

t 
S
e
rv

ic
e
 L

ia
is

o
n
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

a
n
d
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

 

S
td

 1
1

0
0

 
I
n

d
e
p

e
n

d
e
n

c
e
 a

n
d

 o
b

je
c
ti

v
it

y
 

 
 

 
 In

c
lu

d
e
 

a
n
 

e
x
p
li
c
it
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t 

in
 

th
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 w

o
rd

s
 

“f
re

e
 
a
n
d
 
u
n
fe

tt
e
re

d
” 

o
r 

s
im

il
a
r 

s
h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 i

n
c
lu

d
e
d
 
in

 

th
e
 c

h
a
rt

e
r 

 

 A
g
re

e
d
 

 

 
 E
n
s
u
re

 i
n
te

rn
a
l 

a
u
d
it
 s

ta
ff
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 

d
o
c
u
m

e
n
te

d
 

re
m

in
d
e
rs

 
o
f 

th
e
 

e
th

ic
a
l 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 

o
f 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 
o
f 

th
e
m

, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia

ll
y
 
a
ro

u
n
d
 
im

p
a
rt

ia
li
ty

 
a
n
d
 

b
e
in

g
 u

n
b
ia

s
e
d
 

 

 T
h
e
re

 w
il
l 
b
e
 a

n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
re

m
in

d
e
r 

a
t 

a
n
 

in
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
  
te

a
m

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 a

t 
th

e
 s

ta
rt

 

o
f 

e
a
c
h
 y

e
a
r 

–
 w

it
h
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

m
in

u
te

s
 a

s
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 

 

 

Page 44



 
  

 

S
ta

n
d

a
r
d

 

 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

F
u

r
th

e
r
 a

c
ti

o
n

 

S
td

 1
2

0
0

 
P

r
o

fi
c
ie

n
c
y
 a

n
d

 d
u

e
 p

r
o

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 

c
a
r
e

 
 

 

 
 R
e
q
u
ir

e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 t

ra
in

in
g
 m

o
d
u
le

 i
n
 G

a
li
le

o
 t

o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 

tr
a
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

 

 T
h
e
 C

h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

w
il
l 
re

m
in

d
 t

h
e
 

te
a
m

 t
o
 k

e
e
p
 t

ra
in

in
g
 r

e
c
o
rd

s
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 i
n
 

G
a
li
le

o
 

 

 

  

 F
o
rm

a
li
s
e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
s
  

 

 In
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

w
il
l 
d
e
v
is

e
 a

 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t

o
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 w

h
ic

h
 

c
le

a
rl

y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r

is
k
s
. 

 T
h
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 a

u
d
it
 w

il
l 
b
e
 f
o
rm

a
ll
y
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 a

u
d
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 

a
u
d
it
 m

a
n
a
g
e
r.

  
T
e
a
m

 b
ri

e
fi
n
g
 o

n
 t

h
is

 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 w

il
l 
p
ro

v
id

e
d
 a

t 
th

e
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
 t

e
a
m

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 A

u
d
it
 

m
a
n
u
a
l 
u
p
d
a
te

d
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
is

. 

 

 

 
 C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
a
y
s
 
to

 
m

a
k
e
 
th

e
 
li
n
k
 
to

 
ri

s
k
 
e
x
p
li
c
it
 
b
y
, 

a
t 

th
e
 v

e
ry

 l
e
a
s
t,

 h
ig

h
li
g
h
ti
n
g
 s

o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y
 r

is
k
s
 t

o
 b

e
 

e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 a

u
d
it
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 

 

 F
ro

m
 A

p
ri

l 
2
0
1
3
 w

h
e
n
 t

h
e
 P

S
IA

S
 c

o
m

e
 

in
to

 e
ff

e
c
t 

th
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 t

e
a
m

 w
il
l 

e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 T

e
rm

s
 o

f 
R

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 f

o
r 

e
a
c
h
 

a
u
d
it
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 t
h
e
 k

e
y
 r

is
k
s
. 

  

 

 

S
td

 1
3

0
0

 
Q

u
a
li

ty
 a

s
s
u

r
a
n

c
e
 a

n
d

 i
m

p
r
o

v
e
m

e
n

t 
p

r
o

g
r
a
m

m
e
 

 
 

 
 S
u
m

m
a
ri

s
e
 t

h
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
  

re
v
ie

w
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
in

te
rn

a
l 
a
u
d
it
 r

e
p
o
rt

 

 

 A
g
re

e
d
- 

th
is

 w
il
l 
b
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 C

h
ie

f 

In
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

 

 

S
td

 2
0

0
0

 
M

a
n

a
g

in
g

 t
h

e
 i

n
te

r
n

a
l 

a
u

d
it

 
 

 

 
 In

c
lu

d
e
 

a
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 

in
 

th
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 

re
p
o
rt

 
to

 
ri

s
k
-b

a
s
e
d
 

(a
s
 

o
p
p
o
s
e
d
 

to
 

ri
s
k
 

p
ri

o
ri

ty
) 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 

 

 A
g
re

e
d
- 

th
is

 w
il
l 
b
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 C

h
ie

f 

In
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r  

 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 45



 
  

 

S
ta

n
d

a
r
d

 

 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

F
u

r
th

e
r
 a

c
ti

o
n

 

In
c
lu

d
e
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 
li
n
k
s
 

to
 

ri
s
k
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 

th
e
 

c
h
ie

f 

in
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
o
r’
s
 o

p
in

io
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 r

e
p
o
rt

 

 

T
h
e
 C

h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

w
il
l 
m

a
k
e
 i
t 

c
le

a
r 

w
h
e
n
 p

re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 p

la
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 A

u
d
it
 a

n
d
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
, 

th
a
t 

th
e
 p

la
n
 i
s
 

ri
s
k
 b

a
s
e
d
 a

n
d
 t

h
a
t 

a
s
 s

u
c
h
, 

d
e
li
v
e
ry

 o
f 

th
e
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
 o

f 
w

o
rk

 w
il
l 
e
n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 C

h
ie

f 

In
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

to
 f

o
rm

 a
n
 o

p
in

io
n
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
’s

 c
o
n
tr

o
l 
e
n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n
t.

 

 

   

 C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
a
y
s
 

to
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
 

s
e
n
io

r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
ir

 s
ta

ff
 

 

 

A
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 (
1
 p

a
g
e
) 

c
h
a
rt

e
r 

w
il
l 
b
e
 u

s
e
d
 

to
 a

s
s
is

t 
th

is
.  

 

 

S
td

 2
1

0
0

 
N

a
tu

r
e
 o

f 
w

o
r
k

 
 

 

 
 A
li
g
n
 r

is
k
 w

o
rd

in
g
 i
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 u

s
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 r

is
k
 r

e
g
is

te
r 

 

 T
h
e
 C

h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

w
il
l 
d
is

c
u
s
s
 t

h
is

 

in
 m

o
re

 d
e
ta

il
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 R

is
k
 a

n
d
 

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r.

  
O

n
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 m

a
y
 

b
e
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 t

h
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
u
a
l 
to

 

p
ro

v
id

e
 m

o
re

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 d

ra
ft

in
g
 

in
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
. 

 T
h
is

 c
o
u
ld

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

d
e
s
c
ri

b
in

g
 r

is
k
s
 i
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
c
a
u
s
e
, 

ri
s
k
 a

n
d
 

e
ff

e
c
t.

 

 

 

 
 U

s
e
 r

is
k
 a

s
 a

 t
h
re

a
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 a

u
d
it
, 

d
ri
v
in

g
 t

h
e
 

a
u
d
it
 w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 a

c
ti
n
g
 a

s
 a

 f
o
c
u
s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 

 

 T
h
is

 w
il
l 
b
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 f
o
rm

a
li
s
in

g
 

th
e
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

ri
s
k
s
 i
n
 e

a
c
h
 a

u
d
it
’s

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
. 

 

 

 

S
td

 2
2

0
0

 
E

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 

 
 

 
 B
e
 
m

o
re

 
e
x
p
li
c
it
 
a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 
ri

s
k
s
 
th

a
t 

a
re

 
b
e
e
n
 
te

s
te

d
 

fo
r 

a
t 

th
e
 
s
ta

rt
 
o
f 

e
a
c
h
 
a
u
d
it
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 
th

e
m

 
in

 
th

e
 

te
rm

s
 o

f 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 

 

 A
g
re

e
d
. 

F
ro

m
 A

p
ri

l 
2
0
1
3
 w

h
e
n
 t

h
e
 P

S
IA

S
 

c
o
m

e
 i
n
to

 e
ff

e
c
t 

th
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 t

e
a
m

 

w
il
l 
e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 T

e
rm

s
 o

f 
R
e
fe

re
n
c
e
 f

o
r 

e
a
c
h
 a

u
d
it
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 t
h
e
 k

e
y
 r

is
k
s
. 

  

 

Page 46



 
  

 

S
ta

n
d

a
r
d

 

 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

F
u

r
th

e
r
 a

c
ti

o
n

 

 

 
 H

a
v
e
 

a
 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

is
e
d
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 

to
 

a
u
d
it
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
ti
n
g
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 a

u
d
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 
a
u
d
it
 
m

a
n
a
g
e
r 

a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 
a
u
d
it
, 

re
la

te
d
 
ri

s
k
s
 
a
n
d
 

c
o
n
tr

o
ls

 a
n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 c
le

a
r 

li
n
k
 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 
e
x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
s
 
o
f 

th
e
 
a
u
d
it
 
th

ro
u
g
h
 
th

e
 

w
o
rk

 c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

to
 t

h
e
 f

in
d
in

g
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

  

 

 In
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

w
il
l 
d
e
v
is

e
 a

 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t

o
 a

u
d
it
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 w

h
ic

h
 

c
le

a
rl

y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r

is
k
s
. 

 T
h
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 a

u
d
it
 w

il
l 
b
e
 f
o
rm

a
ll
y
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
te

d
 

a
n
d
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 a

u
d
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 

a
u
d
it
 m

a
n
a
g
e
r.

  
T
e
a
m

 b
ri

e
fi
n
g
 o

n
 t

h
is

 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 w

il
l 
p
ro

v
id

e
d
 a

t 
th

e
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
 t

e
a
m

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 A

u
d
it
 

m
a
n
u
a
l 
u
p
d
a
te

d
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
is

. 

 

 

 
 In

c
lu

d
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 

p
la

n
s
 

o
n
 

th
e
 

s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

o
f 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 l
is

t  

 

 A
g
re

e
d
 –

 t
h
is

 w
il
l 
b
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
a
 

w
id

e
r 

u
p
d
a
te

 o
f 
th

e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
u
a
l 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

Q
u
a
rt

e
r 

1
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
 

 

 

S
td

 2
3

0
0

 
P

e
r
fo

r
m

in
g

 t
h

e
 e

n
g

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
 

 

 
 In

tr
o
d
u
c
e
 s

t a
n
d
a
rd

 r
e
v
ie

w
 s

h
e
e
ts

 f
o
r 

a
ll
 a

u
d
it
s
, 

ra
is

in
g
 

a
n
d
 
c
le

a
ri
n
g
 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 
o
r 

id
e
n
ti
fy

in
g
 
w

h
e
re

 
th

e
re

 
a
re

 

n
o
 r

e
v
ie

w
 p

o
in

ts
 

 

 T
h
e
 G

a
li
le

o
 s

y
s
te

m
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t

h
is

 

fa
c
il
it
y
 a

lt
h
o
u
g
h
 i
t 

is
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 n

o
t 

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
tl
y
 u

s
e
d
. 

 T
h
e
 t

e
a
m

 w
il
l 
b
e
 

re
m

in
d
e
d
 a

t 
th

e
 A

p
ri

l 
te

a
m

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
, 

o
f 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 m

a
rk

 w
o
rk

in
g
 p

a
p
e
rs

 f
o
r 

re
v
ie

w
 s

o
 a

u
d
it
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

c
a
n
 r

a
is

e
 

re
v
ie

w
 p

o
in

ts
 a

t 
th

e
 e

a
rl

ie
s
t 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
. 

 

 

S
td

 2
4

0
0

 
C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti

n
g

 t
h

e
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 

 
 

 
 M

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 b

a
s
is

 o
n
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

 i
s
 w

ri
tt

e
n
 c

le
a
re

r,
 

p
e
rh

a
p
s
 w

it
h
 a

n
 o

p
e
n
in

g
 s

ta
te

m
e
n
t 

a
lo

n
g
 t

h
e
 f

o
ll
o
w

in
g
 

li
n
e
s
: 

“W
e
 

h
a
v
e
 

e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 

s
u
c
h
-a

n
d
-s

u
c
h
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
, 

lo
o
k
in

g
 
a
t 

th
e
 
fo

ll
o
w

in
g
 
a
re

a
s
 
[l

is
t]

. 
A
ll
 
a
re

a
s
 
o
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 
th

o
s
e
 
m

e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 
b
e
lo

w
 
w

e
re

 
e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
” 

o
r 

“T
h
is

 

re
p
o
rt

 
is

 
w

ri
tt

e
n
 
o
n
 
a
n
 
e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 
b
a
s
is

 
a
n
d
, 

a
s
 
s
u
c
h
, 

 W
il
l 
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
is

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
a
 t

e
a
m

 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 a

u
d
it
 r

e
p
o
rt

 w
ri

ti
n
g
 

w
it
h
 a

n
y
 a

g
re

e
d
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s
 t

o
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 

in
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 M

a
n
u
a
l 

 

 

Page 47



 
  

 

S
ta

n
d

a
r
d

 

 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

F
u

r
th

e
r
 a

c
ti

o
n

 

h
ig

h
li
g
h
ts

 
o
n
ly

 
th

o
s
e
 

a
re

a
s
 

w
h
e
re

 
th

e
re

 
a
re

 

w
e
a
k
n
e
s
s
e
s
. 

A
n
y
 

a
re

a
s
 

n
o
t 

m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 

b
e
lo

w
 

a
re

 

d
e
e
m

e
d
 t

o
 b

e
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
” 

 

 
 C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
a
y
s
 

to
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 

re
p
o
rt

 
w

ri
ti
n
g
 

fu
rt

h
e
r,

 

p
e
rh

a
p
s
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 

a
 

te
a
m

 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
, 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 

a
n
d
 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 n

o
te

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 a

u
d
it
 m

a
n
u
a
l 

 

 A
g
re

e
d
 –

th
is

 w
il
l 
b
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
e
d
 d

u
ri

n
g
 

Q
u
a
rt

e
r 

1
 2

0
1
3
/1

4
. 

 

 

 
 C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
a
y
s
 t

o
 b

ri
n
g
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t’
s
 a

tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 e

a
rl
ie

r 

to
 
re

p
o
rt

s
 
th

a
t 

a
re

 
c
o
n
te

n
ti
o
u
s
 
s
o
 
th

a
t 

th
e
y
 
a
re

 
n
o
t 

c
a
u
g
h
t 

u
n
a
w

a
re

s
 

 

 A
g
re

e
d
. 

T
h
is

 w
il
l 
b
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
a
n
 A

u
d
it
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

T
e
a
m

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 

 

 
 C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

s
h
a
rp

e
n
in

g
 

th
e
 

d
e
fi
n
it
io

n
s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 

tw
o
 

o
p
in

io
n
s
 t

o
 m

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 d

is
ti
n
c
ti
o
n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
m

 c
le

a
re

r.
 

A
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
ly

, 
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

if
 
d
if
fe

re
n
t 

o
p
in

io
n
 
ti
tl
e
s
 
o
r 

a
 

n
u
m

e
ri

c
a
l 
s
y
s
te

m
 m

ig
h
t 

a
s
s
is

t 

  

 T
h
e
 C

h
ie

f 
In

te
rn

a
l 
A
u
d
it
o
r 

w
il
l 
d
is

c
u
s
s
 t

h
is

 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 S

1
5
1
 O

ff
ic

e
r.

 

 

 

Page 48



 
 

  

Annex 3: Terms of reference 

Effectiveness of the system of internal audit 2012/2013 

Background 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2006 introduced a requirement for local 

authorities “to conduct, at least once in each year, a review of the effectiveness of 
its system of internal audit.”  

 
The CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Authorities in the United 
Kingdom is recognised as best practice and has been adopted by the County 

Council and previous effectiveness reviews have assessed the level of compliance 
against this standard. 

 
A collaboration announced by CIPFA and the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) in 
May 2011 has led to the development of a new set of Internal Audit Standards – 

the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which will in effect replace the 
CIPFA Code of Practice and will provide a coherent and consistent internal audit 

framework for the whole of the public sector. 
 
The draft standard has been out for consultation and the expectation is that the 

PSIAS will be published in December 2012 and come into effect from 1 April 2013. 
In anticipation of this, the Chairman of Audit and Governance Committee has 

asked that the effectiveness review for 2012/2013 assesses the Council’s 
readiness for the PSIAS.   
 

To ensure an appropriate level of objectivity it is proposed that this review is 
undertaken by a suitably qualified external assessor. This approach would seem to 

be favoured by the (draft) PSIAS which suggests that “External assessments must 
be conducted as least once every five years by  a qualified independent assessor 
or assessment team from outside the organisation” 

 
Therefore an Independent External Assessor will be appointed to complete a 

review in line with these Terms of Reference on behalf of the Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

 

Purpose of the review 

To review the effectiveness of the current system of Internal Audit in Surrey 

County Council and consider whether any changes are required to ensure 
compliance with the PSIAS from 1 April 2013. 

 

Work to be undertaken 

This review of current working practices against the PSIAS will involve the 

following: 
 

· Review of key audit documentation  
· Interviews with Internal Audit Staff 

Page 49



 
 

  

· Review of feedback from key stakeholders – this may involve review of 

Internal Audit Customer Satisfaction Questionnaires and interviews with key 
stakeholders such as: 

• Leader of the Council 

• Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
• Cabinet Portfolio holder for Change and Efficiency 

• Chief Executive 
• Section 151 Officer 
• Monitoring Officer 

• Risk and Governance Manager    
• Selected auditees 

 

Outcomes 

The findings of this review will inform the report of Audit and Governance 

Committee on the Effectiveness of the System of Internal Audit 2012/2013 which 
will be presented at a meeting of the Committee in February 2013.  It is 

anticipated that the Independent External Assessor will attend that meeting of the 
Committee to present their findings. 
 

Reporting arrangements 

Auditor:    Independent External Assessor – to be appointed 

Reporting to:   Audit and Governance Committee 
Audit Ref:  IR / 171 
 

Page 50



 
  

 

A
n

n
e
x
 4

: 
I
s
s
u

e
s
 a

n
d

 i
n

v
e
s
ti

g
a
ti

o
n

 m
a
tr

ix
 

  I
s
s
u

e
/

R
is

k
 

I
n

v
e
s
ti

g
a
ti

o
n

 
A

p
p

r
o

a
c
h

 
P

o
s
s
ib

le
 f

in
d

in
g

s
/

n
o

te
s
 

In
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
a
s
p
e
c
ts

 (
ri
s
k
s
, 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
, 

is
s
u
e
s
) 

th
a
t 

th
e
 

a
u
d
it
 i
s
 t

ry
in

g
 t

o
 r

e
a
c
h
 a

 
c
o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
 o

n
, 

id
e
a
ll
y
 

e
x
p
re

s
s
e
d
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

if
 

e
v
e
ry

th
in

g
 i
s
 a

s
 i
t 

s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

th
e
 a

u
d
it
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 w

il
l 
b
e
 

“y
e
s
” 

(e
g
 p

a
y
m

e
n
t 

a
re

 m
a
d
e
 

o
n
 t

im
e
 a

n
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 c

o
rr

e
c
t 

p
a
y
e
e
) 

M
e
th

o
d
 f
o
r 

c
h
e
c
k
in

g
 t

h
is

: 

·
 

T
e
s
ti
n
g
 

·
 

In
te

rv
ie

w
 

·
 

O
b
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 

·
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
p
a
p
e
rs

 

·
 

C
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
 a

u
d
it
 

k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 (

C
A
K
E
) 

·
 

E
tc

 

·
 

D
e
ta

il
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 t

e
s
ti
n
g
 

s
a
m

p
le

s
 

·
 

W
h
o
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
te

rv
ie

w
e
d
 

·
 

W
h
e
re

 a
n
d
 w

h
e
n
 t

o
 c

a
rr

y
 

o
u
t 

o
b
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
s
 

·
 

W
h
ic

h
 p

a
p
e
rs

 t
o
 b

e
 

re
v
ie

w
e
d
 

·
 

E
tc

 

U
s
e
 t

h
is

 c
o
lu

m
n
 f
o
r 

a
n
y
 o

th
e
r 

c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

, 
id

e
a
s
, 

e
tc

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 51



 
 

  

Annex 5: Review sheet 
 

Review point Response Cleared 

Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

Page 52



 1

 

s 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

18 March 2013 
 

EXTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 

 
 

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

 
Please see attached 2 reports from the Council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton: 

a) This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on progress in 
delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors.  The paper also includes a summary 
of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a County 
Council.  
b) the external auditor’s annual audit plan for year ended 31 March 2013 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The Committee is asked to consider the contents of the report and determine whether there 
are any matters that they wish to ask the external auditors. 
 
 

IMPLICATIONS: 

 
2 Financial 

Audit Fees are set out on page 14 of the plan. 
 

3 Equalities 
There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 
 

4 Risk management 
There are no risk management implications arising from this report. 

 
 
 
CONTACT DETAILS:  020 85 419122 helen.rankin@surreycc.gov.uk  
 
Sources/background papers: None 
 

Item 7

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee Update

for Surrey County Council

Year ended 31 March 2013

04 Mar 2013

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date

04 Mar 2013

Andy Mack

Client Relationship Lead

M 07880 456187

E andy.l.mack@uk.gt.com

Kathryn Sharp

Client Manager

M 07880 456150

E kathryn.sharp@uk.gt.com

Daniel Woodcock

Audit Executive

M 07921 659914

E daniel.woodcock@uk.gt.com

P
age 55



The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, 

which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process.  It is not a 

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in 

particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect 

your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls.  This report has been prepared 

solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written 

consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, 

or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not 

prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

.

P
age 56



Contents

Section Page

Introduction 4

Progress at 4 March 2013 5

Emerging issues and developments

Accounting and audit issues 7

Grant Thornton 10 

Local government guidance 11

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 33

P
age 57



Introduction

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors.  

The paper also includes a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a County Council.

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website www.grant-thornton.co.uk, where we have a 

section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications - 'Local Government Governance Review 

2012', 'The developing internal audit agenda', 'Preparing for the future', 'Surviving the storm: how resilient are local authorities?'

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive regular email updates 

on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Audit Manager.

Andy Mack Client Relationship Lead  T 020 7728 3299 M 07880 456187 Andy.L.Mack@uk.gt.com

Kathryn Sharp Client Manager T 01293 554086 M 07880 456150    Kathryn.E.Sharp@uk.gt.com

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 44

Kathryn Sharp Client Manager T 01293 554086 M 07880 456150    Kathryn.E.Sharp@uk.gt.com

P
age 58



Progress at 4 March 2013

Work Planned date Complete? Comments

2012-13 Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit 

plan to the Council setting out our proposed approach 

in order to give an opinion on the Council's 2012-13 

financial statements.

18 March 2013 Yes Our Audit Plan has been discussed and agreed with 

the Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Director for 

Change & Efficiency and is included on the agenda 

for today's meeting.

Interim accounts audit 

Our interim fieldwork visit is currently in progress and 

will cover the following:

• review of the Council's control environment

• walkthroughs of key financial systems

Started 25 

February 2013

No

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 55

• walkthroughs of key financial systems

• review of overall Internal Audit arrangements

• early work on emerging accounting issues

• early substantive testing on journals and the PFI

schemes

• review of progress in implementing the 

recommendation on accruals

• review of the Council's arrangements for recording 

related party transactions

• initial Value for Money assessments

2012-13 final accounts audit

Including:

• audit of the 2012-13 financial statements

• proposed opinion on the Council's accounts

• proposed Value for Money conclusion. 

17 June 2013 No

P
age 59



Progress at 4 March 2013

Work Planned date Complete? Comments

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion

The scope of our work to inform the 2012/13 VFM 

conclusion comprises:

• reviewing the progress being made on the 
Council's Waste Management PFI project;

• reviewing the Council's development of income 
generation plans;

• assessing the achievement of the savings 
required by the Council's Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) and how future savings 
will be made;

Started 25 

February 2013

No The results of our work will be reported to the Audit 

and Governance Committee in our Financial 

Resilience Report and in our Audit Findings (Annual 

Governance) Report.

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 66

will be made;

• reviewing the arrangements in place for 
budgeting, forecasting and reporting capital 
expenditure;

• assessing progress in implementing the 
recommendations arising from Public Value 
Reviews (PVRs);

• reviewing progress made in developing 
partnership working; and

• assessing financial standing including adequacy 
of balances and reserves.

P
age 60



Emerging issues and developments

Accounting and audit issues

Implications of the Local Government Finance Act 2012

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 has now been given Royal Assent. The Act has amendments in two areas of local government 

finance: 

• Council tax support will now be localised and local authorities will be responsible for implementing their own council tax reduction 

schemes. 

• 50% of the non domestic rates collected locally will be retained by the local authority. Billing authorities will pay over a share to central 

government and proportionate shares to their precepting bodies.

In December 2012, CIPFA issued a consultation on proposed amendments to the 2013/14 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 

in the United Kingdom for the implications of business rates retention schemes.  In summary, the changes are to account for business 

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 77

in the United Kingdom for the implications of business rates retention schemes.  In summary, the changes are to account for business 

rates in a similar way to council tax. The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will need to show amounts collectible by 

each authority. Debtors/creditors will be recognised when these amounts do not match the actual amounts paid by each billing authority 

over to preceptors and government.  The Collection Fund adjustment account will be used for accounting for the differences. Top-ups and 

tariffs and the safety net and levy will be recognised as grant income or expenditure. Individual authorities in a pool will need to account 

for their share of income and expenditure debtors/creditors as stipulated in any agreement made by individual authorities in the pool.

CIPFA consultation on Service Reporting Code of Practice 2014/15: Adult Social Care Service Expenditure Analysis (England 

only)

In January, CIPFA issued a consultation on the proposed changes to the Adult Social Care Service Expenditure Analysis.  The proposed 

changes are for a complete revision to the mandatory lines and these  have been based on work done by the Health and Social Care

Information Centre.

P
age 61



Emerging issues and developments

Accounting and audit issues

Assets transferring to academy schools

There is on-going debate as to whether assets relating to schools that have been granted academy status should be:

• impaired to nil at the date of the granting of a transfer order on the basis that the assets will be disposed of for nil value; or

• not impaired as the assets are still being used and so should be shown at the balance sheet date at full existing use value.

Our view is that this is a matter for judgement and the financial statements should set out clearly:

• the policy followed by the Council

• details of material assets that are to be transferred out of local authority control. 

Provisions

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 88

Provisions

Under IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets', the criteria for recognising a provision is that there is: 

• a current obligation as a result of a past event;

• a transfer of economic benefit is probable; and

• a reliable estimate of the liability can be made.

We wish to highlight the following matters to you for consideration where a provision may be required:

• Mutual Municipal Insurance – the Scheme of Arrangement was triggered in November 2012, therefore it is now virtually certain that 

there will be a transfer of economic benefit. If this liability has not been discharged by 31 March 2013, we would expect local authorities 

to recognise a creditor or, if the timing or amount of the payment is uncertain, a provision in their financial statements.

• Land restoration costs – where a local authority owns a closed landfill site and is responsible for aftercare costs, we would expect the 

authority to recognise a provision for total future costs. These landfill aftercare costs should also be capitalised and depreciated under 

IAS 16 'Property, Plant and Equipment' so there is no immediate impact on the General Fund.

P
age 62



Emerging issues and developments

Accounting and audit issues

• Equal pay - in October 2012 the supreme court ruled that more than 170 former Birmingham City Council employees can make equal 

pay claims. This effectively extends the time workers have to bring equal pay compensation claims from six months to six years. We 

would expect local authorities to consider whether they have received any additional claims and, where the criteria set out in IAS 37 

have been met, recognise a provision.

• Redundancy costs –the recognition point for termination benefits fall under IAS 19 'Employee Benefits'. This is generally earlier than the 

IAS 37 recognition criteria for restructuring which requires that a valid expectation has been raised in those affected. The requirement in 

IAS 19 is that the entity is 'demonstrably committed'.

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 99

P
age 63



Emerging issues and developments

Grant Thornton

'Improving council governance: A slow burner'

Councils are facing continued, intense pressure to reduce spending and implement organisational change, while maintaining services and 

introducing alternative delivery models. There is also an increased public demand for greater transparency in decision-making and 

performance.

Our second annual review, published on 28 February 2013, is based on survey responses from over 60 senior council officers and 

members and a desk top review of over 150 UK councils' 2011/12 annual governance statements and explanatory forewords. It evaluates 

the soundness of existing systems for operating in the current challenging environment and also identifies trends in sector views around 

the effectiveness of underlying governance processes and the important factors of people, culture and behaviour.  

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 1010

the effectiveness of underlying governance processes and the important factors of people, culture and behaviour.  

'Towards a tipping point?: Summary findings from our second year of financial health checks of English local authorities '

In December 2012, Grant Thornton published 'Towards a tipping point?: Summary findings from our second year of financial health 

checks of English local authorities'. This financial health review considers key indicators of financial performance, financial governance, 

strategic financial planning and financial controls to provide a summary update on how the sector is coping with the service and financial 

challenges faced. The report provides a summary of the key issues, trends and good practice emerging from the review.

.

P
age 64



Emerging issues and developments

Local government guidance

'Striking a balance: improving councils' decision making on reserves' 

In December, the Audit Commission published 'Striking a balance: improving councils' decision making on reserves'. The report covers 

the findings from research undertaken by the Audit Commission on the level of reserves that councils hold and the decisions councils 

make on them. 

The report encourages English councils to focus more attention on their reserves. It suggests that management should be providing more 

comprehensive information on reserves to elected members and councils should provide greater clarity on the reasons for holding 

reserves. The report includes questions for elected members that will help them in their decision making and scrutiny roles.

Broadband Initiative – Rural Broadband Fund 

The Government has committed to delivering superfast broadband (24Mbps) accessibility to 90% of UK premises, and a minimum of 2 

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Report Name   |   Date 1111

The Government has committed to delivering superfast broadband (24Mbps) accessibility to 90% of UK premises, and a minimum of 2 

mbps to the remaining 10% of premises.   The Department of Culture Media and Sport (DCMS) has entered into a Framework Agreement

with two Suppliers, BT and Fujitsu, for the purposes of delivering this broadband infrastructure.

Local authorities are responsible for utilising the Framework Agreement to procure superfast broadband infrastructure for their areas.  

DCMS has grouped local authorities in England into circa 40 regions which are undertaking call-off procurements with BT and Fujitsu on a 

phased basis.   Local authorities are therefore at different stages of the process (i.e. pre-procurement, in procurement, or at the award 

stage).  The first local authorities to undertake the call-off process have recently awarded contracts to BT.

There are a number of important financial and commercial issues which local authorities will need to understand, investigate and

take action in order to secure and demonstrate value for money. The main issues are:

• Procurement strategy

• Grant agreements

• Financial forecasts

• Milestone payments

• Phasing of roll-out

• Demonstrating value for money

Grant Thornton has significant experience of advising the public sector on broadband procurements of this nature. Please talk to your 

audit manager if you would like more information.

P
age 65



© 2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited 
liability partnership. 

Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are 
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate 
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires. 
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by 
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities 
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide 
services to clients. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 66



DRAFT
This version of the 

report is a draft.  Its 

contents and subject 

matter remain under 

review and its contents 

may change and be 

expanded as part of the 

finalisation of the report.

The Audit Plan

for Surrey County Council

Year ended 31 March 2013

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Andy Mack

Client Relationship Lead

M 07880 456187

E andy.l.mack@uk.gt.com

Kathryn Sharp

Client Manager

M 07880 456150

E kathryn.sharp@uk.gt.com

Daniel Woodcock

Audit Executive

M 07921 659914

E daniel.woodcock@uk.gt.com

P
age 67



The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention,

which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in

particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect

the Council or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely

for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written

consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting,

or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not

prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

P
age 68



DRAFT

Contents

Section

1. Understanding your business

2. Developments relevant to your business and the audit

3. Our audit approach

4. An audit focused on risks

5. Significant risks identified

6. Other risks                                                                                                      

7. Planned interim audit work

8. Value for Money

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

8. Value for Money

9. Logistics and our team

10. Fees and independence

11. Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance

P
age 69



DRAFT

Understanding your business 1

Challenges/opportunities

In planning our audit we need to understand the challenges and opportunities the Council is facing.  We set out a summary of our understanding below.

1. Financial pressures

� Impact of current and future spending 

reviews

� Reductions in the Council's main sources 

of funding

� Increasing demands for services

2. Significant policy changes

� Government policy changes in relation to 

social care, welfare and funding

� Increasing number of academy schools

3. Service developments

• Delivery of key waste targets and waste 

infrastructure

• Delivery of Surrey Highways 

Transformation Project

4. Public Health responsibilities

� The Council takes over responsibility for 

public health with effect from 1 April 2013

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Our response

� We will review the Council's financial 

planning, monitoring and governance 

arrangements , focusing on preparation of 

and progress against its Medium Term 

Financial Plan Public Value Review (PVR) 

programme and income generation 

schemes.

� We will report on financial resilience data, 

including benchmarking data for the sector

� We will review how changes, risks and 

opportunities have been incorporated into 

the Medium Term Financial Plan

� We will review the Council's progress on 

these areas, particularly the development 

of partnership working

� We will discuss how the Council is 

planning to deal with the impact of the 

changes through our meetings with senior 

management

P
age 70



DRAFT

Developments relevant to your business and the audit                                      2

In planning our audit we also consider the impact of key developments in the sector and take account of national audit requirements as set out in the Code of Audit Practice 

and associated guidance.

Developments and other requirements

1.Financial reporting

� Changes to the CIPFA Code 

of Practice

� Transfer of assets to 

Academies

� Recognition of grant 

conditions and income

2. Legislation

� Local Government Finance 

settlement 2012/13

� Welfare reform Act  2012

3. Corporate governance

� Annual Governance 

Statement (AGS)

� Explanatory foreword

4. Pensions

� Planning for the impact of 

changes to the Local 

Government pension 

Scheme (LGPS) from April 

2014.

5. Financial Pressures

� Managing service provision 

with less resource

� Progress against savings 

plans

6. Other requirements

� The Council is required to 

submit a Whole of 

Government accounts pack 

on which we provide an audit 

opinion 

� The Council completes grant 

claims and returns on which 

audit certification is required

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Our response

We will ensure that

� the Council complies with the 

requirements of the CIPFA 

Code of Practice through our 

substantive testing

� the Council's arrangements 

to ensure schools are 

accounted for correctly and 

in line with the latest 

guidance

� grant income is recognised in 

line with the correct 

accounting standard

� We will discuss the impact of 

the legislative changes with 

the Council through our 

regular meetings with senior 

management and those 

charged with governance, 

providing a view where 

appropriate

� We will review the 

arrangements the Council 

has in place for the 

production of the AGS

� We will review the AGS  and 

the explanatory foreword to 

consider whether they are 

consistent with our 

knowledge

� We will discuss how the 

Council is planning to deal 

with the impact of the 

changes through our 

meetings with senior 

management

� We will review the Council's 

performance against its 

2012/13 budget, including 

consideration of performance 

against the Medium Term 

Financial Plan

� We will undertake a review 

of Financial Resilience as 

part of our VFM conclusion

� We will carry out work on the 

WGA pack in accordance 

with requirements

� We will certify grant claims 

and returns in accordance 

with Audit Commission 

requirements

P
age 71



DRAFT

Devise audit strategy

(planned control reliance?)

Our audit approach                                                                                           3

Global audit technology
Ensures compliance with International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs)

Understanding 

the environment 

and the entity

Understanding 

the business

Inherent 

risks

Significant 

risks

Yes No

� Test controls

� Substantive 

� Test of detail

� Substantive 
IDEA

Extract 

your data

Develop audit plan to 

obtain reasonable 

assurance that the 

Financial Statements 

as a whole are free 

from material 

misstatement and 

prepared in all 

materiala respects 

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Creates and tailors 

audit programs

Stores audit

evidence

Documents processes 

and controls

Understanding 

management’s 

focus

Evaluating the 

year’s results

Other

risks

Material 

balances

� Substantive 

analytical 

review

� Tests of detail

� Substantive 

analytical 

review

Financial statements

Conclude and report

General audit procedures

IDEA

Report output 

to teams

Analyse data 

using relevant 

parameters

materiala respects 

with the CIPFA Code 

of Practice 

framework using our 

global methodology 

and audit software

Note:

a. An item would be considered 

material to the financial statements 

if, through its omission or non-

disclosure, the financial statements 

would no longer show a true and 

fair view.

P
age 72



DRAFT

An audit focused on risks                                                                                  4

Account Material (or 

potentially 

material) 

balance?

Transaction Cycle Inherent risk Material 

misstatement

risk?

Description of Risk Substantive 

testing?

We undertake a risk based audit whereby we focus audit effort on those areas where we have identified a risk of material misstatement in the accounts. The 
table below shows how our audit approach focuses on the risks we have identified through our planning and review of the national risks affecting the sector. 
Definitions of the level of risk and associated work are given below:

Significant – Significant risks are typically non-routine transactions, areas of material judgement or those areas where there is a high underlying (inherent) 
risk of misstatement. We will undertake an assessment of controls (if applicable) around the risks and carry out detailed substantive testing.

Other – Other risks of material misstatement are typically those transaction cycles and balances where there are high values, large numbers of transactions 
and risks arising from, for example, system changes and issues identified from previous years audits. We will assess controls and undertake substantive 
testing, the level of which will be reduced where we can rely on controls.

None – Our risk assessment has not identified a risk of misstatement. We will undertake substantive testing of material balances.  Where an item in the 
accounts is not material we do not carry out detailed substantive testing.

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Cost of services -

operating expenses

Yes Operating expenses Medium Other Operating expenses 

understated

�

Cost of services –

employee 

remuneration

Yes Employee remuneration Medium Other Remuneration expenses not 

correct

�

Cost of services –

other revenues 

(grants and fees & 

charges)

Yes Other revenues Low None �

(Gains)/ Loss on 

disposal of non 

current assets

No Property, Plant and 

Equipment

Low None �

Precepts and levies Yes Council Tax Low None �

P
age 73



DRAFT

An audit focused on risks (continued)                                                               5
Account Material (or 

potentially 

material) 

balance?

Transaction Cycle Inherent risk Material 

misstatement

risk?

Description of Risk Substantive 

testing?

Interest payable and 

similar charges

Yes Borrowings Low None �

Pension Interest cost Yes Employee remuneration Low None �

Interest  & 

investment income

Yes Investments Low None �

Return on Pension 

assets

Yes Employee remuneration Low None �

Income from council 

tax

Yes Council Tax Low None �

NNDR distribution Yes NNDR Low None �

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

NNDR distribution Yes NNDR Low None �

PFI, revenue support

grant & other 

government grants

Yes Grant Income Low None �

Capital grants & 

contributions 

(including those

received in advance)

Yes Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Low None �

P
age 74



DRAFT

An audit focused on risks (continued)                                                               6
Account Material (or 

potentially 

material) 

balance?

Transaction Cycle Inherent risk Material 

misstatement

risk?

Description of Risk Substantive 

testing?

(Surplus)/ Deficit on 

revaluation of non 

current assets

Yes Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Low None �

Actuarial (gains)/ 

Losses on pension 

fund assets & 

liabilities

Yes Employee remuneration Low None �

Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Yes Property, Plant & 

Equipment

High Significant There is a risk that Property, 

Plant and Equipment may be 

materially misstated due to the 

incorrect inclusion or omission 

of schools on your balance 

sheet.

�

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

sheet.

Audit testing in 2011/12 

identified errors in the 

disclosure of  Assets under 

Construction in the notes to the 

accounts

Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Yes Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Medium Other Revaluation measurements not 

correct

�

Heritage assets No Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Low None �

Intangible assets No Intangible assets Low None �

Investments (long & 

short term)

Yes Investments Low None �

Debtors (long & short 

term)

Yes Revenue Low None �

Assets held for sale No Property, Plant & 

Equipment

Low None �

P
age 75



DRAFT

An audit focused on risks (continued)                                                               7

Account Material (or 

potentially 

material) 

balance?

Transaction Cycle Inherent risk Material 

misstatement

risk?

Description of Risk Substantive 

testing?

Inventories No Inventories Low None �

Cash & cash 

Equivalents

Yes Bank & Cash Low None �

Borrowing (long & 

short term)

Yes Debt Low None �

Creditors (long & 

Short term)

Yes Operating Expenses Medium Other Creditors understated or not 

recorded in the correct period

�

Provisions (long & 

short term)

No Provision Low None �

Pension liability Yes Employee remuneration Low None �

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Pension liability Yes Employee remuneration Low None �

Reserves Yes Equity Low None �

P
age 76



DRAFT

Significant risks identified                                                                                  8
'Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size or 

nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement 

uncertainty' (ISA 315). 

In this section we outline the significant risks of material misstatement which we have identified.  There are two presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits 

under auditing standards (International Standards on Auditing – ISAs)  which are listed below. In addition, we have identified one further significant risk relating to 

Property, Plant and Equipment.

Significant risk Description Substantive audit procedures

The revenue cycle includes 

fraudulent transactions

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue 

may be misstated due to the improper recognition of 

revenue.

Work planned:

� Review and testing of revenue recognition policies

� Performance of attribute and / or substantive  testing on material revenue streams 

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that the risk of 

management over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities.

Work planned:

� Review of accounting estimates, judgments and decisions made by management

� Testing of journal entries

� Review of unusual significant transactions

Property, Plant and Equipment  is 

materially misstated.

The Council manages schools through a variety of 

governance arrangements e.g. community schools, 

voluntary controlled schools, voluntary aided schools, 

foundation schools and academies.  The differences in 

those arrangements have implications for the 

accounting treatment of each of these categories.  

There is a risk that Property, Plant and Equipment may 

be materially misstated due to the incorrect inclusion or 

omission of schools on your balance sheet.

Audit testing in 2011/12 identified errors in the 

disclosure of  Assets under Construction in the notes 

to the accounts.

Work planned:

• Review the Council's consideration of schools, the proposed accounting treatment 

and the accounting policy

• Testing  the accounting treatment of schools

• Review and testing of the reconciliations between the Fixed Asset Register and the 

General Ledger

• Review and testing of movements during the year and of the year end balance

P
age 77



DRAFT

Other risks                                                                                                        9

The auditor should evaluate the design and determine the implementation of the entity's controls, including relevant control activities, over those risks for which, in the 

auditor's judgment, it is not possible or practicable to reduce the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level to an acceptably low level with audit evidence obtained 

only from substantive procedures (ISA 315). 

Other reasonably possible 

risks Description Work planned

Operating expenses Operating expenses understated

Creditors understated or not recorded in the correct period

� Identification and walkthrough of controls

� Testing of payments for completeness, classification and occurrence

Employee remuneration Remuneration accruals understated � Identification and walkthrough of controls

� Attribute and / or substantive testing of payroll records

Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation measurement not correct � Identification and walkthrough of controls

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

� Substantive testing of revaluations in year

P
age 78



DRAFT

Planned interim audit work                                                                              10

Scope

As part of the interim audit work, which commenced on 25 February 2013,  and in advance of our final accounts audit fieldwork, we will:
• consider the effectiveness of the internal audit function;
• review the results of internal audit's work on the Council's key financial systems;
• undertake walkthrough testing to confirm whether controls are implemented as per our understanding in areas where we have identified a risk of material 

misstatement; and
• carry out a review of Information Technology (IT) controls

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Work to be performed

Internal audit We will review internal audit's overall arrangements against the CIPFA Code of Practice and the new Public Sector

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which come into effect on 1 April 2013. Our review will take into account CIPFA's

recent review of internal audit at the Council.

Where the arrangements are deemed to be adequate, we can gain assurance from the overall work undertaken by 

internal audit and can conclude that the service itself is contributing positively to the internal control environment and 

overall governance arrangements within the Council.

Walkthrough testing Walkthrough tests will be completed in relation to the specific accounts assertion risks which we consider to present a 

risk of material misstatement to the financial statements.

P
age 79



DRAFT

Planned interim audit work (continued)                                                            11

Work to be performed

Review of information technology

(IT) controls

Our information systems specialist will perform a high level review of the general IT control environment, as part of the 

overall review of the internal controls system.  This work is scheduled for May 2013,  after the SWAN network upgrade 

has been completed.

Journal entry controls We will review the Council's journal entry policies and procedures as part of determining our journal entry testing 
strategy.

We will undertake detailed testing on journal transactions recorded for the first ten months of the financial year, by 
extracting 'unusual' entries for further review. 

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

extracting 'unusual' entries for further review. 

PFI schemes Wewill review the Council's 3 PFI accounting models to confirm they remain up to date, reasonable and provide 
materially correct entries to the financial statements.

Accruals We will review the progress the Council has made in assessing the extent of the potential overstatement  identified in 
2012/13 and in improving its controls over this area.

Related party transactions As Council elections will take place in May 2013, we will assess the Council's arrangements for ensuring that all 
declarations of interest and related party transactions are recorded before changes in elected members occur.

P
age 80



DRAFT

Value for Money                                                                                               12 

Introduction

The Code of Audit Practice requires us to issue a conclusion on whether the 
Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value 
for Money (VfM) conclusion. 

2012/13 VFM conclusion 

Our Value for Money conclusion will be based on two reporting criteria 
specified by the Audit Commission.

We will tailor our VfM work to ensure that as well as addressing high risk 
areas it is, wherever possible, focused on the Council's priority areas and can 

Code criteria Work to be undertaken

Risk-based work focusing on arrangements relating 
to financial governance, strategic financial planning 
and financial control. 

Specifically we will:

• Review the progress being made on the 
Council's Waste Management PFI project;

• Review the Council's development of income 
generation plans;

• Assess the achievement of the savings required 
by the Council's Medium Term Financial Plan 

The Council has 
proper arrangements 

in place for:
• securing financial 

resilience 
• challenging how it 
secures economy, 
efficiency and 

effectiveness in its 
use of resources

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

areas it is, wherever possible, focused on the Council's priority areas and can 
be used as a source of assurance for members. Where we plan to undertake 
specific reviews to support our VfM conclusion, we will issue a Terms of 
Reference for each review outlining the scope, methodology and timing of the 
review. These will be agreed in advance and presented to Audit and 
Governance Committee.

The results of all our local VfM audit work and key messages will be reported 
in our Annual Governance (ISA 260) Report and in the Annual Audit Letter. 
We will agree any additional reporting to the Council on a review-by-review 
basis.

by the Council's Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) and how future savings will be made;

• Review the arrangements in place for budgeting, 
forecasting and reporting capital expenditure.

• Assess progress in implementing the 
recommendations arising from Public Value 
Reviews (PVRs);

• Review progress made in developing partnership 
working; and

• Assess financial standing including adequacy of 
balances and reserves.

We will consider 
whether the Council 
is prioritising its 

resources with tighter 
budget

P
age 81



DRAFT

The audit cycle

Logistics and our team                                                                                     13

Completion/

reporting 
Debrief

Interim audit

visit

Final accounts 

visit

Feb - Mar 2013 Jun - Jul 2013 Aug 2013 Sep 2013

Key phases of our audit

2012-2013

Date Activity

17/01/2013 Planning meeting

25/02/2013 Interim site work 

18/03/2013 The audit plan presented to 

Audit and Governance

Committee

17/06/2013 Year-end fieldwork 

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

17/06/2013 Year-end fieldwork 

commences

Jul  / Aug

2013

Audit findings clearance

meetings

02/09/2013 Audit and Governance 

Committee meeting to 

report our findings

Sep 2013 Sign financial statements 

and VfM conclusion

Oct 2013 Issue Annual Audit Letter

Our team

Andy Mack

Client Relationship Lead

M 07880 456187

E andy.l.mack@uk.gt.com

Kathryn Sharp

Client Manager

M 07880 456150

E kathryn.sharp@uk.gt.com

Daniel Woodcock

Audit Executive

M 07921 659914

E daniel.woodcock@uk.gt.com

P
age 82



DRAFT

Fees

£

Council audit 189,464

Grant certification 4,200

Total 193,664

Fees and independence                                                                                     14

Our fee assumptions include:

� Our fees are exclusive of VAT 

Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are 

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

None Nil

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

� Supporting schedules to all figures in the accounts 

are supplied by the agreed dates and in accordance 

with the agreed upon information request list

� The scope of the audit, and the Council and its 

activities have not changed significantly

� The Council will make available management and 

accounting staff to help us locate information and 

to provide explanations

required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical 

Standards and therefore we confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the 

financial statements.

Full details of all fees charged for audit and non-audit services will be included in our Annual Governance (ISA 

260) Report at the conclusion of the audit.

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirement of the Auditing Practices 

Board's Ethical Standards.

P
age 83



DRAFT

Communication of  audit matters with those charged with governance            15

Our communication plan

Audit 

plan

Audit 

findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance

�

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications

�

Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issue arising during 

the audit and written representations that have been sought

�

Confirmation of independence and objectivity � �

A statement that we have complied with  relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence. 

� �

International Standards on Auditing  (ISA) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters 

which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, and which 

we set out in the table opposite.  

This document, The Audit Plan, outlines our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, 

while the Annual Governance (ISA 260) Report will be issued prior to approval of the 

financial statements  and will present key issues and other matters arising from the audit, 

together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved.

We will communicate any adverse or unexpected findings affecting the audit on a timely 

basis, either informally or via a report to the Council.

Respective responsibilities

This plan has been prepared in the context of the Statement of Responsibilities of 

Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission (www.audit-

©  2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

be thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged.  

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit �

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements

�

Non compliance with laws and regulations �

Expected modifications to the auditor's report, or emphasis of matter �

Uncorrected misstatements �

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties �

Significant matters in relation to going concern �

Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission (www.audit-

commission.gov.uk). 

We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies 

in England. As external auditors, we have a broad remit covering finance and 

governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the 

Code') issued by the Audit Commission and includes nationally prescribed and locally 

determined work. Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching our 

conclusions under the Code. 

It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for 

the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these responsibilities. 

P
age 84



© 2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited 
liability partnership. 

Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are 
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate 
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires. 
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by 
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities 
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide 
services to clients. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 85



P
age 86

T
his page is intentionally left blank



   

 

S 
AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

18 March 2013 
 
 

 
PENSION FUND INVESTMENTS – DECEMBER QUARTER 2012 

 
 

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

 
This report deals with the investment transactions of the pension fund during the 
December 2012 quarter and the position of the fund as at 31 December 2012, together 
with other matters considered by the Investment Advisors Group (IAG) at its quarterly 
meeting of 15 February 2013. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 
It is recommended that the committee note the content of the pension fund report for the 
quarter to 31 December 2012. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

 
1. The Investment Advisors Group is responsible for monitoring the activities of the 

Surrey Pension Fund and reporting to the county council and other employing 
bodies. This is achieved through the presentation of a quarterly report to the Audit 
and Governance Committee.  

 

PENSION FUND INVESTMENTS – DECEMBER QUARTER 2012: 

 

Position Statement as at 31 December 2012 
2. The market value of the fund increased during the quarter from £2,236.9 million at 

30 September 2012 to £2,322.4 million at 31 December 2012, an increase of 
3.8%. The value of the fund as at close of business on 13 February 2013 is 
estimated at £2,427.0 million.  

3. The value of the major asset classes at 31 December 2012 compared with 30 
September 2012 was as follows: 

  

Item 8

Page 87



   

 

  31 December 30 September 

  £m % £m % 

Fixed Interest         

UK Government 172.2 7.4 109.3 4.9 

UK Non-Government 178.5 7.7 180.1 8.1 

Overseas 2.3 0.1 44.5 2.0 

Index Linked 90.3 3.9 83.3 3.7 

Equities     

UK 612.6 26.4 633.1 28.3 

Overseas 791.0 34.0 749.0 33.5 

Property Unit Trusts 123.7 5.3 121.3 5.4 

Private Equity 87.8 3.8 84.5 3.8 

Diversified Growth 205.9 8.9 157.7 7.0 

Cash 53.2 2.3 67.3 3.0 

Currency hedge* 4.9 0.2 6.8 0.3 

Total Fund 2,322.4 100.0 2,236.9 100.0 

 * Net unrealised profit/loss   

4. The following table shows the breakdown of the market valuation as at 31 
December 2012 by asset class and compares the totals with the target asset 
allocation. The total excludes any private equity funds or cash held by SCC 
included in the table above.   

 

  TOTAL 
FUND 

Actual Target Last Quarter 

  £m % % £m % 

Fixed Interest           

UK Government 172.2 7.8 8.0 109.3 5.1 

UK Non-Government 178.5 8.0 8.0 180.1 8.5 

Overseas 2.3 0.1 0.0 44.5 2.1 

Index Linked 90.3 4.1 4.0 83.3 3.9 

Equities      

UK 612.6 27.7 28.0 633.1 29.7 

Overseas 791.0 35.8 35.0 749.0 35.2 

Property Unit Trusts 123.7 5.6 7.0 121.3 5.7 

Diversified growth 205.9 9.3 10.0 157.7 7.4 

Cash 27.3 1.2 0.0 45.1 2.1 

Currency hedge 4.9 0.2 0.0 6.8 0.3 

TOTAL 2,208.7 100.0 100.0 2,130.2 100.0 

            

 
 

Page 88



   

 

5. The following table breaks down the above to show the value of assets held by 
individual managers at quarter end: 

 

    Actual TARGET LAST QUARTER 

  £m % % £m % 

Multi-Asset           

LGIM 731.5 33.1 32.0 743.1 34.9 

        

Bonds/Property       

Western 270.9 12.3 11.0 266.6 12.5 

CBRE 126.5 5.7 7.0 127.1 6.0 

        

UK Equity       

Majedie 145.9 6.6 8.0 136.2 6.4 

Mirabaud 88.9 4.0 4.0 85.9 4.0 

UBS  181.5 8.2 8.0 170.0 8.0 

        

Global Equity       

Marathon 294.0 13.3 12.0 280.7 13.2 

Newton 162.7 7.4 8.0 161.9 7.6 

        

Diversified Growth      

Baillie Gifford  77.8 3.5 4.0 31.1 1.5 

Standard Life 128.1 5.8 6.0 126.6 5.9 

        

Residual Cash 0.9 0.1 0.0 1.0 0.0 

TOTAL 2,208.7 100.0 100.0  2,130.2 100.0 

            

 

6. In July 2011 the Investment Advisors Group (IAG) started to review the investment 
strategy of the fund following the implementation of the 2010 actuarial valuation 
results. Changes to the investment strategy were approved by the IAG in March 
2012 and began to be implemented in the June quarter. 

7. During the December quarter, Baillie Gifford received funding of £45m to bring 
their total funding to £75m as agreed at the time of appointment based on their 4% 
target allocation.  

8. At the IAG meeting in November 2012 the Group agreed that they wanted to use 
50% of the gilts currently managed by Western to invest in a total return or 
absolute return bond strategy. The Group felt that it was the right time to decrease 
the allocation to gilts to realise the gains made in the last few years and to move to 
a product that would offer higher yields.  

9. In December 2012 the Group held an extraordinary meeting to receive 
presentations from four fund managers, including Western, on potential 
investment options. The Group decided that the most attractive option was the 
Franklin Templeton Global Total Return Fund. This fund invests mainly in 
government and corporate bonds in developed and emerging markets.  

Page 89



   

 

10. On 11 February 2013 50% of the gilts managed by Western were redeemed into 
£67m of cash and invested into the pooled fund managed by Franklin Templeton. 

11. As part of the strategy review, the Group had previously agreed to increase 
Majedie’s benchmark allocation by 2% to 8% to fund a new investment into a 
global equities product Majedie were offering. Following the departure of key staff 
at Majedie, this investment will no longer be taking place. At the IAG meeting on 
the 15 February 2013, the Group discussed options reference the additional 2%. It 
was agreed the benchmark allocation to Majedie’s UK Equity portfolio should 
increase by 1% to 7% and Legal & General Overseas Equities by 1% to 14%. This 
change will not require additional funding to be provided to either manager.  

12. In the December quarter contributions from members exceeded the value of 
benefits paid and transfer values by £3.4m. Investment income (net of costs) 
totaled £8.9m. Market movements increased the value of the fund by £74.9m. 

Investment Performance Results for the Period 
13. The managed fund made a return of 3.3% over the quarter. This compares with a 

total fund customised benchmark return of 2.9% (+0.4%). The total fund return for 
the year to the end of December 2012 was 12.4% above the benchmark return of 
10.7% (+1.7%). 

14. For the quarter to 31 December 2012, performance returns for the individual fund 
managers, in absolute terms and relative to their benchmark target, were as 
follows:  

Manager Asset Class Market  
Value 

Market  
Value 

Return  Relative 

    30  
September 

31  
December 

%  % 

Multi-Asset         

LGIM Multi-Asset 743.1 731.5 +3.0 -0.2 

        

Bonds/Property       

Western Bonds 266.6 270.9 +1.6 +0.7 

CBRE Property 127.1 126.5 -0.3 -0.1 

        

Equity       

Majedie UK  136.2 145.9 +7.3 +3.5 

Mirabaud UK  85.9 88.9 +3.6 -0.2 

UBS  UK  170.0 181.5 +6.8 +3.0 

Marathon Global  280.7 294.0 +4.8 +2.6 

Newton Global  161.9 162.7 +0.5 -1.7 

Diversified Growth      

Standard Life Diversified Growth 126.6 77.8 +1.2 +1.0 

Baillie Gifford Diversified Growth 31.1 128.1 
 

+2.8 +2.7 

Residual Cash 

  

  1.0 0.9   

TOTAL MANAGED 
FUND 

  2,130.2 2,208.7 +3.3 +0.4 

 

Page 90



   

 

15. In summary in the quarter to 31 December 2012:  

· The total fund return of 3.3% was greater than the customised (hedged) 
benchmark return of 2.9% (+0.4%). 

· In absolute terms, the best performing managers was Majedie with a return of 
+7.3%, compared to a benchmark return of 3.8% (+3.5%). 

· In relative terms, the best performing manager was also Majedie (+3.5%). UBS 
also performed strongly with a return of 6.8% compared with a benchmark of 
3.8% (+3.0%).  

· Newton underperformed with a return of 0.5% compared to a benchmark of 
2.2% (-1.7%). The reason for Newton’s underperformance in the quarter was 
their underweight allocation to the financial sector which had performed well.  

16. Under the fund’s current strategy, short-term periods of underperformance (e.g. 
over individual quarters or years) should be expected. The overriding objective of 
the portfolio is to outperform the customised benchmark by 1% per annum over a 
rolling three-year period.  

17. Each manager has a different target, depending on the type of mandate that they 
have. Having managers with different targets and different but complimentary 
styles means that short-term periods of underperformance are likely, with the 
expectation for the manager to perform over the longer term.  

18. In the year to 31 December 2012 and in the period since inception (2004 for all 
managers, apart from Newton (December 2007) and Standard Life and Baillie 
Gifford (May 2012), performances for the individual managers were as follows: 

Manager Return 
for Year 

Relative Performance to 31 Dec Target 
Outperformance* 

  % year 3 years since 
inception 

  

Multi-Asset   p.a. p.a. p.a.   

LGIM +9.9 -0.1 +0.0 +0.0 n/a 

        

Bonds/Property       

Western +9.4 +1.7 -1.0 -0.8 0.75 

CBRE +0.9 +0.3 -1.0 -2.1 1.0 

        

Equity       

Majedie +16.2 +3.9 +2.5 +3.9 2.5 

Mirabaud +11.9 -0.4 +0.1 +1.8 2.5 

UBS  +17.7 +5.4 +0.3 -0.8 2.0 

Marathon +18.8 +8.1 +5.6 +3.7 2.0 

Newton +14.5 +3.5 -0.9 -1.2 2.0 

      
Diversified Growth      

Standard Life n/a n/a n/a 1.5 5.0 
Baillie Gifford n/a n/a n/a 6.1 3.5 

      

TOTAL MANAGED FUND +12.4 +1.7 +0.2 -0.2 1.5 

*Standard Life outperformance target is gross of fees, all others net 

Page 91



   

 

19. Over a rolling 3-year period: 

· Marathon (+5.6%) achieved a return ahead of their performance target and 
Majedie (+2.5%) met their performance target.  

· UBS (+0.3%) and Mirabaud (+0.1%) slightly outperformed compared to 
benchmark. 

· Western (-1.0%), CBRE (-1.0%) and Newton (-0.9%) all underperformed 
compared with benchmark.  

20. The overriding objective of the portfolio is to outperform the customised 
benchmark by 1% per annum over a rolling three-year period. Managers that 
underperform compared to benchmark over that period hamper the fund achieving 
its objective. The IAG continually monitors the performance of all managers and 
also monitors current developments to assess whether each manager has the 
ability to meet its target and help the fund achieve its objective.  

IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial: 
There are no direct financial implications. 

 
Equalities: 
There are no direct equality implications. 

 
Risk management and value for money: 
Pension Fund risks are proactively monitored by officers and the Fund’s Investment 
Advisors Group. 
 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
The February meeting was the last meeting of the IAG in its current form. Subject to a 
Council decision on 19 March 2013, the IAG will be transforming into a Pension Fund 
Board will full committee status. The first meeting of the newly formed Surrey Pension 
Fund Board will be on 31 May 2013.  
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR:   
Phil Triggs, Strategic Finance Manager, Pension Fund & Treasury 
 
CONTACT DETAILS:   
020 8541 9894  
 
Sources/background papers:   
Investment Advisors Group meeting papers 
Reports sourced from SAP, the Fund Custodian and Fund Managers. 
 

 
 

Page 92



  

S 
Audit & Governance Committee 

18 March 2013 

Surrey County Council self assessment on issues raised in: 

• Financial sustainability of local authorities; and 

• Towards a tipping point 

Purpose of the report:   This report summarises two recent publications on 

financial sustainability and good governance in local authorities. It analyses 

Surrey County Council’s performance and highlights some areas for 

improvement. 

 

Introduction: 

1. This report summarises two recent national publications by the National 
Audit office (NAO) and our external auditors, Grant Thornton. 
Respectively they are:  

· Financial sustainability of local authorities (Annex 1); and 

· Towards a tipping point? (Annex 2)  
2. The publications cover local authorities’ performance in the current 

financial climate. This report assesses Surrey County Council’s 
performance in relation to points raised in the publications. 

Recommendations: 

3. It is recommended that Audit & Governance Committee: 
a) notes the recent publications by NAO and Grant Thornton; 
b) considers the assessment of Surrey County Council’s performance; 

and 
c) considers the impact of the suggested areas for improvement. 

Financial sustainability of local authorities  

Overview 

4. National Audit Office (NAO) published Financial sustainability of local 

authorities (Annex 1) on 30 January 2013. It examines central 

government’s approach to local authority funding, and reviews local 

authorities’ financial sustainability in the current financial climate. 

5. As part of its fiscal deficit reduction plan, the Government’s 2010 

spending review planned to reduce local authorities’ real terms funding 

Item 9

Page 93



  

by 26% (£7.6 billion) between April 2011 and March 2015 (excluding 

police, schools and fire). So far, local authorities have absorbed these 

funding decreases with some evidence of service reductions. NAO 

estimates local authorities still need to find about half their savings to be 

made before March 2015.  

6. The Government is changing local government funding to increase local 

authorities’ financial opportunities. However, this also increases their 

financial risks and uncertainty. Two of the biggest changes (partial 

retention of business rates and localisation of council tax support) take 

effect in April 2013. 

7. The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has 

started to assess the combined impact of changes by different 

government departments on individual local authorities’ financial risk 

profiles. The risk of financial failure will not spread evenly across local 

government; some authorities will be affected more than others. How 

DCLG and local authorities respond to possible multiple financial failures 

as financial difficulties intensify is untested.  

8. NAO recommends DCLG and other government departments evaluate 

better the impact of decisions on local authority finances and services 

before and after implementation. 

Changes to local authority funding 

9. Since 2010 the Government has made several changes to local authority 

funding. The objectives underpinning them are localism and deficit 

reduction. These have driven the following changes:  

a) reduced central government grant funding; 

b) Council Tax Freeze Grant and the requirement to hold referendums 

for council tax increases above a set threshold;  

c) partial retention of local business rates; and 

d) local discretion over council tax support for working age people. 

10. Central government’s spending review plans to cut funding to local 

government by 26% between 2010/11 and 2014/15. Just over a third of 

this reduction was planned for the first year, 2011/12, with the remaining 

cuts spread evenly over the following three years. After taking account of 

local government’s anticipated income from other sources, such as 

council tax, local government would see a 14% reduction over the 

spending review period to 2014/15.  

11. Surrey’s budgets and medium term financial plan (MTFP) for each year 

from 2010/11 to 2014/15 also show a 14% real terms funding reduction 

over the spending review period. This reduction takes account of 

Page 94



  

Surrey’s actual council tax rises agreed for 2012/13 (2.99%) and 2013/14 

(1.99%) and the 2.5% assumed increase built into its MTFP for 2014/15. 

Council tax income 

12. The Government introduced Council Tax Freeze Grant (CTFG) in late 

2010 as a reward for authorities that did not increase council tax. The 

first CTFG offered a grant equivalent to a 2.5% rise in council tax 

payable in each of the four years 2011/12 to 2014/15. All authorities 

accepted the first CTFG. The second CTFG offered a grant equivalent to 

a 2.5% rise in council tax payable in 2012/13 only. 359 authorities 

accepted the second CTFG. The third CTFG offered a grant equivalent 

to a 1.0% rise in council tax payable in each of the years 2013/14 and 

2014/15. As at 18 February 2013, 219 authorities had accepted the third 

CTFG, including 24 out of 27 county councils. 

13. The Localism Act 2011 introduced the need for a referendum if a council 

wanted to raise its council tax above an excessiveness threshold 

determined annually by the Secretary of State for Communities and 

Local Government. For 2012/13, the Secretary of State set the threshold 

at 3.5%, for 2013/14 he set it at 2.0%.  

14. Surrey accepted the first CTFG and receives £13.8m a year for it. Surrey 

declined the second and third CTFGs and raised council tax by 2.99% 

for 2012/13 and 1.99% for 2013/14. This means Surrey does not depend 

on variable short term grants and therefore has greater financial 

resilience. 

Localisation of business rates 

15. Partial local retention of business rates will incentivise local authorities to 

promote local business growth, as they will keep some of the increased 

business rate income. DCLG receives 50% of all local business rates 

collected (which it redistributes as revenue support grant). In two tier 

areas, districts and boroughs keep 80% of the remainder. As a county 

council with fire and rescue responsibilities, Surrey receives the other 

20%. Because Surrey’s share of the local business rates is less than our 

assessed spending need met from business rates, we also receive top 

up funding to bring us up to that business rates baseline level. 

16. Surrey’s business rates baseline for 2013/14 is £101m. Government 

estimates we will receive £44m funding from our share of business rates 

collected locally. Surrey’s top up is £57m. The top up provides some 

protection from local volatility in business rates, due for example to rating 

revaluations as well as business growth and relocation. If business rates 

collected throughout Surrey rise by 5%, the county’s business rates 

income rises by 5% too. If business rates collected throughout Surrey fall 

by 5%, the county council’s business rates income falls by 5% too. 

However in both cases, this change only affects 44% of our assessed 

Page 95



  

spending need met from business rates. The top up element, being fixed, 

dampening the impact of volatility.  

Localisation of council tax support 

17. Changes to council tax support mean instead of paying benefits using 

the Department for Work and Pensions’ (DWP) rules, local billing 

authorities (districts and boroughs) now set their own schemes to provide 

support as a discount on council tax. Nationally the government has 

provided local authorities 10% less money for this, but has partially 

mitigated it by introducing flexibilities around council tax premiums and 

discounts (for second homes and empty properties).  

18. In Surrey, most districts and boroughs have broadly adopted a scheme 

in line with a county wide framework. The framework aims to minimise 

the impact on households least able to pay. The government’s funding 

reduction means we receive a grant for council tax support of £38m in 

2013/14 compared to £45m received in 2012/13 (as our 76% share of 

benefit subsidy paid into collection funds). Districts and boroughs 

estimate the use of new council tax flexibilities will reduce this £7m 

funding gap by around £5m.  

19. As by far the biggest recipient of monies from collection funds, the 

county council bears three quarters of the risk of volatility introduced by 

these changes. The system itself is untried, which brings its own 

uncertainty, plus the economic outlook is still unsettled. So, the economic 

downturn reserve has been increased by £2.1m to help deal with the 

impact of potentially higher demand for council tax discounts arising from 

lower household incomes and lower collection rates from people who 

had previously paid little or no council tax, but now receive a bill. 

Local authorities’ savings requirements 

20. Local authorities have absorbed reductions in central government 

funding with some evidence that services have been reduced. Up to 

2012/13 budgets, most local authorities had not drawn on financial 

reserves to make up for reduced income. 

21. Local authorities still need to find about half of their savings to be made 

in the spending review period in 2013/14 and 2014/15. Surrey expects to 

make £131m (52%) savings in 2011/12 and 2012/13, leaving £122m 

(48%) to be made in 2013/14 and 2014/15.   

22. Local authorities face increasing demand for services such as adult 

social care and children’s services, which account for over half of their 

non-schools spending. Councils’ scope to absorb these cost pressures 

by reducing other services is falling as authorities have already reduced 

spending on these services which already cost less.  

Page 96



  

23. Figure 1 shows the spending distribution for Surrey compared to 

England. They are broadly similar, albeit that adult social care, 

environment and highways form a slightly higher proportion in Surrey 

and children’s and central services a lower proportion. 

Figure 1  Comparative spending on local services in Surrey and in England 

2010/11 (excludes schools and fire and rescue) 

 

24. Nationally, local authority spending has reduced in real terms for all 

services. The largest reductions have been to lower spending services 

such as planning and development (36%), housing (22%) cultural (19%) 

and highways (14%). In contrast, adult social care, which forms the 

biggest part of councils’ overall spending has reduced on average by 6% 

and children’s services by 5%.  

25. Figure 2 shows that since 2010/11, spending by Surrey County Council 

on adult social care and on children’s services have each fallen by 4%, 

while planning and development services’ spending has fallen by 28%. 

These are similar to the national trend. However, over the same period, 

Surrey’s spending on environment and highways have both risen and 

Surrey’s spending on fire and rescue grew by 11%. 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Adult social 

care

Children's 

services

Environment Cultural Central Highways Housing Planning & 

development
England Surrey: county + Ds&Bs

Page 97



  

Figure 2  Spending by Surrey County Council 2010/11 and planned changes 

for 2012/13 (excluding schools) 

 

Use of reserves 

26. Local authorities have a legal requirement to maintain adequate reserves 

to manage financial risks. The level of reserves is a matter for each local 

authority to decide. At 31 March 2012, local authorities held total 

reserves of £13.5 billion. Of this total, reserves earmarked for specific 

purposes amounted to £9.9 billion and unallocated general reserves £3.6 

billion (4% of local authority spending). NAO analysed changes to local 

authorities’ general reserves. NAO considers them particularly important 

for financial sustainability as they protect against unforeseen events. 

27. In 2011/12 most local authorities (209) increased their general reserves 

and 93 reduced their general reserves. Surrey increased its level of 

general reserves to around £30m in anticipation of the continuation of 

volatility in future funding. Surrey also continued to provide a budget risk 

contingency of £8m to mitigate non delivery of service efficiencies. 

Financial outlook 

28. NAO found 12% of local authorities as at risk of not balancing future 

budgets. Of 52 local authority finance directors responding to a survey, 

most expected to make the largest savings through efficiency 

improvements. However, nearly all saw reducing the services their local 

authorities provided as contributing to meeting savings requirements.  

29. Surrey’s MTFP 2013-18 includes planned use of £23m of reserves in 

2013/14 – in recognition of the strategy to smooth spending across 

financial years and follow the strategy of long term planning, rather than 

short term service reduction measures. A review of this during quarter 1 

46%

17%

9%

4%
2%

11%

3%
1%

7%

-4% -4%

7%

-3%

-10%

4%
2%

-28%

11%

-40%

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Adult Social 

Care

Children's 

services

Environment Cultural Central Highways Housing Planning & 

development

Fire & Rescue

% of 2010-11 service expenditure % change in budgeted service expenditure

Page 98



  

2013/14 will focus on specifying how further savings required will be 

delivered.  

Towards a tipping point? 

30. Grant Thornton succeeded the Audit Commission as Surrey County 

Council’s external auditors in autumn 2012. Towards a tipping point? 

(Annex 2) summarises findings from Grant Thornton’s second year of 

financial health checks of English local authorities. In 2012, Grant 

Thornton increased its local government audit portfolio by more than 100 

clients. This will increase the breadth of data supporting its future 

financial health check reviews. Data from Surrey will therefore be 

reflected in the up-date of this review later this calendar year.   

31. With financial austerity due to continue until at least 2017, Towards a 

tipping point? considers key indicators of financial performance, financial 

governance, strategic financial planning and financial controls across 

local government, to provide a summary update on how the sector is 

coping, drawing comparisons with the findings Grant Thornton published 

in December 2011 as Surviving the storm: how resilient are local 

authorities?.  

32. Towards a tipping point? is based on reviews of 24 (7%) English local 

authorities undertaken between May and September 2012. This included 

a desk top review of key documents and interviews with key 

stakeholders to validate findings. The report focuses on the 2012/13 

financial planning period and delivery of 2011/12 budgets.  

33. The analysis followed the Audit Commission’s broad approach to 

assessing value for money using themes and risk rating criteria. As 

Surrey received an unqualified value for money conclusion for 2011/12, 

our auditors rated us to be at high risk for no themes.  

34. Grant Thornton also includes a best practice checklist under each theme. 

This report considers Surrey’s performance against each theme’s 

checklist and also highlights potential areas for improvement. 

Is local government reaching a tipping point? 

35. While authorities met their 2011/12 targets as they anticipated, their 

confidence in achieving medium-term targets has fallen in the last year. 

With many factors leading to an uncertain environment for setting 

financial plans, the report asks is a critical point coming where local 

authorities can no longer deliver? 

36. Surviving the storm: how resilient are local authorities? identified 

confidence among local authorities about achieving 2011/12’s savings. 

This was borne out as most authorities delivered their 2011/12 targets. 

However confidence waned over the medium term. Towards a tipping 

point? reinforces this. Strategic financial planning was the area where 

Page 99



  

risk rating increased between 2010/11 and 2011/12. The challenges and 

uncertainties facing the sector remain significant and confidence for the 

medium-term is generally weaker.  

37. Grant Thornton lists factors that bring uncertainty in local government 

financial planning, including: 

a) the possibility of further funding reductions during the current 

spending review period, and a lack of certainty after 2015; 

b) the weakness of the economy which both depresses income sources 

and increases local government welfare related spending; 

c) the lateness of the 2013/14 Local Government Finance Settlement, 

providing a very limited lead in to the 2013/14 financial planning cycle; 

d) restrictions on local authorities’ ability to raise additional council tax 

funding due to CTFG and council tax increase threshold;  

e) the opportunities and challenges from the partial localisation of 

business rates and the change to council tax support; 

f) the pressures of an ageing population with increasing complexity of 

need affecting social care delivery, a key spending pressure area; and 

g) limitations on the ability to finance capital projects. 

38. Grant Thornton’s analysis suggests a ‘tipping point’ is approaching, but 

what form this could take remains unclear. A tipping point has been 

described as the critical point in an evolving situation that leads to a new 

and irreversible development. The report identifies several tipping point 

scenarios related to individual local authorities, rather than local 

government as a whole: 

a) Statutory –a local authority can no longer meet its statutory 

responsibilities. 

b) Financial –the Section 151 Officer is unable to set a balanced budget. 

c) Industrial –industrial relations disputes lead to major service 

disruption. 

d) External –a major supplier fails. 

e) Incremental –small tipping points, accumulate to a critical mass. 

f) Decision paralysis –a council fails to make the difficult decisions 

needed to manage its financial and other challenges. 

39. Grant Thornton will work with local authorities to explore the concept of a 

tipping point further. When it has better understanding, the firm will begin 

to analyse the actions needed to avoid and mitigate such tipping points. 

Page 100



  

Key indicators of financial performance 

40. Overall, Grant Thornton found use of financial and other ratios improved 

from 2010/11 to 2011/12. Despite considerable improvement, managing 

the workforce remains a critical area, alongside liquidity where the trend 

for reducing working capital continues.  

41. Surrey performs well against the best practice checklist. For example, 

we: 

a) operate within appropriate, locally determined levels of reserves and 

balances; and 

b) have a track record of spending to budget and managing overspends 

within year 

42. Over the last 12 months, we have also made progress on absence 

management, including:  

a) monthly meetings between HR and Heads of Service to discuss 

absence cases; 

b) support for managers on conducting return to work discussions; 

c) improving data quality of sickness reporting; and 

d) a pilot for occupational health intervention on day one of any sickness 

absence. 

Strategic financial planning 

43. Grant Thornton found authorities typically started their 2012/13 planning 

cycles earlier to provide time to finalise savings programmes. Overall 

scenario planning remains weak. However, it is ever more critical given 

the uncertainty about Government spending plans and the volatility 

introduced by the partial retention of local business rates. 

44. Surrey performs well against the best practice checklist. For example we: 

a) integrate financial and service plans well and follow the corporate and 

financial strategies over the longer term;  

b) use sensitivity analysis on our financial modelling; and 

c) regularly review the MTFP and the assumptions within it. 

45. An area for improvement we are progressing is developing our approach 

to workforce planning. We have a new approach in place, which we are 

incorporating into preparation of the Corporate Plan. We are developing 

a toolkit to enable local workforce planning and structure analysis and 

Finance, Policy and HR are working to integrate the new approach into 

service and financial planning.  

Page 101



  

Financial governance 

46. Grant Thornton found an increase in member and senior manager 

engagement on financial planning. Budget management has also 

improved. However, authorities’ ability to manage volatile, demand led 

budgets remains a challenge.  

47. Surrey performs well against the best practice checklist. For example we: 

a) report regularly to members on our financial position and our 

developing financial plans; 

b) respond promptly to internal and external audit recommendations; and 

c) address key areas of financial risk.  

48. An area for improvement is to spread good understanding of unit costs 

and cost drivers. This is in place in parts, but not consistently throughout 

the Council. More widespread good understanding of unit costs would 

enhance understanding and analysis of financial implications of different 

options for management plans and actions. 

Financial controls  

49. Grant Thornton found in 2011/12 authorities’ financial control had 

improved over that in 2010/11 and authorities had delivered in-year 

savings. However, Grant Thornton noted a key issue in 2011/12’s 

reviews was a lack of transparency in how some authorities report 

performance against budgeted savings.  

50. Many local authorities do not report effectively the savings they might or 

might not achieve. For example, a reduced budget incorporating savings 

agreed by Cabinet does not overspend at year end and is considered a 

success. However, the reality may be that other factors have led to the 

underspend, but are not apparent as reporting focuses on the savings 

target. So, management decisions to hold vacancies that were not part of 

the agreed savings plan may be absent from management information 

(and the consequent impact on service delivery may not be identified). 

Given the scale of savings local authorities are making and sensitivities 

about how they make them, it is vital key stakeholders understand 

whether managers have delivered agreed savings as planned.  

51. Surrey performs well against the best practice checklist. For example: 

a) our budgets are robust and timely and the Council has a good track 

record of operating within its budget; 

b) budgets are monitored at officer, member and cabinet levels each 

month; 

c) the system of internal audit is effective;  

Page 102



  

d) the Annual Governance Statement represents the Council fairly; and 

e) we were shortlisted in the LGC Awards Corporate Governance 

category.  

52. An area for improvement is to increase the focus on income related 

budgets. Generating income will grow in significance as a source of 

funding for the Council over the coming years. As such, effective and 

reliable monitoring and forecasting of income streams will become even 

more important to our financial sustainability. The Funding Strategy with 

a focus covering 2012-17 will continue to drive this in 2014/15. 

Conclusions: 

53. NAO and Grant Thornton both found that so far, local authorities have 

generally absorbed central government funding reductions and are 

performing well overall in challenging circumstances. However, evidence 

is emerging of some service level reductions. 

54. Overall funding continues to decline, while financial pressures and 

uncertainty rise. Consequently more local authorities are finding it hard to 

sustain their financial position and meet statutory responsibilities. Some 

local authorities will be more affected than others. DCLG and local 

authorities must identify this risk early so they can manage it effectively. 

55. NAO considered a range of indicators, such as levels of local authority 

reserves and projections of service demand, to see what they showed 

about financial sustainability. NAO concluded financial sustainability 

depends on factors that go beyond the balance sheet, including 

strengths of financial management and governance arrangements. 

Coming to a view of the likely financial sustainability of a local authority 

using a single set of indicators is therefore problematic, and needs to 

consider local circumstances. 

56. Towards a tipping point? Is based on analyses of local practices and 

circumstances. It suggests finance will remain an important factor for key 

stakeholders through the uncertain times ahead. As such, local 

authorities should aim to:  

a) improve scenario planning, sensitivity analysis and fuller reporting of 

savings programmes; and  

b) maintain the robustness of its financial governance arrangements. 

57. Assessing Surrey’s performance against the themes and best practices 

in the report helps reach a view about our financial sustainability. The 

findings bring some comfort, but no cause for complacency.  

Financial and value for money implications 

58. There are no specific additional financial implications from this report. 

Page 103



  

Equalities Implications 

59. None. 

Risk Management Implications 

60. There are no specific additional risk management implications from this 

report. 

Implications for the Council’s Priorities or Community Strategy 

61. None. 

Next steps: 

Grant Thornton will assess the Council’s financial health as part of its audit of 

2012/13 financial statements. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Report contact:  

Nick Carroll, Finance Manager, Funding and Planning, Finance Service 

Contact details:  

Telephone 020 8541 7918 

Email nick.carroll@surreycc.gov.uk 

Sources/background papers:  

Annex 1 - Financial sustainability of local authorities, National Audit Office  

Annex 2 - Towards a tipping point?, Grant Thornton 

Surrey County Council Statement of Accounts 2010/11 

Surrey County Council Medium Term Financial Plans: 2010-2014, 2011-2015 

and 2012-2017.  

CIPFA Statistics Revenue Outturn data 2010/11 and 2011/12 

Page 104



Financial sustainability  
of local authorities

REPORT BY THE 
COMPTROLLER AND 
AUDITOR GENERAL

HC 888 
SESSION 2012-13

30 JANUARY 2013

Department for Communities  
and Local Government

Page 105



The National Audit Office scrutinises public spending for Parliament and 

is independent of government. The Comptroller and Auditor General 

(C&AG), Amyas Morse, is an Officer of the House of Commons and leads 

the NAO, which employs some 860 staff. The C&AG certifies the accounts 

of all government departments and many other public sector bodies. 

He has statutory authority to examine and report to Parliament on whether 

departments and the bodies they fund have used their resources efficiently, 

effectively, and with economy. Our studies evaluate the value for money of 

public spending, nationally and locally. Our recommendations and reports on 

good practice help government improve public services, and our work led to 

audited savings of more than £1 billion in 2011. 

Our vision is to help the nation spend wisely.

We apply the unique perspective of public audit 

to help Parliament and government drive lasting 

improvement in public services.

Page 106



Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General

Ordered by the House of Commons 

to be printed on 28 January 2013

This report has been prepared under Section 6 of the 

National Audit Act 1983 for presentation to the House of 

Commons in accordance with Section 9 of the Act

Amyas Morse 

Comptroller and Auditor General 

National Audit Office

25 January 2013

Department for Communities and Local Government

HC 888 London: The Stationery Office £16.00

Financial sustainability  

of local authorities

Page 107



This report examines central government’s approach 

to local authority funding, and reviews local authorities’ 

financial sustainability against a background of changes 

to their funding. 

© National Audit Office 2013

The text of this document may be reproduced 

free of charge in any format or medium providing 

that it is reproduced accurately and not in a 

misleading context.

The material must be acknowledged as National 

Audit Office copyright and the document title 

specified. Where third party material has been 

identified, permission from the respective 

copyright holder must be sought.

Links to external websites were valid at the time 

of publication of this report. The National Audit 

Office is not responsible for the future validity of 

the links.

Printed in the UK for the Stationery Office 

Limited on behalf of the Controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office

2537545 01/13 PRCS

Page 108



The National Audit Office study team 

consisted of: 

Sam Burford, Milly Cottam, 

Richard Douglas, Harry Hagger Johnson, 

Daniel Lambauer, Lydia Lobo, 

David Timmins, Durk Zwaagstra, under 

the direction of Stephen Fitzgerald. 

This report can be found on the  

National Audit Office website at  

www.nao.org.uk/financial-sustainability-

local-authorities-2013

For further information about the 

National Audit Office please contact:

National Audit Office 

Press Office 

157–197 Buckingham Palace Road 

Victoria 

London 

SW1W 9SP

Tel: 020 7798 7400

Enquiries: www.nao.org.uk/contactus

Website: www.nao.org.uk

Twitter: @NAOorguk

Contents

Key facts 4

Summary 5

Part One

Funding local authority services 9

Part Two

Local authority budget management 16

Part Three

Maintaining financial sustainability 21

Appendix One

Our audit approach 34

Appendix Two

Our evidence base 36

Page 109



4 Key facts Financial sustainability of local authorities

Key facts

353 local authorities in England

24 per cent local government expenditure as proportion of total managed 

public spending in the UK in 2010-11

£7.6 billion real-terms reduction in funding from central government to local 

authorities, 2010-11 to 2014-15, planned at 2010 spending review

14 per cent real-terms reduction in local authority income, 2010-11 to 2014-15, 

estimated at 2010 spending review

0.2 per cent increase in average band D council tax rates in cash terms, 

2010-11 to 2012-13

£3.6 billion total local authorities’ unallocated general reserves, at 

31 March 2012

4 per cent total local authorities’ unallocated general reserves as a proportion 

of total local authorities’ revenue expenditure, at 31 March 2012

1,335 statutory duties on local authorities as at June 2011 

£147bn
local government 

revenue income, 2010-11 

£103bn
central government 

grant funding to local 

government, 2010-11

£44bn
other local government 

revenue income, 2010-11 

Page 110



Financial sustainability of local authorities Summary 5

Summary

1 There are 353 local authorities in England, providing a diverse range of services. 

Local government’s revenue income was £147 billion in 2010-11, of which £103 billion 

was central government grants and £44 billion was other revenue income, including 

council tax of £22 billion. Local authority spending in England accounts for around a 

quarter of total public spending in the UK.

2 Local authority councillors are elected by, and accountable to, the people 

in their local authority. However, central government fundamentally influences the 

funding system for local authorities and is responsible for the statutory framework 

for the services they deliver. Local authorities are required to deliver 1,335 statutory 

responsibilities and, to be financially sustainable, must meet their service obligations 

within their available funding. A number of government departments are responsible 

for policy and funding for local authorities; the lead department is the Department for 

Communities and Local Government.

3 This report examines central government’s approach to local authority funding, and 

reviews local authorities’ financial sustainability against a background of changes to their 

funding. It has three parts:

Part One: Funding local authority services, sets out the background to the 

current funding arrangements and the reduction in local authority funding from the 

government’s 2010 spending review.

Part Two: Local authority budget management, sets out how local authorities 

have responded to their reduced income.

Part Three: Maintaining financial sustainability, covers the growing 

challenges to local authorities’ financial sustainability; managing financial risks 

and opportunities; and the increasing need for central government to make 

informed decisions as financial and service pressures increase.

4 We have drawn in this report upon work done by the Audit Commission in its 

report Tough Times 2012. In line with our current statutory audit remit, we have not 

undertaken detailed fieldwork at individual local authority level, nor have we engaged 

directly with local auditors to assess the response of individual local authorities to 

the recent funding changes. We outline our audit approach and evidence base in 

Appendices One and Two.

5 The government is introducing a Local Audit Bill in 2013. This will provide for the 

abolition of the Audit Commission, clarify the NAO’s powers to carry out value-for-money 

work on local authorities, and provide the NAO with statutory access to information held 

by local authorities in support of such work. 

Page 111



6 Summary Financial sustainability of local authorities

Key findings

6 As part of its fiscal deficit reduction plan, central government planned at 

the 2010 spending review to reduce funding of local authorities by 26 per cent 

(£7.6 billion) in real terms, between April 2011 and March 2015 (excluding police, 

school and fire). Including council tax, the overall reduction of local authority 

income was forecast to be 14 per cent in real terms. The effects on local authorities 

vary. In 2012-13, the overall reduction in spending power ranges from 1.1 per cent to 

8.8 per cent in cash terms. Twelve local authorities experienced the highest reduction 

in spending power of 8.8 per cent in 2011-12 and 2012-13 (paragraphs 1.14 to 1.15). 

7 By reducing ring-fencing of its grants, central government aims to give local 

authorities greater spending flexibility. In addition, from April 2013, local authorities 

will have a financial incentive to achieve growth in business rates and will be able to 

decide which council tax payers should benefit from council tax support. Central 

government has also introduced policies that reduce local authorities’ flexibility, for 

example by requiring those that wish to raise council tax by more than a set percentage 

to hold a local referendum (paragraphs 1.10, 2.7, 3.12 to 3.19).

8 So far, local authorities have absorbed reductions in central government 

funding but there is some evidence that services have been reduced. Using data 

from the Audit Commission we estimate that local authorities are planning to make 

£4.6 billion of savings by April 2013. The majority of local authorities have so far not 

drawn on financial reserves to make up for reduced income. Although 93 used reserves 

in 2011-12, the remaining 260 either made no changes to their reserves or added to 

them. There is evidence that local authorities are reducing services, for example in 

adult social care and libraries (paragraphs 2.2, 2.10, 3.7 and 3.10).

9 Local authorities may find it harder over the rest of the spending review 

period to absorb funding reductions and maintain services. We estimate 

that local authorities still need to find about half of the savings to be made before 

March 2015 after considering the latest figures for inflation, council tax and government 

grants. At the same time, demand for high-cost services, such as adult social care 

and children’s services, is increasing. The scope for absorbing cost pressures through 

reducing other, lower cost, services is reducing, as authorities have already reduced 

spending on these services. Nationally, the largest percentage reductions so far have 

been to services such as planning and development, where total spending by local 

authorities has reduced by 36 per cent. In contrast, adult social care has reduced by 

6 per cent (paragraphs 2.3 to 2.4, 3.30).

10 The government is making changes that create financial opportunities for 

local authorities but also increase their financial risks and uncertainty. Two of 

the most important changes – the partial localisation of business rates and the 

arrangements for council tax benefit – come into effect in April 2013. The business 

rates change will incentivise local authorities to promote local business growth, as they 

will keep a share of increased business rate income. They will also be more exposed 

if income falls, although they will receive some protection from this. The changes to 

Page 112



Financial sustainability of local authorities Summary 7

council tax support mean that instead of paying benefits according to rules that the 

Department for Work and Pensions sets, local authorities can have their own schemes 

but nationally they will have 10 per cent less money to do so. The opportunities and risks 

of both changes will be influenced by wider economic conditions, which are inherently 

uncertain (paragraphs 1.12, 3.11 to 3.20).

11 Local authorities’ ability to make savings while maintaining service levels 

depends on local circumstances. Using information from local auditors, the 

Audit Commission identified 12 per cent of local authorities as at risk of not balancing 

future budgets. We surveyed local authority finance directors with most of the 52 that 

responded expected to make the largest savings through efficiency improvements. 

However, nearly all saw reducing the services their local authorities provided as 

contributing to their savings requirements (paragraphs 3.4 to 3.5, 3.34).

12 While individual government departments assessed the impact of the 

changes being made, their approach was not comprehensive. We looked at 

the information three departments provided for the 2010 spending review. One, the 

Department for Education, could not estimate the scope for savings across the entirety 

of their service area (children’s services), but it did consider the pressures and scope 

for efficiencies in a number of major areas of spend, such as caring for ‘looked after’ 

children. In addition, all three departments did not identify regional or other variations 

in the demand for, or cost of, services (paragraphs 3.25 to 3.32).

13 With a range of changes to local government funding being implemented 

over the spending review period, it becomes increasingly important to understand 

the cumulative effects of the changes as these may affect local authorities 

differently. For example, local authorities that do not experience economic growth might, 

simultaneously, see a fall in their business rates and a rise in council tax benefit claimants. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government has recently started to provide 

the basis for such an analysis, by assessing the combined impacts of a range of changes 

on the financial risk profile of individual local authorities (paragraphs 3.20 to 3.21).

14 The accountability framework for local government to address widespread 

financial failure is untested. The framework, as described in the Department for 

Communities and Local Government’s Accountability System Statement, relies heavily on 

the long-established safeguards and assurances within local authorities. The framework 

has not yet faced a case of widespread financial failure and where there have been 

‘one-off’ failures requiring central government intervention, the failure regime has managed 

to resolve them. However, past failures in the local government sector have generally 

related to services or corporate governance, or both, and not financial failure. How the 

system responds in the case of multiple financial failures during possibly more challenging 

times for local authorities is therefore, at present, untested (paragraphs 3.35 to 3.42).

Page 113



8 Summary Financial sustainability of local authorities

Conclusion

15 So far, local authorities have generally been able to absorb central government 

funding reductions. However, there is emerging evidence that some service levels are 

reducing. Funding reductions are continuing, along with changes to the resourcing 

mechanism of local authorities. These changes increase financial uncertainty and more 

local authorities are facing the challenge to avoid financial difficulties while meeting their 

statutory responsibilities. This risk will not manifest itself evenly across the sector, with 

some local authorities being more affected than others.

16 This risk must be identified early so it can be managed effectively. The Department 

for Communities and Local Government will need arrangements to detect where 

risks will emerge. Its response will need to be flexible and coordinated with local and 

sector-wide support mechanisms. Central government must also satisfy itself that 

it understands the cumulative impact of funding changes and can make informed 

decisions about the funding required for local authority services.

Recommendation

17 The Department for Communities and Local Government should build on 

previous work and, together with other government departments, better evaluate 

the impact of decisions on local authority finances and services – before and after 

implementation. With other departments, the Department has assessed the impact of 

funding reductions and other changes to the system of local authority financing, such as 

business rates. To develop its approach the Department should:

work with other departments to understand the information needs to support 

decisions affecting local authority finances and services. This may not mean requiring 

more information, but understanding what is the right information for that purpose. 

For transparency, it should discuss and share the framework with local authorities;

ensure that decisions on financing local authorities are made with an assessment 

of their service obligations including statutory responsibilities; and

satisfy itself that the assurances provided by the accountability framework are 

robust enough for the more challenging financial and service delivery conditions 

facing local authorities. Informed decision-making requires a feedback loop so 

the Department can make adjustments in the light of performance; and identify 

evidence of potential difficulties early enough to intervene.

Page 114



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part One 9

Part One

Funding local authority services

1.1 This part covers:

the services local authorities provide and how central government has influenced 

their funding; 

local authority funding and spending at the beginning of the 2010 spending review;

the main funding changes between April 2010 and March 2015; and 

funding reductions central government planned at the 2010 spending review and 

how these affect local authorities differently.

Local authorities and their services

1.2 Local authorities are democratically elected and provide a range of services to their 

communities in the broad areas of education, housing, social care, environmental services, 

and corporate functions such as collecting council tax.1 They have 1,335 statutory duties, 

including child protection, provision of libraries, environmental health and trading standards 

– but within this framework have discretion to decide how they provide services according 

to local priorities.

1.3 Central government directly influences local authority funding for these services. 

Local authorities are required by law to balance their budgets. To remain financially 

sustainable, they must meet their service obligations with the available funding. 

Introducing the ‘general power of competence’ in the 2011 Localism Act increased 

local authorities’ discretion over the range of services they provide.

The relationship between central and local government 

1.4 The financial and statutory relationships between central and local government have 

a long and complex history, mostly concerning the degree of central government control. 

Central government policies are implemented through statutory service obligations on 

local authorities, which receive funding from different parts of government.

1 This report only covers councils, not other types of authorities such as police and fire authorities unless 

otherwise stated.

Page 115



10 Part One Financial sustainability of local authorities

1.5 Before April 1990, local authorities retained locally raised taxes, in the form of 

rates levied on businesses (shops, offices, and factories) and households, and received 

central government funding in the form of the Rate Support Grant. Following funding 

changes in 1990 and up to April 2013, local authorities collect business rates, and pay 

them to central government, which redistributes them back through the grant system. 

Central government sets business rates, but local authorities have discretion to reduce 

individual bills by granting rate relief. Local authorities set, collect and retain council tax, 

using an administrative framework set by central government. 

1.6 There have been periods when central government has sought to direct or influence 

increases in local tax levels through measures such as council tax capping. This is no 

longer in place but currently there is a requirement to hold a local referendum for increases 

above a certain level. There is also a Council Tax Freeze Grant which is distributed to those 

authorities that do not increase their council tax level (paragraph 2.7). 

Local government funding at the beginning of the 

2010 spending review

1.7 In 2010-11, total local government revenue income was £147 billion.2 Of this, 

£103 billion was central government grant funding and £44 billion was other revenue 

income, principally income raised locally by local authorities through council tax 

(£22 billion) and sales, fees and charges (£12 billion).3

1.8 A large proportion of central government grants were not available for local 

authorities to spend directly on providing services as they choose and this report 

does not directly consider those:

About thirty billion pounds of funding was the Dedicated Schools Grant, which 

local authorities pass directly to schools.

A further £23 billion was passed directly by local authorities to third parties 

to administer (such as funding for adult and community learning) or to 

benefit recipients.

1.9 This report focuses on general revenue funding for local authorities, of which 

the largest elements are the Formula Grant (£29 billion in 2010-11) and council tax.4 

Local authorities can decide how to spend both funding streams in meeting their 

responsibilities. The last year of the Formula Grant is 2012-13. We describe the 

arrangements that replace it in paragraphs 3.12 to 3.17.

2 The figures in paragraphs 1.7 to 1.10 include income for all local authorities, including police and fire authorities. 

In addition to their revenue income, local authorities also receive capital income and rent income from social 

housing. This is not covered in this report. 

3 The figures in paragraphs 1.7 to 1.10 may not add up due to rounding.

4 The Formula Grant consists of redistributed business rates (£21.5 billion in 2010-11), a central government ‘top-up’ 

added to business rates called the Revenue Support Grant (£3.1 billion), and the Police Grant paid directly to police 

authorities (£4.4 billion). Its allocation was the subject of a separate NAO report. Comptroller and Auditor General, 

Formula funding of local public services, Session 2010–2012, HC 1090, National Audit Office, July 2011.

Page 116



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part One 11

1.10 In 2010-11, central government also passed on £20 billion in grants for specific 

services, for example, for homelessness services. The extent to which local authorities 

had discretion in the use of such funding varied. Following the 2010 spending review, 

the Department for Communities and Local Government has merged several specific 

grants into the Formula Grant, while removing ring-fencing from most of those which 

remain, giving local authorities more spending flexibility. 

Local authority spending on services

1.11 Figure 1 shows how local authorities spent their income in 2010-11. Most money 

was spent on adult social care and children’s services, with the least going to housing 

and planning services.

Adult s
ocial

care

Percentage of total service expenditure

In 2010-11, more than 50 per cent of local authority spending was on social care

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

Figure 1

Spending on local services in 2010-11

NOTE

1 Education spending is excluded.

Source: Audit Commission analysis of local authority revenue outturn data 2010-11, in 2012-13 prices

Child
ren’s

se
rvi

ces

Envir
onment

Cultu
ral

Centra
l

Highways

Housin
g

Planning

38

16

12

8 8 8

56

Page 117



12 Part One Financial sustainability of local authorities

Changes to local authority funding

1.12 A number of changes taking place between April 2010 and March 2015 will affect 

local authorities’ financial position as illustrated in Figure 2.

Q4 2010 Q1 2011 Q2 2011 Q3 2011 Q4 2011 Q1 2012 Q2 2012 Q3 2012 Q4 2012 Q1 2013 Q2 2013 Q3 2013 Q4 2013

Transfer of public health 

responsibilities

Local authorities will receive 

additional funding for taking on 

some public health responsibilities 

transferred from NHS bodies

Figure 2

Timeline of major changes to local authority funding

Source: National Audit Offi ce

Council tax referendums

Requirement on local 

authorities to hold a referendum 

for council tax increases above 

a certain level 

Localisation of council tax benefit

Responsibility for providing financial assistance 

to help claimants with their council tax is being 

transferred to local government

Business rates retention

Local authorities will retain 50 per cent of the rates 

they collect, the remaining half will be distributed 

by central government. This ends the Formula 

Grant system

2011–15 New Homes Bonus

Funding to provide an incentive to build new homes

Start of academies programme expansion

Increasing numbers of schools converting to academies 

(directly funded by central government) reduces the 

school support funding received by local authorities

Local transport funding 

Major capital funding is being given to new local transport 

bodies which councils are encouraged to be involved with 

but are no longer the sole recipient

Council Tax Freeze Grant

Introduction of funding for 

local authorities that do not 

increase their council tax

Universal Credit

Centrally administered 

benefit is replacing 

locally administered 

housing benefit

2010 comprehensive 

spending review 

A 26 per cent reduction in 

central government contributions 

to local government funding and 

14 per cent forecast reduction 

in local authority income 

Page 118



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part One 13

1.13 Two key objectives underpin current government policy for local authority funding. 

One is localism, which means that local authorities have greater discretion over their 

decision-making. The other is deficit reduction through local economic growth and 

reducing spending. These objectives are driving a number of changes on which our 

report focuses:

Reduced central government grant funding (paragraphs 1.14 to 1.15).

Council Tax Freeze Grant and the requirement to hold a referendum for council tax 

increases above a certain level (paragraph 2.7). 

The way local authorities benefit from growth in business rates which is being 

introduced in April 2013 (paragraphs 3.12 to 3.17). 

Providing local authorities discretion over the levels of support working-age people 

receive with their council tax bill from April 2013 (paragraphs 3.18 to 3.19).

Funding reductions planned at the 2010 spending review

1.14 In its June 2010 Budget, the government set out a five-year plan to reduce the 

structural deficit over the course of this Parliament, specifying the greatest contribution 

would come from spending reductions. In Spending Review 2010, HM Treasury set out 

details of the government’s plan to reduce local government funding for the four years 

2011-12 to 2014-15.5 Central government financial support for local authorities was 

planned to reduce over that period by 26 per cent in real terms,6 from £29.7 billion to 

£22.1 billion. HM Treasury forecast that, after considering inflation and council tax, the 

effect would be a decrease in overall local authority income of 14 per cent in real terms 

(£51.8 billion to £44.8 billion).7 Figure 3 overleaf shows the greatest reductions were 

planned to occur in the first two years of the spending review. 

1.15 The funding reductions do not have a uniform effect across local authorities. The 

Department for Communities and Local Government allocated a Transition Grant to 

all local authorities, totalling £116 million over 2011-12 and 2012-13, so that no local 

authority’s annual reduction in spending power is more than 8.8 per cent in those years.8 

Figure 4 on page 15 shows the distribution of spending power reductions across local 

authorities after the Transition Grant has been allocated in 2012-13. In 2012-13 the 

reduction in spending power ranges from 1.1 per cent to 8.8 per cent.9 Twelve local 

authorities had reduced spending power of 8.8 per cent in both 2011-12 and 2012-13.

5 HM Treasury, Spending Review 2010, October 2010, available at: http://cdn.hm-treasury.gov.uk/sr2010_

completereport.pdf

6 Figures in real terms are in 2010-11 prices, unless otherwise stated.

7 Local authority income refers to the line ‘local government spending’ in HM Treasury, Spending Review 2010, 

Table 1, p. 10, and includes central government contributions to local authorities and council tax.

8 Spending power is calculated by taking account of central government contributions to local authorities, 

council tax, and NHS social care funding.

9 These figures are in cash terms.

Page 119



14 Part One Financial sustainability of local authorities

At the 2010 spending review, the government planned to reduce central government contributions 

to local authorities by 26 per cent over the spending review period, and forecast that overall 

local authority income will reduce by 14 per cent

0

-5

-10

-15

-20

-25

-30

Figure 3

Planned decrease in central government funding and the overall effect 

on local authority income, April 2010 to March 2015

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

Local authority income

Central government contributions to local authorities

NOTES

1 Local authority income includes the Office for Budget Responsibility's council tax forecast at the time 

of the 2010 spending review.

2 The figures are in real terms and have been rounded to the nearest percentage point.

Source: HM Treasury, Spending Review 2010

Percentage of cumulative real reduction from 2010-11 baseline

-5

-9
-8

-15

-11

-20

-14

-26

Page 120



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part One 15

Percentage change

Figure 4

Distribution of the annual reductions in spending power across local authorities, 2012-13

NOTES

1 The Isles of Scilly is excluded from this analysis due to lack of comparability with other councils.

2 Figures are in cash terms.

Source: National Audit Office analysis based on Department for Communities and Local Government spending power figures

-10

-9

-8

-7

-6

-5

-4

-3

-2

-1

0

Page 121



16 Part Two Financial sustainability of local authorities

Part Two

Local authority budget management

2.1 Part One describes the challenge local authorities face in this spending review, 

setting out major changes and reductions to local authority income. This part examines 

how local authorities have managed budgets over the first half of the 2010 spending 

review, looking at how they have:

reduced spending;

increased income; 

used reserves on a one-off basis; and

performed against budget.

Reducing spending

2.2 Using Audit Commission data, we estimate that local authorities are planning to 

reduce spending by £4.6 billion in real terms by March 2013, after absorbing additional 

costs from increased demand for local authority services.10

2.3 Central government estimated at the 2010 spending review that the overall 

reduction in local authority income would be £7 billion (14 per cent) in real terms from 

April 2010 to March 2015 (paragraph 1.14). Since then, the government has announced 

further changes affecting local government, including a funding reduction of £445 million 

for 2014-15 in the 2012 Autumn Statement. Council tax income is also expected to 

be lower and inflation higher than forecast at the 2010 spending review. This creates 

difficulties in estimating precisely how much local authority income will reduce by 

March 2015, but we estimate that the £4.6 billion reduction of spending represents 

about half of the savings required by March 2015.

2.4 Figure 5 shows where local authorities have made savings on individual services. 

The largest percentage reductions have been in areas with relatively low levels of 

spending. For example, total spending on planning and development represented 

5 per cent of spending in 2010-11 and is planned to fall by 36 per cent between 

April 2010 and March 2013 in real terms. At the other extreme, adult social care 

represented 38 per cent of spending in 2010-11 and is planned to fall by 6 per cent 

in real terms between April 2010 and March 2013.11

10 See Appendix Two for more details.

11 These real-terms figures are in 2012-13 prices.

Page 122



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Two 17

2.5 If local authorities cannot reduce costs through making savings while maintaining 

services, they must consider managing demand or reducing services. There is evidence 

of increasing pressures on local authorities to do this (paragraphs 3.7 to 3.8).

Percentage

In the first two years of the 2010 spending review period local authorities focused their

savings on planning and housing in relative terms

40

30

20

10

0

-10

-20

-30

-40

Figure 5

Local authority planned real-term reductions in spending,

April 2010 to March 2013

Proportion of total service expenditure, 2010-11

Aggregate change in budgeted service expenditure, 2010-11 to 2012-13

NOTES

1 In its Tough Times 2012 report the Audit Commission reported service expenditure figures for 2011-12.

This explains why the Audit Commission reported different figures on service expenditure proportions.

2 Education spending is excluded.

Source: Audit Commission analysis of local authority revenue outturn data 2010-11 and revenue account data

2010-11, 2011-12, 2012-13, in 2012-13 prices

38

-6 -5

-10

-19

-9

-14

-22

-36

16

12

8 8 8
6 5

Adult s
ocial

care
Child

ren’s

se
rvi

ces

Envir
onment

Cultu
ral

Centra
l

Highways

Housin
g

Planning

Page 123



18 Part Two Financial sustainability of local authorities

Increasing income

2.6 Council tax is the main source of locally raised income. Council tax levels are set in 

eight bands, at rates local authorities decide. The bands themselves are determined by 

central government. The fourth (band D) is usually used for comparisons. In 2012-13, it 

ranges from £684 to £1,696, with the national average being £1,469. These arrangements 

have been in place with the current rate valuations since 1993. This shows that individual 

authorities are starting from different positions on council tax levels. A certain percentage 

increase will yield more in cash terms in a high-tax than in a low-tax authority.12 

2.7 Between April 2010 and March 2013, the average total band D council tax 

level increase was 0.2 per cent in cash terms, compared with 5 per cent since the 

introduction of council tax. Two measures have influenced the comparatively low 

increase in the last two years:

In 2010, central government introduced the Council Tax Freeze Grant. This grant 

rewards local authorities that do not increase council tax. In 2011-12, the grant was 

equivalent to a 2.5 per cent rise in council tax, and this level of grant is available 

for the full spending review period. In October 2011, the government announced 

it would provide a further year’s Council Tax Freeze Grant in 2012-13 and this was 

equivalent to a 2.5 per cent increase in 2011-12 council tax. Then, in October 2012, 

it announced another Council Tax Freeze Grant, at a level equivalent to a 1 per cent 

rise in 2012-13 council tax, available in both 2013-14 and 2014-15. All local authorities 

received the 2011-12 grant; 316 (90 per cent) received the 2012-13 grant. These 

arrangements present an incentive for authorities not to increase the level of tax.

The Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities wanting to raise council tax 

by more than a set percentage to hold a local referendum. The threshold for 

the current financial year was 3.5 per cent, and it will be 2 per cent next year.13 

Since the introduction of the act, no local authority has held a referendum.

Using reserves

2.8 In addition to the legal requirement to balance budgets, local authorities must 

maintain adequate reserves to manage financial risks. The level of reserves is a matter 

for individual local authorities to decide. As of 31 March 2012, local authorities held total 

reserves of £13.5 billion. They held earmarked reserves for specific purposes (£9.9 billion). 

These are held for a range of contingencies, for example to cover insurance liabilities or the 

costs of debt financing. They held unallocated general reserves of £3.6 billion (4 per cent 

of local authority spending). These provide a provision against general risk but are not 

allocated for specific purposes.

12 The relative size of the tax base also has a bearing on the cash increase.

13 The referendum thresholds for the financial year 2012-13 apply to all councils except the Greater London Authority. 

In December 2012, following the 2012 Autumn Statement, the government announced that district councils whose 

2012-13 council tax was in the lowest quartile will be able to raise council tax by more than 2 per cent without a 

referendum provided the increase is not more than £5 in the average band D amount.

Page 124



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Two 19

2.9 We focused our analysis on unallocated general reserves. These protect against 

unforeseen events, so are particularly important for financial sustainability. Local 

authorities can fund overspends by using these reserves. However, this is not a 

sustainable approach to balancing budgets in the longer term.

2.10 Local authorities have increased their unallocated general reserves over the last 

three years, adding £0.7 billion in 2011-12. Figure 6 shows that the majority of local 

authorities (209) added to their general reserves in 2011-12. In 2011-12, 93 local authorities 

used reserves, with 32 (9 per cent) using reserves in both 2010-11 and 2011-12. Local 

authorities that have used their reserves may, however, not have used them to balance 

their budgets but to earmark them for specific purposes. This suggests that for most 

local authorities the primary method of balancing their budgets was reducing spending.14

2.11 We looked at whether local authorities using reserves were those with lower levels 

to begin with. There is no universally accepted level of reserves for a local authority, 

but we looked at those in the lowest quartile in terms of reserves as a proportion of 

revenue spending in 2009-10. Five of the 88 authorities in that quartile used reserves 

in 2010-11 and 2011-12.

14 The figures in this paragraph are in cash terms.

Percentage changes to unallocated reserves

Figure 6

Net change to unallocated general reserves as a proportion of total general reserves, 2011-12

Source: Local authority revenue outturn data 2011-12

Local authorities have increased their levels of unallocated general reserves, but there is considerable variation among local authorities

-100

-50

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Page 125



20 Part Two Financial sustainability of local authorities

Local authority performance against budget

2.12 Overspend against budget may show an authority is struggling to make 

planned reductions; this could, for example, reflect unexpected demand, or financial 

management difficulties. Local authorities in England underspent on average by 

5.4 per cent against budget in 2011-12. Figure 7 shows the distribution of over and 

underspends across local authorities. More than 300 local authorities underspent, 

but looking at performance over time provides a clearer indication of how well local 

authorities are managing. Some 24 overspent in both 2010-11 and 2011-12.

30

20

10

0

-10

-20

-30

-40

More than 300 local authorities underspent in 2011-12 against their budget

Figure 7

Local authorities’ performance against budget, 2011-12

NOTE

1 One local authority has been excluded due to a data error.

Source: Local authority net revenue expenditure figures in revenue account and revenue outturn data, 2011-12

Percentage over/(under)spend

Page 126



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 21

Part Three

Maintaining financial sustainability

3.1 This part sets out factors influencing medium-term local authorities’ financial 

sustainability. As with the wider economy, local authorities face significant financial 

challenges, and these pressures are likely to increase. In the December 2012 Autumn 

Statement,15 HM Treasury announced that public spending to 2017-18 will continue to be 

reduced at the same rate as over the 2010 spending review period. At the same time, 

demands for higher-cost local services – social care, for example – are increasing.

3.2 Local authority financial sustainability will depend increasingly on:

Central government and local authorities managing the financial risks 

and opportunities.

Central government making informed funding decisions, by understanding the 

financial and service delivery circumstances of local authorities, and responding 

in the light of performance.

Managing the financial risks and opportunities

3.3 This section of the report identifies factors that, depending on how well they are 

managed, could affect local authorities’ financial sustainability. It focuses on:

having to make savings while demand rises; and

changes to the system of government funding for local authorities.

The need for savings in the face of rising demand

3.4 Local authorities are continuing to reduce spending to make the savings required in 

the spending review period to March 2015, and still have to make about half the savings 

required (paragraph 2.3). This is broadly consistent with information from our contacts 

with local authorities. Although not necessarily representative, 52 local authorities that 

responded to our survey estimated that 36 per cent of the total savings identified over 

the spending review period remain to be delivered, between April 2013 and March 2015. 

In addition, 34 had not identified how they were going to balance their budgets in 2014-15 

with, where they were able to estimate it, the gap ranging from 1 per cent to 14 per cent.

15 HM Treasury, Autumn Statement 2012, December 2012, available at: http://cdn.hm-treasury.gov.uk/sr2010_

completereport.pdf

Page 127



22 Part Three Financial sustainability of local authorities

3.5 Most local authorities expected to achieve the largest savings through efficiencies, 

though nearly all expected reductions to services to make at least some contribution 

to their savings targets. Our discussions with local authorities produced a number of 

examples of steps taken to make savings (Figure 8 shows three of these).

3.6 The demand for local authority services is affected by factors such as population 

growth and economic circumstances. One of the ways to manage these pressures for 

a local authority is to change the eligibility criteria for a given service. 

3.7 Local authorities can, for example, change adult social care provision from a 

service eligibility threshold of ‘low’ or ‘moderate’ to a higher threshold of ‘substantial’ 

or ‘critical’. There has been an upward trend in the last eight years of local authorities 

raising these eligibility thresholds. By 2012-13, 85 per cent of local authorities had 

set eligibility at the highest two thresholds (Figure 9). This limits the scope for those 

authorities to find future savings by managing demand in this way.

Figure 8

Examples of local authority savings programmes gained from discussions 

with senior local authority offi cers 

Norwich City Council

Between 2009-10 and 2012-13, Norwich City Council reported that its transformation programme made 

savings of £20 million (equivalent to more than a 33 per cent reduction in its general fund spend). Measures 

to make savings include renegotiating its IT contract, sharing back-office functions, reducing the number 

of council offices, and reducing non-core services such as grass verge cuttings.

Cambridgeshire and Northamptonshire County Councils: Local Government Shared Services 

In 2010, Cambridgeshire and Northamptonshire County Councils (combined revenue expenditure £807 million 

in 2011-12) formed Local Government Shared Services, a venture designed to share services with each other 

and other local authorities. The councils forecast to have made cumulative savings of £9.5 million by the end 

of 2012-13, some 11.4 per cent of the venture’s initial running costs. They are making savings by reducing staff, 

reducing the amount of leased office space, and re-tendering IT contracts. During 2012, Local Government 

Shared Services entered into partnership agreements with Norwich City Council to provide finance and IT 

services, and claimed to have secured immediate annual savings of £1.5 million.

London Borough of Brent

Brent’s ‘One Council’ programme was reported to enable Brent to deliver £15.6 million in savings in 2010-11, 

representing 6 per cent of Brent’s total general fund budget of £265.5 million. Brent is forecasting annual 

savings of £2.6 million by bringing all staff under one roof. It has also joined a group of six local authorities, 

which are making savings by jointly purchasing adult social care. 

NOTE

1  All fi gures are in cash terms.

Source: National Audit Offi ce 

Page 128



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 23

3.8 When local authorities change their service levels, they must be able to show they 

are meeting their statutory obligations. As part of a wider package to save £300 million 

over four years, Birmingham City Council planned in 2011 to fund adult social care 

only for those whose needs were judged to be ‘critical’. A judicial review found the 

Council undertook inadequate analysis to understand the impact of this decision versus 

the alternatives for making savings elsewhere. It ruled that the decision-making and 

consultation processes failed to ask the right questions, and found the decision to be 

unlawful. This led to the Council reinstating its adult social care services for people 

with ‘substantial’ needs and looking for savings elsewhere.

Percentage

An increasing number of local authorities since 2005-06 only offer social care to residents with 

‘substantial’ or ‘critical’ needs

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Figure 9

Local authorities setting eligibility thresholds for adult social care

of ‘substantial’ or ‘critical’, April 2005 to March 2013

NOTE

1 This figure only applies to those 152 local authorities which deliver social care.

Source: National Audit Office analysis of Commission for Social Care Inspection, Care Quality Commission and 

Association of Directors of Adult Social Services data

53

62

72 72
74 74

85
82

2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13

Page 129



24 Part Three Financial sustainability of local authorities

3.9 Service level changes in one area can affect another. Recent research has 

demonstrated, for example, that greater spending on social care is related to lower 

delayed hospital discharge rates and emergency readmissions.

3.10 Library services are also coming under pressure. In a recent report, the House of 

Commons Culture, Media and Sport Committee drew attention to findings of a local 

authority survey carried out by the Chartered Institute of Library and Information 

Professionals.16 This showed that across the 82 authorities which responded, in 2011-12, 

library budgets were reduced by £37.7 million (a 7.3 per cent drop in cash terms from 

the year before). Of those that responded, 84 per cent expected to reduce staff, with 

14 per cent expecting to close libraries, in 2011-12. The Committee noted that a number 

of local authorities faced judicial reviews as a result of deciding to close libraries.

Changes to the system of funding local authority services

3.11 Paragraph 1.12 and Figure 2 show many changes that will alter the local 

government financial landscape. In the following paragraphs we focus on two 

major reforms planned for April 2013:

Financially the most significant change is that, as a result of the local government 

resource review, the Department for Communities and Local Government 

(the Department) is ending the Formula Grant system and changing how it 

distributes business rates (£21.5 billion in 2010-11) to local government.

Council tax support will be localised, replacing council tax benefit (£4 billion 

in 2010-11), and funding for it will ‘roll into’ the funding system replacing the 

Formula Grant. 

Business rates

3.12 The objective of the local government resource review is to give local authorities 

greater power over their funding and reduce reliance on central government as the major 

provider of financial support. Business rates are one of the main sources of funding for 

local authorities. These are collected locally then pooled nationally, to be redistributed to 

local authorities through the Formula Grant. The Formula Grant is allocated according to 

a formula that considers local authorities’ needs and ability to raise resources through 

council tax. 

3.13 The Department is changing this system. From April 2013, local authorities will keep 

a share of any growth in business rates in their area as an incentive to promote local 

business growth. Local authorities as a whole17 will retain approximately fifty per cent of 

business rate income (the ‘local share’). They will pay the remaining amount into a central 

government pool (the ‘central share’) to be redistributed to local authorities through a 

grant called Revenue Support Grant.

16 HC Committee of Culture, Media, and Sport, Library closures, Third Report of Session 2012-13, HC 587, 

November 2012.

17 This includes fire authorities.

Page 130



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 25

3.14 The Department is aiming to smooth the transition from the old system. It will 

ensure that each local authority’s allocation for the first year (2013-14) is similar to 

what it would have received in that year, had the Formula Grant continued. For this 

the Department calculated for each individual local authority its Revenue Support 

Grant entitlement and, for the purpose of establishing a funding baseline for the new 

rates retention scheme, the amount of business rates that it should retain. Authorities 

expected to collect more business rates than their baseline will pay the difference to 

central government as a tariff, which will be used to pay for a top-up for authorities 

estimated not to raise enough business rates relative to their funding baseline. These 

tariffs and top-ups will be increased by inflation but otherwise are fixed until 2020.

3.15 As tariffs and top-ups are fixed under the new funding arrangements, local 

authorities that achieve business rate income above their baseline will benefit from the 

new arrangements. Those authorities that see a fall to below their baseline will have to 

absorb it. There will be a safety net mechanism so that no local authority’s business rate 

income falls below a certain threshold. The Department is planning to set the threshold 

in 2013-14 at 7.5 per cent of authorities’ baseline funding levels. This baseline figure will 

in future years be increased in line with inflation.

3.16 The Department modelled the effects of the business rates change to understand 

the impact of varying the split between the central and the local share, which local 

authorities would likely receive top-ups and which would pay a tariff, and the costs 

to central government of the safety net proposals. The main aims were to design the 

scheme so that there would be an optimum balance of tariff and top-up authorities,18 

and to assess how the safety net mechanism could be set to make it self-financing.

3.17 The new arrangements increase the incentives and opportunities for local 

authorities. There are also risks that local authorities will need to manage, and the 

Department will need to monitor. The Department intends to revisit the risks and 

terms of the new system in 2020:

Under the current system the short-term risk associated with forecasting business 

rates rests with central government. From 2006-07 to 2010-11, the Office for 

Budget Responsibility has overestimated the net yield of business rates in four out 

of five years. In 2010-11, for example, aggregate business rates were £23.8 billion, 

£1.1 billion (4.5 per cent) lower than forecast. In 2011-12 receipts were again lower 

than forecast, though by a smaller amount (£0.4 billion or 1.7 per cent). From 

2013-14, local authorities will share the risk associated with any overestimates in 

the national forecast of business rate.

18 In addition, the Department of Health undertook its own modelling at local authority level to understand the effect 

of the tariff and top-up system on individual local authorities’ ability to provide adult social care.

Page 131



26 Part Three Financial sustainability of local authorities

Under the current system costs from increased service needs are spread among all 

local authorities, with those local authorities judged to have higher needs receiving 

more funding. After the 2013-14 transitional year, allocations to local authorities 

from the central share will no longer be recalculated annually to include changes 

in relative need, including the ability to raise council tax. Local authorities with 

rising service needs and low or negative growth in their business rates will have to 

manage this within their individual budgets.

Business rates income has been volatile across individual local authorities. Local 

authorities will soon have to manage the impact of volatility for half of its impact 

from business rates (the local share) up to the safety net. This increases the income 

uncertainty for local authorities and increases their planning challenge and financial 

risk which may impact on the level of reserves needed. 

Localisation of council tax support

3.18 In 2010-11 the Department for Work and Pensions provided funding of £4 billion for 

council tax benefit. From April 2013, local authorities must implement their own council 

tax support schemes instead of paying benefits set by the government. In preparation, 

the Department for Communities and Local Government modelled, for individual 

local authorities, how much they could save if they reduced council tax discounts for 

non-pensioners. It also analysed the impact of reducing funding for council tax benefit 

by 10 per cent on local authorities’ budgets.

3.19 Under the new arrangements the central government funding available nationally 

to local authorities will be 90 per cent of what it would have been in 2013-14. Rather 

than being paid as a demand-led grant as under the current system, this funding will be 

‘rolled into’ the new revenue funding system replacing the Formula Grant system. This 

presents risks local authorities will need to manage:

Council tax benefit claimant numbers have been on a rising trend, including a rise 

of 10 per cent from April 2009 to March 2011, which has levelled off in the last year. 

In future, local authorities will have to manage any changes in council tax benefit 

claimant numbers. The forecasts published by the Office for Budget Responsibility 

show a fall in council tax benefit claimant numbers, due to factors such as 

increased pension age and projected recovery from recession.

Local authorities have flexibility about how much of the 10 per cent funding 

reductions they absorb themselves, and how much they pass on as benefit 

reductions to working age claimants. To the extent they maintain existing 

entitlements they will have to find corresponding savings elsewhere. Where they 

pass on some or the entire shortfall to claimants, they will face difficult decisions in 

how they design their schemes. One potential risk, highlighted to us in interviews 

with local authority finance directors, was that if they reduce the support they 

give unemployed claimants, this might lead to collecting small amounts of council 

tax from residents who were previously exempt. This would increase the cost of 

council tax collection.

Page 132



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 27

Cumulative effect of changes

3.20 The cumulative effects of these changes will vary and depend on wider economic 

conditions. Local authorities with higher economic growth may experience a rise in 

business rate income and a fall in council tax support claimants. Conversely, if local 

authorities experience economic decline business rates income may fall, and the 

number of council tax support claimants may rise. It will therefore be increasingly 

important to evaluate and monitor the combined effects of changes that affect local 

authorities as a whole and individually.

3.21 The Department for Communities and Local Government has recently started to 

provide the basis for such an analysis, by assessing the combined impacts of a range 

of changes, such as the reform to the distribution of business rates and the localisation 

of council tax support, on the financial risk profile of individual local authorities. 

The Department should further build on this work to understand the impact of funding 

changes on local authorities’ overall financial position.

Informed decision-making

3.22 Central government’s decisions have a fundamental impact on the financial 

position of local authorities and the services they provide. The levels and methods of 

government funding, and restrictions on local authorities’ flexibility to increase council 

tax without seeking the approval of the local electorate, directly influence the spending 

power of local authorities. In addition, central government policies are implemented 

through statutory service obligations on local authorities. Central government has sought 

to reduce the information burdens from central departments on local government, for 

example by abolishing the Comprehensive Area Assessment. It is therefore important 

that departments understand whether the information they collect is the right information 

they need to assess the potential and actual effects of their decisions.

3.23 Our work shows departments have worked to assess the potential effects of 

business rates reform and council tax support localisation (paragraphs 3.16 and 3.18). 

Departments were also engaged in the thinking that led to the funding reductions as a 

result of the 2010 spending review.

3.24 HM Treasury, the lead department for the spending review, asked departments 

to propose a range of savings options. The Department for Communities and Local 

Government coordinated the spending review input on local government funding. 

The Department liaised with other departments with policy responsibilities for the local 

services that central government funds – the Department of Health, the Department 

for Education, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, and the 

Department for Transport.

Page 133



28 Part Three Financial sustainability of local authorities

Information used for the spending review

3.25 The Department for Communities and Local Government asked the other 

departments to estimate local authorities’ funding pressures, and how they could 

reduce spending by 25 per cent and 40 per cent. Departments modelled pressures on 

costs, how much could be saved through efficiency measures, and how much local 

authorities could save if they reduced or changed services while meeting their statutory 

responsibilities. Understanding the scope for efficiency savings is important to assess 

the level of funding reductions that can be absorbed without affecting services.

3.26 We looked at the information that three of the five departments involved in this 

exercise used. We did not assess the detailed methods used; our focus was on the 

scope of their analysis. 

3.27 Consistent with our report on Managing budgeting in government,19 which looked 

at a larger sample of spending review submissions, not all these departments could give 

the full range of information (see Figure 10). For example, the Department for Education 

could not give an estimate of cost pressures and the scope for savings across the 

entirety of children’s services. The Department for Education told us that while it 

monitors national and local spending on children’s services, it considered that it was 

not appropriate to model cost pressures and potential savings for the spending review 

at an aggregate level, as local authorities have discretion in how they discharge many 

of their statutory duties.20 It did, however, consider pressures and scope for efficiencies 

in a number of major areas of spend, such as services for ‘looked after’ children. In this 

case, therefore, the Department for Communities and Local Government assumed that 

the aggregate cost pressures for children’s services would not be greater than inflation, 

and that local authorities could make savings at a flat rate of 15 per cent over the 

spending review period. 

3.28 In addition, departments did not break down their analyses to identify regional or 

other variations. For example, they did not consider the demand for, or cost of, services 

and therefore how far individual local authorities could make the estimated savings.

3.29 The Department for Communities and Local Government assessed the scope 

for local efficiencies in setting the overall level of the Formula Grant. However, it was 

not based on explicitly assessing local authorities’ statutory service obligations. This 

is a complex area. There is no direct link between statutory obligations and the cost 

of services, because local authorities mostly have freedom to decide how to provide 

services and the priority they give them.

19 Comptroller and Auditor General, Managing budgeting in government, Session 2012-13, HC 597, National Audit 

Office, October 2012, available at: www.nao.org.uk/publications/1213/managing_budgeting.aspx

20 Separate to the spending review, the Department for Education has worked with the Association of Directors 

of Children’s Services to share good practice in reducing the costs of providing children’s services.

Page 134



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 29

Deciding the priorities

3.30 An important part of the government’s work in deciding the level of the Formula 

Grant, in total and for individual local authorities, was to decide policy priorities and the 

weight attached to individual service areas. The pressures on providing care for adults 

and children are increasing, along with increases in other areas such as households 

falling within the statutory definition of homeless (up 45 per cent from 2010). In July 2011, 

the Commission on Funding Care and Support projected that, without change to the 

current system of adult social care, the cost of this service would rise from £14.5 billion 

in 2010-11 to £19.0 billion by 2020-21. In addition, in the period 2007 to 2012, local 

authorities saw an 11.8 per cent increase in ‘looked-after’ children.21

21 ‘Looked after’ refers to those children who are taken care of by the state.

Figure 10

Information used as part of the 2010 spending review

Departments provided a range of information to HM Treasury and Department for Communities and

Local Government during the 2010 spending review process 

Department of

Health

Department for 

Education

Department for 

Environment, Food 

and Rural Affairs

Estimated above-inflation spending 

pressures on local services 

! ! !

Estimated efficiency savings or 

savings through reducing services 

offered, or both

! ! !

Estimated potential impacts of savings 

on local services 

! ! !

Analysis broken down by region 

or types of local authorities

" " "

! department provided a monetary or quantitative description

! department provided a non-monetary or qualitative description

" department did not provide this analysis

NOTE

1  While the Department for Education did not provide quantitative descriptions on an aggregate level for children’s 

services, it undertook cost modelling for individual children’s services, such as costs associated with services for 

‘looked after’ children.

Source: National Audit Offi ce analysis of departments’ submissions to HM Treasury during the 2010 spending review 

Page 135



30 Part Three Financial sustainability of local authorities

3.31 Figure 11 shows that the government attached the highest priority to adult 

social services in deciding on one of the key elements of the formula determining the 

distribution of the Formula Grant, the weight given to the various relative service needs.22 

In practice, local authorities decided to spend their income differently. For the three 

years ending in 2012-13, the lowest reduction in local authority spending is for children’s 

services (Figure 5). Some local authorities we spoke to attributed this to increased 

demand for children’s services and their concern to avoid the human and reputational 

risks attached to the failure of that service. 

22 The government allocates the Formula Grant to local authorities, among other factors, based on the relative needs 

of each local authority by service. Each service has its own relative needs formula, which takes into account the 

different factors affecting the cost of the delivery of the various local services. This relative needs formula allows 

each local authority’s relative need share to be calculated. The percentage reduction in the shares of each local 

service do not equate to a specific grant reduction for these service areas, because the relative needs formulae 

are only one component of the elements that determine the Formula Grant a local authority receives. The final 

allocation of the Formula Grant depends also, for example, on the relative ability of the local authority to raise 

council tax, and on other grants being rolled into the Formula Grant.

Percentage change in the shares of relative service needs in the 

Formula Grant formula over the period April 2010 to March 2013

0

-5

-10

-15

-20

-25

-30

-35

-40

Figure 11

Changes to the weight given to the relative service needs in the

Formula Grant formula, April 2010 to March 2013

Children’s

services

Adult personal

social services

Highway

maintenance

Environmental,

protective and

cultural services

NOTE

1 Figures rounded to the nearest percentage point.

Source: National Audit Office calculation using Annex E from the annual local government finance reports 

for 2010-11 to 2012-13

The government decision to ‘protect’ the relative needs in adult social care in the calculation of the 

Formula Grant allocation led to larger reductions in the weight given to other relative service needs

-35

-38

-24

0

Page 136



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 31

3.32 As the Formula Grant paid to local authorities is ‘un-hypothecated’ (meaning they 

have complete discretion over how to spend it in meeting their responsibilities), local 

authorities do not have to spend it in line with central government priorities. Central 

government also does not expect local authorities to spend their resources in line with 

its priorities. It will be important, however, for the Department for Communities and Local 

Government to understand why local authority spending patterns are different from central 

government priorities to be able to adequately inform future funding decisions. 

Maintaining financial sustainability and understanding financial failure

3.33 We considered a range of indicators, such as levels of local authority reserves and 

projections of service demand, to see what they showed about financial sustainability. 

Individually and collectively, however, they proved inconclusive. Moreover, financial 

sustainability depends on factors that go beyond the financial balance sheet. These 

include the strengths of financial management and governance arrangements. Coming 

to a view of the likely financial sustainability of a local authority using a single set of 

indicators is therefore problematic, and needs to consider local circumstances. 

3.34 The Audit Commission surveyed local authority auditors and analysed budget 

outturns. It estimated that, in 2011-12, 9 per cent of local authorities experienced ‘high 

financial stress’ – meaning that they undertook unplanned in-year financial actions, for 

example using reserves, and were considered by their auditors as having had financial 

problems. Local auditors identified 12 per cent of local authorities were at an ongoing 

risk of being unable to balance their budgets in future financial years.23 

3.35 In its Accountability System Statement, the Department for Communities and 

Local Government’s (the Department’s) Accounting Officer (the Permanent Secretary) 

sets out arrangements for giving accountability to Parliament for its spending on local 

government.24 In addition, other departments that give grants to local authorities have 

also produced statements about local government which set out the accountability 

arrangements for the local services within their policy responsibility.

3.36 The Department’s Accountability System Statement emphasises preventing 

failure through local government systems. Most important of all of these is the role of 

democratically elected members of local authorities acting in full council, cabinet or, in 

the case of a directly elected mayor, using their executive powers. To support this, there 

is the role of scrutiny committees, local authority audit committees, and systems of 

internal control captured in the council’s standing orders and associated regulations.

23 See Audit Commission, Tough Times 2012, November 2012, p. 36, available at: www.audit-commission.gov.uk/

nationalstudies/localgov/Pages/toughtimes2012.aspx

24 Department for Communities and Local Government, Accounting Officer Accountability System Statement for 

Local Government, March 2012, available at: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/6264/2110027.pdf

Page 137



32 Part Three Financial sustainability of local authorities

3.37 This structure is supported by the council’s appointed officers. In particular, at the 

core of the council there are three corporate officers that each local authority must have 

by statute. These are the head of paid service (usually the chief executive), the monitoring 

officer (usually the chief legal officer), and the chief financial officer as determined by section 

151 of the Local Government Act 1972 (usually the Director of Finance or Resources). 

3.38 The section 151 officer is particularly important for financial sustainability. If a local 

authority does not set a balanced budget or spending materially exceeds the budget, 

the section 151 officer is obliged to make a report (called a section 114 report). The 

council is required to meet to discuss the report. This power has the effect of forcing 

the council to take action to bring the budget back to balance. Section 114 reports have 

rarely been made in recent years and are, generally, considered to be an action of last 

resort. The power has been in place for more than 20 years. That it has rarely been used 

may suggest that the mechanisms in place for managing financial pressure locally have 

been reasonably effective against the circumstances local authorities have faced so far.

3.39 Informed decision-making requires a feedback loop so that adjustments can be 

made in the light of performance, with evidence of potential difficulties being identified 

early enough to allow timely intervention. The Department has a range of information to 

help identify the impending financial failure of a local authority:

In our 2012 report, Central government’s communication and engagement with local 

government,25 we found that local authorities viewed positively the Department’s 

arrangements for around 70 ‘locality leads’. These senior officials spend between 

5 and 10 per cent of their time familiarising themselves with authorities in a region, 

sharing information and good practice, and facilitating access including to other 

government departments. The informal contacts they make give them insight into 

the challenges, including financial challenges, local authorities are facing.

The Local Government Association26 coordinates support to local authorities, 

including peer challenges to help them improve performance. The Association has 

also developed an online tool, LGInform, which draws together comparative data 

across all local authorities. The tool is currently available to all local authorities but 

from summer 2013 will be available to the public and allow all users to compare 

performance and spend information. The Association meets with departmental 

officials to discuss matters of general concern to local government. 

Local auditors give an annual conclusion on arrangements to secure value for 

money and financial resilience which is published as part of the auditor’s report 

on the accounts. The auditor will report to the council if there are any issues arising 

from their value-for-money work. The Department does not systematically review all 

audit reports but may consider them on an ad hoc basis if serious issues arise.

25 Comptroller and Auditor General, Central government’s communication and engagement with local government, 

Session 2012-13, HC 187, National Audit Office, June 2012, available at: www.nao.org.uk/publications/1213/

central_and_local_government.aspx

26 The Local Government Association is a voluntary membership organisation representing councils and councillors, 

funded by government grants and member subscriptions.

Page 138



Financial sustainability of local authorities Part Three 33

3.40 Under section 15 of the Local Government Act 1999, the Secretary of State has 

powers to intervene by directing an authority to take particular actions, and ultimately by 

directing another body to take over a council’s specific functions. Such intervention is 

the last resort. The last time this happened was in the case of Doncaster Metropolitan 

Borough Council following a corporate governance investigation by the Audit 

Commission in 2010. 

3.41 This, and other past cases of central government intervention, have generally related 

to failures in services or corporate governance, or both, rather than to councils being in 

financial difficulty. Within the past year evidence of councils at risk of becoming financially 

unviable has emerged, but it is too early to say whether this represents a trend of councils 

becoming financially unsustainable. The most widely reported examples so far are:

West Somerset District Council, which is at risk of being unable to provide its 

statutory services to an acceptable minimum; and

Birmingham City Council, which has indicated that a potential liability of over 

£750 million in equal pay claims against the Council would impact on its financial 

resilience and the resources available to provide services. 

3.42 The interventions to date have largely dealt with individual local authorities. To date 

there has not been widespread financial failure in the sector. How the system responds 

in the case of multiple failures during possibly more challenging times for local authorities 

is therefore at present untested. 

Page 139



34 Appendix One Financial sustainability of local authorities

Appendix One

Our audit approach

1 This study gives an overview of the reductions and reforms to the funding of local 

authorities during the 2010 spending review period. Its focus is on the implications of 

these changes to funding on the financial sustainability of local authorities, which we 

define as meeting their financial and service obligations.

2 There were three main elements to our work:

We analysed the key implications of these funding reductions and reforms on local 

authority income.

We analysed how local authorities have managed their budgets in the first two 

years of the spending review. 

We reviewed what information government departments have to understand the 

impact of the reforms and local authorities financial sustainability.

3 Our audit approach is summarised in Figure 12. Our evidence base is summarised 

in Appendix Two.

Page 140



Financial sustainability of local authorities Appendix One 35

Figure 12

Our audit approach

The objective 

of government

How this will 

be achieved

Our study

Purpose of our 

examination

Our evidence

(see Appendix Two 

for details)

Our conclusions

We examined departmental 

documents, nationally available 

data sets on local authority 

finance and interviewed officials.

We interviewed finance directors, 

treasurers’ societies, and 

stakeholders; analysed local 

authority financial positions; 

and surveyed finance directors.

To determine the implications for 

local authority finances.

To analyse how local authorities 

are responding to funding 

changes.

To review how far departments 

understand the impacts of 

funding changes.

We interviewed officials 

and reviewed departmental 

documents. 

Central government’s objective

Over this spending review period, the government 

intends to reduce funding of local government while 

giving local authorities more spending flexibility and 

incentives to promote local growth.

The government is reducing funding for local 

authorities while reforming business rates, and 

removing the ring-fencing for some grants.

Local government’s objective

Local authorities are subject to statutory requirements 

to provide a range of services while balancing budgets, 

and remaining accountable to their local electorate.

Local authorities are pursuing a range of measures to 

reduce spending.

The study examined the implications of funding reductions and reforms on local government financial sustainability, 

and the information central government has on the impact of funding changes and about local government 

financial sustainability.

So far, local authorities have generally been able to absorb central government funding reductions. However, there 

is emerging evidence that some service levels are reducing. Funding reductions are continuing, along with changes 

to the resourcing mechanism of local authorities. These changes increase financial uncertainty and more local 

authorities are facing the challenge to avoid financial difficulties while meeting their statutory responsibilities. This 

risk will not manifest itself evenly across the sector, with some local authorities being more affected than others.

This risk must be identified early so it can be managed effectively. The Department for Communities and Local 

Government will need arrangements to detect where risks will emerge. Its response will need to be flexible and 

coordinated with local and sector-wide support mechanisms. Central government must also satisfy itself that 

it understands the cumulative impact of funding changes and can make informed decisions about the funding 

required for local authority services.

Page 141



36 Appendix Two Financial sustainability of local authorities

Appendix Two

Our evidence base

1 Our independent conclusions arising from our report on financial sustainability 

of local authorities were reached following our analysis of evidence collected between 

June and December 2012.

2 We applied a range of quantitative and qualitative techniques in our examination. 

Our audit approach is outlined in Appendix One. 

3 We analysed key national data sets for local authority finances, including the 

Department for Communities and Local Government Local Government Finance 

Statistics England and local authority revenue account and revenue outturn data 

which the Department for Communities and Local Government collects.27 The Local 

Government Finance Statistics England contains the latest authoritative figures on local 

government grants. However, as the most recent publication (June 2012)28 only covers 

2010-11, we could only provide figures for that financial year in our overview of local 

government finances in Part One. 

4 We estimated the proportion of 2010 spending review savings that local authorities 

achieved by comparing their planned reduction in their revenue expenditure between 

April 2010 and March 2013 with HM Treasury’s forecast reduction in local government 

spending announced during the 2010 Spending Review. The Audit Commission 

provided us with local authorities’ revenue spending figures, based on their analysis 

of local authorities’ revenue account data. This showed that local authorities reduced 

their spending by £4.6 billion from April 2010 to March 2013. In their Tough Times 2012 

report the Audit Commission provides a figure of £5 billion for the equivalent period. 

This difference is due to the Audit Commission including 2010-11 in-year cuts and local 

authorities’ planned use of reserves in their calculation, presenting the figures at 2012-13 

prices, and excluding council tax.

27 For 2011-12, we used provisional revenue outturn data.

28 Department for Communities and Local Government, Local Government Finance Statistics England, Number 22, 

June 2012, available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-financial-statistics-england-

no-22-2012

Page 142



Financial sustainability of local authorities Appendix Two 37

5 We report the proportion of total expenditure for each local service area and the 

change in service expenditure by local authority service area based on analysis and data 

provided by the Audit Commission. In their Tough Times 2012, the Audit Commission 

used the same data to calculate change in service expenditure by local authority service 

area. However, the Audit Commission presented median changes in service area 

spend rather than aggregate changes across all local authorities. As a result the figures 

presented in Tough Times 2012 differ slightly from the figures presented in our report.

6 We examined departmental documents setting out the details of a number of 

funding reductions and reforms:

Reductions in overall central government funding to local government over the 

spending review period.

Reforms to business rates.

Localisation of council tax support.

7 We reviewed how government departments modelled and monitored the impacts 

of these funding reductions and reforms on local authority financial sustainability.

8 We conducted 27 semi-structured interviews with central government staff 

to understand:

how far departments monitor local authorities’ financial sustainability and statutory 

service delivery; and

departmental accountability and assurance regimes. 

9 We reviewed files of published and internal departmental documents to assess 

how departments considered local authorities’ financial sustainability and statutory 

service delivery, including:

accountability system statements;

business planning papers and spreadsheets;

consultation documents and impact assessments; and

modelling of reforms to funding.

Page 143



38 Appendix Two Financial sustainability of local authorities

10 We conducted analysis on data of local authorities’ eligibility thresholds for 

adult social care collected from Commission for Social Care Inspection, Care Quality 

Commission and Association of Directors of Adult Social Services. We are aware 

that Age UK has published data on eligibility thresholds for adult social care by local 

authority.29 This data shows minor differences in some years when compared to the data 

we used. However, Age UK does not provide data for the years 2008-09, 2009-10 and 

2012-13 which is why we have used different data sources. Please also note that in 

2008-09, 2010-11 and 2011-12, the Care Quality Commission and the Association 

of Directors of Adult Social Services received a 98 per cent response rate, while in 

2012-13, the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services received a 95 per cent 

response rate. We have also used research carried out by Jose-Luis Fernandez and 

J. Forder which demonstrates that greater spending on social care is related to lower 

delayed hospital discharge rates and emergency readmissions.30

11 We conducted eight semi-structured interviews with local authority financial 

directors (and one chief executive). The purpose of the visits was to understand each 

local authority’s financial position and operating context, and how they responded to 

central government funding changes. We visited:

Boston Borough Council (District);

Brent Council (London Borough);

Cheshire East Council (Unitary);

Kirklees Council (Metropolitan);

Norwich City Council (District);

Nottinghamshire County Council (County); 

Wandsworth Borough Council (London Borough); and

Westminster City Council (London Borough).

12 We conducted semi-structured interviews with representatives from the five 

societies of local authority treasurers to hear their views about central government 

funding changes:

Society of District Council Treasurers

Society of County Treasurers

Society of London Treasurers 

Society of Municipal Treasurers

Society of Unitary Treasurers

29 Age UK, Social care eligibility thresholds briefing, available at: www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-

professionals/Research/Eligibility_thresholds_briefing.pdf?dtrk=true.

30 Jose-Luis Fernandez and J. Forder, ‘Consequences of local variations in social care on the performance of the 

acute health care sector’, Applied Economics, vol. 40, Issue 12, 2008, pp. 1503–18.

Page 144



Financial sustainability of local authorities Appendix Two 39

13 We do not have the access right to local authorities. However, in an effort to 

capture the range of views across the local government sector we surveyed for the 

first time all local authority finance directors across England to understand existing and 

planned revenue expenditure and anticipated savings and budget gaps. We received 

52 responses, a response rate of 15 per cent:

London Councils: 15 responses;

Unitary Councils: 10 responses;

Shire County Councils: 10 responses;

Shire District Councils: 8 responses; and

Metropolitan District Councils: 9 responses. 

14 We conducted semi-structured interviews with stakeholders with knowledge 

and expertise in local government finance to understand the implications of a range 

of funding reductions and reforms. We interviewed representatives from:

the Local Government Association;

the New Local Government Network;

the Special Interest Group of Municipal Authorities;

Grant Thornton;

The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants;

The Institute of Fiscal Studies;

Local Government Futures; and

London Councils.

15 Throughout the landscape review, we set up an expert panel that provided 

independent scrutiny and advice to the study team.

Page 145



Page 146



Design and Production by 

NAO Communications 

DP Ref: 10055-001

This report has been printed on Consort 155 

and contains material sourced from 

responsibly managed and sustainable forests 

certified in accordance with the FSC (Forest 

Stewardship Council).

The wood pulp is totally recyclable and 

acid-free. Our printers also have full ISO 14001 

environmental accreditation, which ensures 

that they have effective procedures in place to 

manage waste and practices that may affect 

the environment.

Page 147



Published by TSO (The Stationery Office) and available from:

Online  

www.tsoshop.co.uk

Mail, telephone, fax and email 

TSO 

PO Box 29, Norwich NR3 1GN 

Telephone orders/general enquiries: 0870 600 5522 

Order through the Parliamentary Hotline  

Lo-Call 0845 7 023474 

Fax orders: 0870 600 5533 

Email: customer.services@tso.co.uk 

Textphone: 0870 240 3701

The Houses of Parliament Shop 

12 Bridge Street, Parliament Square,  

London SW1A 2JX 

Telephone orders/general enquiries: 020 7219 3890 

Fax orders: 020 7219 3866 

Email: shop@parliament.uk 

Internet: http://www.shop.parliament.uk

TSO@Blackwell and other accredited agents

£16.00

9 780102 981261

ISBN 978-0-10-298126-1

Page 148



Towards a tipping point?

Summary findings from our second year of financial health checks of English local authorities

December 2012

Page 149



Introduction  1

Towards a tipping point? 4

Key indicators of financial performance 6

Strategic financial planning  8

Financial governance 10

Financial controls 12

Summary and conclusions 14

About us  16

Contents

Page 150



1Towards a tipping point?

Introduction

With "nancial austerity due to continue until at least 2017, our "nancial health review 
considers key indicators of "nancial performance, "nancial governance, strategic "nancial 
planning and "nancial controls, to provide a summary update on how the sector is coping, 
drawing comparisons with last year’s "ndings.

Background

We published our report ‘Surviving 

the storm: how resilient are local 

authorities?’ in December 2011.  

The report examined the resilience 

of local government in responding to 

the "nancial, economic, demographic, 

policy and other challenges the sector 

was facing, and how prepared it was for 

the "rst year of the front-loaded 2010 

Spending Review. 

Our analysis was based on a 

national programme of "nancial health 

check reviews undertaken during 

2011. We have repeated these reviews 

during 2012 and this report updates our 

"ndings and highlights the trends that 

are emerging in the sector.

Context

The Chancellor of the Exchequer 

announced the 2010 Spending Review 

(SR10) to Parliament on 20 October 

2010. This formed a central part of 

the Coalition Government’s response 

to reducing the national de"cit, with 

the intention to bring public "nances 

back into balance during 2014–15. 

The Chancellor has subsequently 

announced that public "nances will not 

be brought back into balance during the 

lifetime of the current Parliament, and, 

in his Autumn Statement in November 

2011, announced further public 

spending reductions of 0.9% in real 

terms in both 2015-16 and 2016-17. 

Financial austerity will therefore 

continue until at least 2017, and  

further funding reductions to local 

government funding may emerge 

within the SR10 period.

With or without further funding 

reductions, the four-year SR10 period 

(2011–12 to 2014–15) represents the 

largest reduction in public spending 

since the 1920s. Revenue funding to 

local government will reduce in real 

terms by 28% by 2014–15 (excluding 

schools, "re and police) with local 

government facing some of the largest 

funding reductions in the public sector. 

In addition, local government funding 

reductions were partially frontloaded, 

with 8% cash reductions in 2011–12. 

These reductions followed a period of 

sustained growth in local government 

spending, which increased by 45% 

during the period 1997 to 2007.

The funding reductions come at a 

time when demographic changes and 

recession-based economic pressures 

are increasing demands for services, 

for example rising demand for social 

care as well as debt, housing and 

bene"ts advice, while demand for some 

paid-for services is reducing, such as 

planning and car parking. At the same 

time, local authorities are managing 

the implications of the Government’s 

policy agendas – such as those relating  

to localism and open public services – 

that could see a signi"cant shift in the 

way that public services are provided. 

With or without further funding reductions, the four-year 

SR10 period (2011–12 to 2014–15) represents the 

largest reduction in public spending since the 1920s. 

Page 151



2  Towards a tipping point?

Purpose of this report

To meet these signi"cant challenges, 

local authorities must improve their 

ef"ciency and productivity, reduce their 

costs and have sustainable medium-

term "nancial plans (MTFPs) to ensure 

their "nancial health remains robust. 

This report provides a summary of 

the key issues, trends and good practice 

that have emerged from our second 

national programme of "nancial health 

reviews. The report provides local 

authorities with an up-to-date picture 

of how local authorities are coping 

with the service and "nancial challenges 

being faced by the sector. This report 

draws on benchmarking data provided 

by the Audit Commission and others, 

as well as the broad thematic approach 

adopted by the Audit Commission 

towards the assessment of the value  

for money arrangements in place in  

local authorities. 

Our approach 

Our analysis is based on reviews of 

24 (7%) English local authorities 

undertaken between May and 

September 2012. This included a desk 

top review of key documents and 

interviews with key stakeholders to 

validate our "ndings. Our focus was on 

the 2012/13 "nancial planning period 

and the delivery of 2011/12 budgets  

and we analysed the following  

thematic areas: 

 

financial performance 

It is critical that local authorities 

maintain appropriate levels of reserve 

balances, regularly monitor their 

liquidity and long-term borrowing 

levels, deliver against planned budgets, 

and effectively manage unplanned  

staff absences.

Local authorities need to be setting 

their budget in the context of a longer-

term "nancial strategy and an MTFP 

covering, for example, a three to "ve 

year horizon. The MTFP needs to 

be realistic. Assumptions around 

in#ation, income levels, demographics 

and future demand for services need  

to be modelled and based on 

reasonable predictions.

The quality of "nancial governance 

and leadership is critical in meeting 

the "nancial management challenges 

facing authorities, and for securing  

a sustainable "nancial position.  

Good basic systems, processes  

and controls are important, but it 

is the overall "nancial culture that 

makes the difference.

Local authorities need to manage 

within their budgets. They therefore 

need to have a robust way of 

challenging budget monitoring and 

reporting arrangements to ensure 

they are "t for purpose, and that they 

can respond to the ever greater need 

to demonstrate value for money and 

achieve ef"ciencies.

Within each of these themes advised by 

the Audit Commission, we identi"ed 

a number of sub-categories (outlined 

in Table 1) and gave each a risk rating 

using the criteria provided in Table 2.  

A summary risk rating was also 

provided for each thematic area. 

We have also drawn on our analysis 

undertaken during 2011 to identify 

trends in how the sector is responding 

to the "nancial challenges it faces.

Page 152



3Towards a tipping point?

High risk 

The authority’s arrangements are 

generally inadequate or may have 

a high risk of not succeeding.

Red

Arrangements meet or exceed 

adequate standards

Adequate arrangements identified 

and key characteristics of good 

practice appear to be in place.

Green

Potential risks and/or 

weaknesses 

Adequate arrangements and 

characteristics are in place 

in some respects, but not all. 

Evidence that the authority is 

taking forward areas where 

arrangements need to be 

strengthened.

Amber

Table 1 Themes and sub-categories for analysis

Theme Sub-category

financial performance*

Liquidity

Borrowing

Workforce

Performance against budget

Reserve balances

Schools balances (for single tier and county council authorities)

Strategic financial 

planning

Focus of the MTFP

Adequacy of planning assumptions

Scope of the MTFP and links to annual planning

Review processes

Responsiveness of the plan

Understanding the financial environment

Executive and member engagement

Performance management of budgets

Accuracy of committee/cabinet reporting

Performance management of budgets

Performance against savings plans

Key financial accounting systems

Finance department resourcing

Internal audit arrangements

External audit arrangements

Table 2 Risk-rating criteria

*Note on indicators used

While undertaking this year’s programme of health checks we have had a considerable amount of debate on what 

are the most appropriate KPIs for local authorities’ financial performance, both in terms of the type of ratio, and the 

industry standard of the ratios being applied. We will continue to use the ratios we have used during our first two national 

programmes of health checks but will ensure that, where alternative ratios are being applied by authorities, they will be 

identified and discussed in our 2013 report.

Page 153



4  Towards a tipping point?

Towards a tipping point?

While authorities met their 2011–12 targets as they anticipated, the con"dence in achieving 
targets in the medium-term has fallen since last year. With many factors leading to an 
uncertain environment in which to set "nancial plans, is a critical point coming where  
local authorities can no longer deliver?

Our 2011 review identi"ed a somewhat 

surprising level of con"dence in the 

sector that savings targets would be 

achieved during 2011–12, given the 

context that this was the "rst year of 

SR10. Was this con"dence accurate or 

misplaced? Our 2012 programme of 

reviews indicates that the sector was 

right to be con"dent as most local 

authorities in our sample have been able 

to deliver against their 2011–12 budgets, 

indicating the continued effective 

leadership of senior management and 

elected members. 

Our 2011 review also identi"ed 

that this con"dence diminished when 

discussing the medium-term. Has 

this position for the medium-term 

improved, or are the storm clouds 

growing ever darker? The one area 

where the trend between 2010–11 and 

2011–12 has seen a reduction relates to 

the increasing level of risk associated 

with strategic "nancial planning. The 

challenges facing the sector remain 

signi"cant and the con"dence for 

the medium-term is, understandably, 

generally weaker. Tough decisions have 

again been made when setting the 2012–

13 budget, but managing the on-going 

implementation of these decisions and 

their impact on service users and staff 

will not be easy.

Historically, as a sector, local 

government has typically delivered 

whatever central government of all 

parties has asked of it over the past 

30 years, such as the localisation of 

housing bene"ts, introduction of 

the Community Charge and then 

the Council Tax, Local Government 

Reorganisation (many times), and 

annual Gershon ef"ciency targets. 

Our analysis of 2011–12, the "rst 

year of SR10, indicates the sector 

continues to deliver. However, local 

government’s resilience over the 

medium-term remains far less certain. 

At the time of writing, we are half-

way through the term of the current, 

"xed Parliament, but only 25% of 

the Government’s "scal consolidation 

plans have been implemented, with the 

majority still to be delivered over the 

next two and a half years.

planning include:

during this spending review period, and a lack of certainty of the funding landscape post 2015

government welfare related spending

writing is due to be late December 2012, providing a very limited lead in period to feed into 

and wellbeing boards, Local Enterprise Partnerships and the Localism Act

social care delivery, a key spending pressure area

Page 154



5Towards a tipping point?

Will delivering services in this context 

be any different to the recent past?  

Our analysis and discussions with the 

sector indicate that a ‘tipping point’ 

is on the horizon, but what form this 

could take remains unclear. A tipping 

point has been described as the critical 

point in an evolving situation that leads 

to a new and irreversible development.

We have identi"ed a number of 

scenarios for such a tipping point. 

These relate to an individual local 

authority, rather than the local 

government system as a whole:

Statutory – where a local authority 

can no longer meet its statutory 

responsibilities to deliver a broad 

range of services within the funding 

available, leading to legal challenges 

and protests from impacted 

stakeholders.

 – where the Section 151 

Of"cer is unable to set a balanced 

budget, leading in the "rst instance 

to an unbalanced budget report to 

members in line with Section 114 of 

the Local Government Finance Act 

1988 (England and Wales); or where 

the increased uncertainty leads to 

budget overspends of a level which 

reduces reserves to unacceptably 

low levels; or where an authority 

demonstrates characteristics of an 

insolvent organisation, such as a 

failure to pay creditors.

Industrial – as a consequence of 

pay restraint, changes to terms and 

conditions, and job losses, employees 

and trade unions enact prolonged 

strike action, leading to major service 

disruption and long-term industrial 

relations disputes.

External – failure of a major supplier, 

leading to signi"cant service 

disruption and reputational damage 

to the authority.

Incremental – multiple, smaller 

tipping points relating to individual 

service areas, developing over a 

period of time, leading to an eventual 

critical mass of tipping points.

Decision paralysis – failure to 

make the challenging but necessary 

decision required to manage "nancial 

and other challenges.

We do not believe that all authorities 

share the same level or types of risk. 

We do not therefore suggest that all 

authorities could experience a tipping 

point. We will continue to engage with 

the sector to explore the concept of a 

tipping point, to identify if any of these 

scenarios above (or others) could be 

possible for an individual authority, and 

what the consequences would be for 

stakeholders, in particular service users. 

Once there is greater understanding of 

such scenarios, we will begin to analyse 

what actions need to be taken to 

mitigate or avoid such tipping points.

During 2012 we have had many 

discussions across the sector on the 

"ndings set out in ‘Surviving the storm’, 

our 2011 report. The overwhelming 

feedback has been that our "ndings, 

based on a signi"cant, but relatively 

small, sample, were echoed across the 

sector. We hope that the "ndings in this 

report resonate in the same way. 

We will be undertaking a third year 

of "nancial health reviews of local 

authorities during 2013, in relation to 

the 2013–14 "nancial planning cycle 

and the delivery of budgets and savings 

plans during the 2012–13 "nancial year. 

We will publish the summary results 

of this work during Autumn 2013. 

Our audit client base has increased to 

40% of local authorities in England, 

so our next report will be based on a 

signi"cantly increased programme of 

local authority "nancial health checks.

The summary "ndings from our 

2012 reviews, and the trends between 

our 2011 and 2012 reviews, are set out 

in the following sections. 

Our discussions with the sector indicate that a ‘tipping 

point’ is on the horizon, but what form this could take 

remains unclear. A tipping point has been described 

Page 155



6  Towards a tipping point?

Key indicators of  
"nancial performance

Analysis of "nancial and other ratios for benchmarking indicates strength in performance against 
budget remain strong, while the gearing of long-term borrowing and reserve balances have 
improved on last year. Despite considerable improvement, managing the workforce remains  
a critical area, alongside liquidity where the trend for reducing working capital continues. 

Our 2011 report noted that, while 

local government accountants have an 

understanding of the use of "nancial 

ratios to interpret "nancial statements, 

this skill has traditionally only been 

applied to procurement exercises. Our 

review last year represented one of the 

"rst times that "nancial ratios have 

been applied to local authority "nancial 

statements for the purpose of inter-

authority benchmarking.

Figure 1 provides a summary of 

our ratings for selected key indicators 

of "nancial performance for our most 

recent reviews, and the results of our 

same review for the previous year. 

For each authority we benchmarked 

key indicators against their nearest 

neighbour group.

Performance against budget

The track record of local authorities 

in our sample in managing revenue 

budgets during 2010–11, which 

included in-year government funding 

reductions, and in previous years was 

generally good, with 86% being rated 

green. The trend for 2011–12 was an 

improving one, with 96% rated green. 

Given that 2011–12 was the "rst year 

of SR10 funding reductions, and 

these reductions were front-loaded to 

2011–12, this represents a signi"cant 

achievement for the sector. 

However, the challenges facing 

authorities are only increasing and the 

key question of how long the sector 

can continue to deliver against reduced 

funding has been discussed in more 

detail in the previous section (pages 4–5).

Borrowing

We reviewed long-term borrowing as 

a proportion of long-term assets and 

as a share of tax revenue. The majority 

(69%) of authorities in our sample in 

2010–11 had an appropriate ratio of 

long-term borrowing to long-term 

assets, and long-term borrowing as a 

share of tax, indicating that the level of 

borrowing was effectively geared. The 

trend across our sample has improved 

for 2011–12 with 95% of authorities 

rated green, with long-term borrowing 

ratios reducing. A key factor has been 

strategies for reducing high interest-

bearing, long-term borrowing and 

moving to internal and short-term 

external borrowing to take advantage 

of improved lower level borrowing 

rates, alongside a greater degree of 

caution with long-term borrowing 

following the experience of investment 

in Icelandic banks.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
  

ag
ai
ns

t b
ud

ge
t

Bo
rr
ow

in
g

Re
se

rv
e  

ba
la
nc

es

W
or

kf
or

ce

Li
qu

id
ity

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Sc
ho

ol
s  

ba
la
nc

es

2011 2010 

 Red  Amber  Green

Page 156



7Towards a tipping point?

We noted in our 2011 report that 

authorities had generally acted 

prudently over a long period, but that 

we were starting to see General Fund 

Reserves being used to fund General 

Fund revenue expenditure. Of our 

sample, 79% were rated green in 

2010–11 which has increased to 92% 

in 2011–12. The overall trend has been 

an increase in the level of reserves, 

which is supported by 2011–12 

Revenue Outturn (RO) return data. 

This re#ects the better than expected 

performance in delivering 2011–12 

revenue budgets. Nonetheless, it will be 

critical that reserve levels, both general 

and earmarked, are carefully monitored 

to ensure the "nancial resilience of 

authorities during SR10 is maintained.

Schools balances 

For single tier and county council 

(STCC) authorities with responsibility 

for education, we analysed the ratio 

of schools balances as a proportion of 

dedicated schools grant. There is a trend 

of increasing schools balances, indicated 

by an increase in green ratings from 

50% in 2010–11 to 90% in 2011–12.  

A key factor in this trend is that schools 

appear to be adopting a cautious 

approach to "nancial management due 

to concerns over future funding levels, 

in many cases leading to underspends. 

In addition, the "nancial risks 

associated with schools transferring to 

academies are leaving de"cits which 

authorities will need to fund.

Workforce

The focus for this indicator was the level 

of sickness absence. Costs that accrue 

from sickness absence relate to the 

hiring of agency staff to cover staff gaps, 

or from holding a larger workforce 

complement than is desirable. Absence 

also damages service levels either 

through staff shortage or lack of 

continuity. Reducing absenteeism saves 

money, improves productivity and can 

have a positive customer bene"t. It is 

clear that most authorities continue 

to proactively manage absenteeism, 

with a reduction from 57% receiving 

amber scores for 2010–11 to 12% 

receiving amber scores for 2011–12. 

Absence management will continue to 

be a challenge for authorities during 

SR10, particularly given the context of 

signi"cant pressures on staff to deliver 

‘more for less’.

Liquidity 

This indicator looks at the working 

capital ratio, indicating if an authority 

has enough current assets to cover its 

short-term liabilities. Of our sample, 

35% scored amber in 2010–11 and 65% 

scored green. This has improved for 

2011–12 with 12% scoring amber and 

88% green.

The overall trend noted for 2010–11 

was of reducing working capital. This 

trend has continued for 2011–12. 

The improvement in the risk rating 

scores is a result of a further analysis 

undertaken during our second year 

of reviews to better understand the 

context of falling liquidity. In particular, 

we identi"ed local authorities’ treasury 

management strategies to reduce long-

term borrowing resulting in a planned 

reduction in liquidity. The level of 

borrowing room available to authorities 

should they wish to draw down to 

meet liquidity issues was also a factor 

in this year’s ratings. Nonetheless, 

local authorities will need to carefully 

monitor their liquidity levels during 

SR10 to ensure "nancial resilience  

is maintained.

Best practice

determined appropriate level of reserves 

and balances.

at or above the locally agreed minimum 

level.

set by the Section 151 officer.

borrowing within prudential borrowing 

limits.

in respect of key indicators, such 

as reserve balances and prudential 

indicators.

spending to budget and proactively 

focus on absence management to 

improve productivity, reduce costs  

and enhance customer service.

Page 157



8  Towards a tipping point?

Strategic "nancial planning

Having learnt from the previous year, 2012–13 planning cycles were typically started  
earlier to ensure adequate time to "nalise their savings programme and a few authorities 
have chosen to focus on setting the 2012–13 budget, over updating 2011–12 plans.  
Scenario planning remains generally weak, but is even more critical given uncertainty  
about the Government’s spending plans.

Strategic "nancial planning had the best 

overall rating across our sample for 

2010–11, but this is the only thematic 

area that has seen a reduction in its 

overall rating for 2011–12. Figure 2 

provides a summary of our ratings 

for selected key indicators of strategic 

"nancial planning and the key "ndings 

are set out below.

Of our sample, 100% was rated 

green for this category for 2010–11. 

This decreased to 91% for 2011–12. 

This indicates that the majority of 

authorities still have effective processes 

for the regular review of the MTFP 

and the associated assumptions, 

including appropriate scrutiny from 

elected members, including the Audit 

Committee. The increase in amber 

ratings to 9% is a result of a minority of 

authorities in our sample who have not 

updated their plans, focusing instead on 

setting the 2012–13 budget.

 
annual planning

Of our sample, 78% was rated green 

for this category for 2010–11. This 

had increased to 88% for 2011–12. 

The 2012–13 planning cycles typically 

started earlier than the previous year, 

re#ecting a key lesson learnt from 

2011–12 planning cycle: given the 

scale of the savings requirement, many 

authorities had not allowed enough 

time during their "nancial planning 

cycle to ensure adequate "nalisation of 

their savings programme.

Good practice authorities 

demonstrate effective integration of 

the service and "nancial planning 

processes. However, individual services 

often undertake modelling of demand 

to understand the impact on future 

spending levels, but this information is 

often not consolidated within the plan, 

limiting the potential of members to 

understand in detail all the demand led 

"nancial challenges an authority faces.

Of our sample, 86% was rated green 

for this category for 2010–11. This has 

reduced to 83% for 2011–12. Many 

authorities commenced the 2012–13 

"nancial planning cycle early in the "rst 

quarter of 2011–12, having learnt from 

the previous "nancial planning period. 

There is a general recognition that 

assumptions may change during the 

lifetime of the plan, that the plan must 

evolve and be responsive to the external 

environment. 

 Red  Amber  Green

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Re
vi
ew

 p
ro

ce
ss

es

Sc
op

e 
of

 M
TF

P

Re
sp

on
si
ve

ne
ss

Fo
cu

s 
of

 M
TF

P

Ad
eq

ua
cy

 o
f  

as
su

m
pt

io
ns

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Page 158



9Towards a tipping point?

Best practice

priorities is evident through the financial 

planning process. The MTFP focuses 

resources on priorities.

are integrated.

scenario planning, benchmarking, 

resource planning and details on 

partnership working.

term financial strategy of the authority.

and the assumptions made within it. 

The authority responds to changing 

circumstances and manages its  

financial risks.

analysis on its financial model using 

a range of economic assumptions, 

including the impact of SR10.

with other key strategies, including 

workforce.

from the information included within  

the MTFP.

improve strategic prioritisation during 

the financial planning cycle.

arrangements are in place.

Of our sample, 86% received a green 

rating for 2010–11. This had reduced to 

79% for 2011–12. While many MTFPs 

have been refreshed for 2011–12 and 

typically receive greater challenge 

and scrutiny than in prior years due 

to the scale of savings required, many 

authorities have struggled to develop 

certainty on key factors affecting the 

"nancial position beyond 2012–13,  

such as the localisation of business 

rates and the reduction in Council Tax 

bene"t funding, resulting in a return to 

a more annualised approach to "nancial 

planning for some authorities.

Developing budgets and savings 

plans on a departmental basis, and then 

reviewing them centrally by senior 

management and cabinet, remains the 

typical approach in the sector. The 

use of zero based budgeting (ZBB) 

also remains limited across our entire 

sample. Local authorities should 

consider adopting, in an appropriate 

and controlled way, aspects of ZBB 

to improve the strategic prioritisation 

during the "nancial planning cycle.

Some authorities, when updating 

their plans, noted that their key 

focus should be the maximisation of 

"nancial resilience rather than service 

improvement, with the aim being 

to ensure that the plans in place are 

affordable and sustainable in the light 

of resources that can reasonably expect 

to be available. This suggests that the 

savings are targeted where they have 

the least impact on priorities to ensure 

that there are no unplanned service 

reductions.

Adequacy of planning assumptions

This was the weakest category in 

relation to "nancial planning for 2010–

11, with 36% of the sample receiving an 

amber rating. It was again the weakest 

category for 2011–12, with 29% 

receiving an amber rating. 

While many plans had been 

updated, a number of authorities had 

not revisited funding assumptions for 

2013–14 due to continuing uncertainties 

relating to the Government’s spending 

plans. Scenario planning remains 

generally weak and sensitivity analysis 

patchy across the sample group. 

However, the lack of certainty should 

increase, not reduce, the need for 

effective scenario planning in relation 

to funding and other factors such as 

demographics. Local authorities will 

need to ensure they have the skills and 

capacity to develop and maintain an 

effective "nancial model that underpins 

their MTFP.

Page 159



10  Towards a tipping point?

Financial governance

This year has seen a deeper engagement of senior management and members in relation 
to planning. While the performance management of budgets had increased, and forecast 
overspends are being managed corporately, rather than in departmental silos, the ability  
to manage volatile, demand-led budgets remains a challenge.

Figure 3 provides a summary of our 

ratings for selected key indicators of 

"nancial governance.

Our 2010–11 review rated 79% of our 

sample as green. This increased to 100% 

for 2011–12. This indicates that the level 

of senior management and member 

engagement in relation to "nancial 

planning, reporting and management is 

appropriate in the sector.

We will continue to monitor the 

engagement of audit committees within 

local government, as the role of this 

committee becomes more prominent, 

and the demands increase on members.

Our 2011–12 reviews considered 

controls over key cost categories 

which formed part of executive and 

member engagement for our 2010–11 

reviews. This category saw 82% of our 

sample rated green. Features of those 

receiving amber ratings included an 

unclear scheme of delegation, and lack 

of consistency in the application of unit 

cost data. 

Understanding of the  

Of our sample, 79% was rated 

green for 2010–11. This increased to 

92% for 2011–12. Senior leadership 

continue to recognise the importance 

of communicating the impact of 

SR10 to all staff and elected members. 

Many also recognise the need for 

greater consultation with their local 

communities on spending and saving 

priorities. With a focus on protecting 

front-line services, back of"ce functions 

such as "nance have seen signi"cant 

reductions in staff numbers during 

2011–12. As noted in our 2011 report, 

a key trend across many authorities in 

response to these reductions is greater 

"nancial management responsibilities 

being placed on service managers and 

budget holders, with job descriptions 

and competencies being enhanced to 

re#ect this change. In parallel to this, 

the "nance function is providing higher 

level and more targeted support to 

services. Our follow up reviews indicate 

that the implementation of these 

changes by both "nance and service 

staff has been mixed. Clearly these 

cultural and process changes will take 

time to embed, and it will be essential 

that authorities monitor such changes, 

given the signi"cant risks to effective 

"nancial management that failure to 

embed these changes could create.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Ex
ec

ut
iv
e  

an
d 

m
em

be
r  

en
ga

ge
m

en
t

Un
de

rs
ta

nd
in
g 

of
  

fin
an

ci
al
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t

Ad
eq

ua
cy

 o
f 

re
po

rt
in
g

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
  

m
an

ag
em

en
t  

of
 b

ud
ge

ts

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 Red  Amber  Green

Page 160



11Towards a tipping point?

Adequacy of reporting

We continue to "nd comprehensive 

levels of timely "nancial reporting 

to senior management and members, 

with a growing trend to consider 

"nancial monitoring reports alongside 

performance and workforce data, which 

is good practice. 93% of our sample 

was rated green for 2010–11; this had 

reduced slightly to 92% for 2011–12. 

The overall position has not changed, 

with most authorities continuing to 

utilise risk based exception reports 

allowing decisions to be made on 

corrective action and to allocate 

responsibilities for these actions.  

In most cases, year-end forecasts are 

effective in providing no surprises; 

however, a minority of authorities 

do not fully apply commitment 

accounting, which poses a risk to the 

provision of accurate outturn forecasts.

It is worth noting that this category 

included the only red rating (5%) in 

this year’s programme. Factors leading 

to this rating included the timing and 

the period against which performance 

was reported during 2011–12 was not 

consistent and differed between bodies 

receiving reports, limited frequency of 

reporting, lack of reporting on savings, 

failure to use graphics and propensity 

to use lengthy narrative, and Cabinet 

reports only including forecast year-end 

outturn position, and not the actual 

position against a pro"led budget. 

Performance management  
of budgets 

Of our sample, 71% were rated green 

for 2010–11. This increased to 79% for 

2011–12. This was the lowest score for 

a category in Financial Governance for 

2010–11, and it was the joint lowest 

category score for 2011–12, although 

it re#ects a reasonable position overall. 

Local authorities continue to face 

challenges managing volatile, demand 

led, budgets. Our sample indicates a 

growing maturity amongst authorities 

in managing forecast overspends 

corporately, rather than within 

departmental silos, which is good 

practice. However, the challenges of 

setting appropriate budgets and then 

spending within them (or generating 

forecast levels of income) continues to 

be one of the key risks and challenges.

Best practice

include detail of action planning and 

variance analysis.

risk areas.

leadership team.

authority understand the financial 

implications of current and alternative 

policies, programmes and activities.

financial skills are in place across all 

levels of the organisation, for example 

a good understanding of unit costs and 

cost drivers.

environment of open challenge to 

financial assumptions and performance.

delegation, ensuring clarity of financial 

responsibilities and accountabilities.

including budget consultations.

procedures in place for members, 

officers and budget holders which 

clearly outline responsibilities.

recommendations are not overdue for 

implementation.

review.

Page 161



12  Towards a tipping point?

Financial controls

The use of "nancial controls had improved on the prior year. Impressively, in-year savings 
are being delivered, although there is a lack of transparency in reporting performance 
against budgeted savings and demonstrating that the savings agreed have been delivered  
as planned.

Figure 4 provides a summary of our 

ratings for selected key indicators of 

"nancial controls.

External audit arrangements

We rated 86% of our sample green for 

2010–11. This increased to 100% for 

2011–12, the highest level for this, or 

any, theme. This indicates that IFRS 

accounting and associated budget and 

chart of account restructurings have 

been effectively embedded, and external 

audit had not identi"ed serious issues in 

relation to the accounts or in relation to 

the value for money conclusion. 

Performance management  
of budgets

The "nancial controls in place to ensure 

effective performance management 

of budgets were generally good for 

2010–11, with 83% of our sample rated 

green. This has improved slightly for 

2011–12 with 86% rated green. Those 

authorities who scored amber typically 

still need to improve the accuracy of 

"nancial reporting, for example by 

having accurate budget pro"les, an 

improved understanding of cost drivers, 

and better use of benchmarking, trend 

analysis and unit costs. A more effective 

approach to presenting "nancial 

information is also required.

Of our sample, 78% was rated green 

for 2010–11. This has increased to 

83% for 2011–12. This indicates 

that the majority of authorities have 

been able to manage the impact of 

funding reductions to this part of the 

back of"ce. Our 2012 reviews were 

undertaken prior to the "nalisation 

of 2011–12 accounts, so we have 

not reviewed the effectiveness of 

reduced "nance resources for a 

complete annual "nancial cycle. This 

is something we will focus on during 

our 2013 reviews. The ability of 

"nance teams to withstand planned 

and unplanned absences in providing 

support to services remains a key 

risk for authorities, given widespread 

reductions in staff numbers and the 

context of the delivery of major savings 

at a time when services are taking 

on enhanced "nancial management 

responsibilities.

Internal audit arrangements

The majority of authorities in our 

sample (71%) were rated green for 

2010–11. This has increased to 79% for 

2011–12. Most authorities continue to 

apply a risk based approach to audit 

planning and involve services in this 

process, have a robust process for 

preparing and reporting the Annual 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Ex
te

rn
al
 a

ud
it  

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
  

m
an

ag
em

en
t  

of
 b

ud
ge

ts

Fi
na

nc
e 

de
pa

rt
m

en
t  

re
so

ur
ce

In
te

rn
al
 a

ud
it 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

Ke
y 
fin

an
ci
al
  

sy
st

em
s

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
  

of
 s

av
in
gs

 p
la
n

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 Red  Amber  Green

Page 162



13Towards a tipping point?

Best practice

timely fashion and the authority has a 

good track record of operating within  

its budget.

member and cabinet level and officers 

are held accountable for budgetary 

performance.

review, including trend analysis, 

benchmarking of unit costs, risk and 

sensitivity analysis.

regularly monitored.

effective management information on 

countervailing savings.

finance department and service 

departments are fit for purpose for 

effective financial planning and financial 

management.

satisfactory reports from internal and 

external audit.

future needs, for example commitment 

accounting functionality is available.

which has the proper profile within 

the organisation and agreed internal 

audit recommendations are routinely 

implemented in a timely manner.

place which is used effectively by the 

authority and is how business risks are 

managed and controlled. 

a true reflection of the organisation.

Governance Statement, and an engaged 

audit committee. Those authorities 

who were rated amber had weaknesses 

such as audit plans that are traditional, 

process driven and not based on risk 

prioritisation, for example audit plans 

that do not vary year on year. 

Of our sample 57% was rated green for 

2010–11, which was the lowest level 

for Financial Controls. This rating has 

increased to 71% for 2011–12 which 

is the joint lowest green rating for 

Financial Controls.

Local authorities typically have well 

established systems and procedures for 

producing reliable "nancial monitoring 

and forecasting information, which is 

used alongside related performance 

information to support decisions.  

We noted in our 2011 report that 

many authorities are considering 

enhancing the functionality of their key 

"nancial systems to ensure the burden 

of producing work around "nancial 

information does not fall to non-

"nancial managers, given the reduction 

in "nance staff, previously discussed. 

While progress is being made, such 

changes take time to specify, procure 

and implement. The risks associated 

with such work around solutions, in 

the context of reducing "nance resource 

and increasing "nancial management 

responsibilities within services, 

will require careful monitoring by 

authorities in this position.

Local authorities have a good track 

record of delivering ef"ciencies. Most 

authorities were able to effectively 

manage the 2010–11 in-year funding 

reductions with 71% of our sample 

rated green. For 2011–12 the position 

remained at 71% receiving a green 

rating. Given the context of front-

loaded year one SR10 savings this 

indicates a considerable achievement.

A key factor to emerge from this 

year’s reviews is that there is a lack 

of transparency in the way some 

authorities report performance against 

budgeted savings. While there have 

been undoubted improvements in 

the way local authorities manage 

and monitor their savings plans, the 

sector does not effectively report 

countervailing (alternative) savings 

that may be being achieved. Therefore, 

so long as a reduced budget, which 

incorporates agreed savings, does 

not overspend at year end, it can be 

considered a success. The reality, 

however, may be that other factors 

have led to the break-even position or 

underspend. For example, management 

decisions to hold vacancies that did 

not form part of the original savings 

plan may be hidden from management 

information (and the consequent 

impact on service delivery may not 

be identi"ed). This approach is not 

unique to local government; indeed 

it is common across the public 

sector. But given the level of savings 

being delivered, and that are still to 

be delivered, it is critical that key 

stakeholders understand if the savings 

agreed have been delivered as planned.
Page 163



14  Towards a tipping point?

Overall, local authorities have continued to manage in the current environment, but 
improving scenario planning, sensitivity analysis and reporting of savings programmes 
as well as ensuring "nancial governance arrangements remain robust will help "nance 
management to in#uence key stakeholders in the uncertain times ahead. 

 Red  Amber  Green

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

KP
Is

Fi
na

nc
ia
l  

go
ve

rn
an

ce

Fi
na

nc
ia
l c

on
tr
ol

St
ra

te
gi

c 
fin

an
ci
al
 

pl
an

ni
ng

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Summary and conclusions

The overall trend for many of the 

categories we have rated is a slightly 

improving position between 2010–11 

and 2011–12. This is replicated in three 

of the four themes in Figure 5. Overall, 

local authorities have coped very well 

with delivering the "rst year of SR10.  

A summary for each theme follows.

86% of authorities were rated 

green for key indicators of financial 

performance for 2010–11, and this 

has increased to 96% for 2011–12. 

For each category in this thematic 

area the trend has been an increasing 

level of green ratings and reducing 

levels of amber ratings, with liquidity 

receiving the lowest overall rating 

(87%). While for many authorities 

their Treasury Management Strategy 

is leading to a planned reduction in 

liquidity, and borrowing headroom 

provides a degree of con"dence for 

the medium-term, authorities will 

need to ensure that their liquidity is 

carefully monitored, for example in the 

collection of council taxes and business 

rates during challenging economic 

times. The overall position indicates 

that local authorities are both treating 

the "nancial challenges being faced 

seriously, and delivering against their 

"nancial plans. It was pleasing to see 

during our 2012 reviews that a number 

of authorities re#ected some of our 

2010–11 KPI recommendations in their 

updated MTFPs.

Local authorities demonstrated 

good  during our 

2010–11 reviews, with 86% receiving 

green ratings. This has increased to 

92% for 2011–12. Local authorities will 

need to continue to ensure "nancial 

governance arrangements remain 

robust. Given the generationally 

signi"cant "nancial challenges facing 

authorities, it will be particularly 

important that the chief "nancial of"cer 

is a key member of the authority’s 

leadership team. This theme has the 

"rst sub category to receive a red rating 

(Adequacy of Reporting) and it will 

be critical that "nancial information 

is reported accurately, at the right 

frequency, and in a format that ensures 

effective monitoring and decision 

making. This includes where services 

are not delivered in-house, which will 

be an increasing trend for the sector.

Our 2010–11 reviews indicated that 

the weakest thematic area was financial 

controls, with 71% of authorities 

receiving a green rating. Our 2011–12 

reviews indicate an improvement, 

with 83% of our sample receiving 

a green rating. However, this is the 

joint lowest overall rating, along with 

strategic "nancial planning. A key risk 

to be managed in this area continues 

to be embedding the changes resulting 

from reductions in "nance staff and 
Page 164



15Towards a tipping point?

the associated increase in "nancial 

responsibilities of service managers 

and budget holders. Local authorities 

also need to improve the management 

information relating to the reporting of 

savings programmes, in particular with 

the inclusion of greater detail on the use 

of countervailing savings, so that key 

stakeholders can better understand the 

impact on service delivery and policy 

decisions, where such alternative savings 

are being applied to pre-agreed targets.

Local authorities demonstrated 

strong strategic financial planning, 

during our 2010–11 review, with 93% 

in our sample receiving a green rating. 

This declined to 83% for 2011–12, the 

only thematic area that saw a fall in the 

overall green rating. While this remains 

at a high level overall, the reduction 

highlights the increasing dif"culty local 

authorities face in planning for the 

medium-term in what remains a greatly 

challenging and uncertain period.  

It remains critical that authorities 

improve their scenario planning and 

the use of sensitivity analysis on key 

assumptions in their "nancial models. 

As we noted in our 2011 report, we 

believe authorities can learn directly 

from the "nancial modelling analysis 

required by Foundation Trust 

applicants in the NHS.

identified, or lacking effective detail.

cases for trusts that have not yet achieved foundation trust status.

Comparison to the health sector

We undertook similar reviews of a 

sample of NHS trusts and primary  

care trusts (PCTs) for both 2010–11  

and 2011–12. 

The methodology used for our 

reviews of health bodies was the same 

as that used for local authorities, and 

the summary results for our sample of 

health bodies are set out in Figure 6.

Our 2011 report observed that, 

despite NHS funding levels being 

maintained by the Government, health 

bodies received lower ratings than 

local authorities for 2010–11, with 

signi"cantly lower levels of green 

ratings across themes, and with no 

green ratings for key indicators of 

"nancial performance. There has been 

some improvement for 2011–12. For 

example, and unlike local authorities, 

strategic "nancial planning for health 

bodies has improved. Health bodies 

have also seen an improvement for 

KPIs and the overall position for 

"nancial governance has stabilised. 

However, the overall ratings remain 

signi"cantly lower than the overall local 

authority ratings.

As we noted in our 2011 report, 

the underlying causes of these "ndings 

predate SR10, and relate to long-term 

structural issues, particularly within 

the acute sector. Like local government, 

performance is varied, but the higher 

performing trusts are often very good 

at scenario planning and sensitivity 

analysis as a response to volatile 

demand-led costs and income, although 

the sector as a whole has dif"culty in 

delivering to these budgets.

 Red  Amber  Green

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Fi
na

nc
ia
l  

go
ve

rn
an

ce

2011 2010 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
fin

an
ci
al
  

pl
an

ni
ng

2011 2010 

KP
Is

2011 2010 

Fi
na

nc
ia
l c

on
tr
ol

2011 2010 

Page 165



16  Towards a tipping point?

About us

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a leading 

business and "nancial adviser with 

client-facing of"ces in 24 locations 

nationwide. While we understand 

regional differences and can respond to 

needs of local authorities, our clients 

can also have con"dence that our 

team of local government specialists is 

part of a "rm led by 200 partners and 

employing nearly 4,000 professionals, 

providing personalised audit, tax and 

specialist advisory services to over 

40,000 clients.

Grant Thornton has a well-

established market in the public sector, 

and has been working with local 

authorities for over 30 years. Our 

national team of experienced local 

government specialists, including those 

who have held senior positions within 

the sector, providing the growing range 

of assurance, tax and advisory services 

that our clients require. 

We are the leading "rm in the 

local government audit market, as the 

largest supplier of audit and related 

services to the Audit Commission with 

40% of local authorities in England 

as external audit clients. We also audit 

local authorities in Wales and Scotland 

via framework contracts with Audit 

Scotland and the Wales Audit Of"ce. 

We have over 180 local government 

and related body audit clients in 

the UK and over 75 local authority 

advisory clients. This includes London 

boroughs, county councils, district 

councils, city councils, unitaries and 

metropolitan authorities, as well as "re 

and police authorities. This depth of 

experience ensures that our solutions 

are grounded in reality and draw on 

best practice. Through proactive, client-

focused relationships, our teams deliver 

solutions in a distinctive and personal 

way, not pre-packaged products  

and services.

Our approach combines a deep 

knowledge of local government, 

supported by an understanding of 

wider public sector issues, drawn 

from working with associated delivery 

bodies, relevant central government 

departments and with private-sector 

organisations working in the sector. 

We take an active role in in#uencing 

and interpreting policy developments 

affecting local government and 

responding to Government 

consultation documents and their 

agencies. We regularly produce sector-

related thought leadership reports, 

typically based on national studies,  

and client brie"ngs on key issues.  

We also run seminars and events to 

share our thinking on local government 

and, more importantly, understand the 

challenges and issues facing our clients.

Contact us

Sarah Howard

T 0113 200 2530

E sarah.howard@uk.gt.com

Guy Clifton

T 020 7728 2903

E guy.clifton@uk.gt.com

Twitter @guy_clifton

Paul Dossett

Partner

T 020 7728 3180

E paul.dossett@uk.gt.com

Twitter @paul_dossett

Page 166



Page 167



 

 

member firms independently. This publication has been prepared only as a guide. No responsibility can be accepted  

by us for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from acting as a result of any material in this publication.

www.grant-thornton.co.uk

EPI957 Page 168



S 
AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

18 March 2013 
 

Internal Audit Plan 2013/14 

 
 

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2013/14 to the 

Committee. 
 
2. Under-pinning the work of the Internal Audit team in delivering the Annual Internal Audit 

Plan are the key principles and objectives as set out in the Internal Audit Charter and 
Strategy.  These are presented alongside the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2013/14 as 
good practice dictates that these are updated and reviewed on an annual basis. 

 
3. Also included in this report is the updated Internal Audit Reporting and Escalation Policy. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
4. Members are asked to consider the contents of this report and annexes, and to approve 

the following: 
 

(i) Internal Audit Charter (Annex A) 
(ii) The Internal Audit Strategy (Annex B) 
(iii) The Internal Audit Reporting and Escalation Policy (Annex C) 
(iv) 2013/14 Internal Audit Plan (Annex D) 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 
5. The statutory basis for Internal Audit in local government is provided in the Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2011 - which require a local authority to “undertake an adequate and 
effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of internal control”. 

 
6. The Accounts and Audit Regulations contain the expectation that Internal Audit will 

operate within acknowledged professional standards.  The Audit and Governance 
Committee has adopted the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), which come 
into effect on 1 April 2013, as the basis for Internal Audit in Surrey County Council.  

 
7. Internal Audit Charter (Annex A) 

The PSIAS require Internal Audit to have a Charter that has been formally approved and 
is regularly reviewed.  The Charter attached at Annex A has been developed in line with 
the PSIAS and replaces the Internal Audit Terms of Reference previously approved by 
this Committee.  In response to the recommendations contained within the 2012/13 
Review of the Effectiveness of the System of Internal Audit the Charter includes the 
following: 
 
(i) An explicit statement explaining that the scope of Internal Audit activity includes all 

the operations of the Council 

Item 10

Page 169



(ii) Reference to the resources available to Internal Audit (including access to 
hardware, software, information and training) 

(iii) An explicit statement confirming the requirement that Internal Audit activity is free 
from interference in determining the scope of activity, performing work and 
communicating results 

 
 
 
 

8. Internal Audit Strategy (Annex B) 
Under the PSIAS there is no longer a requirement to produce an Internal Audit Strategy.  
However the Chief Internal Auditor is of the opinion that this is a useful document that 
links the work of Internal Audit to the council’s vision to be the most effective council in 
England by 2017.  Through approving the Internal Audit Strategy for 2013-2017 alongside 
the Internal Audit Plan for 2013/14, the link between the work of Internal Audit and the 
high level strategic vision of the council is apparent. 
 
There have been no substantial changes to the Strategy previously approved by this 
Committee in April 2012. 
 

 
9. Internal Audit Reporting and Escalation Policy (Annex C) 

The Internal Audit Reporting and Escalation Policy has been updated to reflect the 
following: 
(i) the ability to view all Internal Audit reports on the council’s intranet 
(ii) the intention to alert the Head of Communications to Internal Audit reports 

attracting an “Unsatisfactory” or “Major Improvement Needed” audit opinion 
 

 
10. 2013/14 Internal Audit Plan (Annex D) 

 The Internal Audit Plan for 2013/14, which is a risk based programme of work, is set out at 
Annex D.  There are a number of core elements to the Internal Audit Plan which are likely 
to feature each year.  Certain audit activities are mandatory eg 
 
(i) Reviewing corporate governance arrangements to inform the Annual Governance 

Statement 
(ii) Grant Certification 
(iii) Irregularity contingency  
(iv) Participation in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) as coordinated by the Audit 

Commission 
 

 In addition to these mandatory elements, Internal Audit also carries out testing on an 
annual basis, of all the Council’s key financial systems.  Previously this work had included 
specific audit testing defined by the External Auditor.  Under the new external audit 
arrangements there is no requirement for Internal Audit to conduct such tests as the 
External Auditor does not place reliance on the work of Internal Audit.  The S151 Officer 
has however confirmed that, due to the significance of these systems – which essentially 
underpin most of the council’s transactions – theY should continue to be reviewed on an 
annual basis by Internal Audit unless specifically agreed otherwise. 

 
 Once these core elements of the Plan and follow up reviews are accounted for, the 

remaining audits shown in the proposed Plan have been included based on a risk priority 
which has been assessed following: 

 
(i) Consultation with: 

a. Heads of Service and other senior management 
b. Members of the Cabinet including the Leader of the Council 
c. Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
d. Head of Policy and Performance 

Page 170



e. S151 Officer 
f. The Risk and Governance Manager 
g. External Auditor 

 
(ii) Consideration of risk registers 
(iii) Areas of concern emerging from liaison with other Local Authority Internal Audit 

Sections 
 

 The draft Plan was also presented at a meeting of the Quality Board on 25 February 
2013.  

 
 Members will note that the Plan includes a number of days to support the council’s work 

on Innovation (included in the Cabinet forward plan for 26 March 2013).  It will also be 
noted that the number of days set aside for Irregularity and Special Investigation including 
Fraud Prevention has increased to 345 days from 301 days in 2012/13. This reflects the 
intention to develop a programme of data matching and interrogation which will form a key 
part of our counter fraud work as well inform the audit work for a number of specific audits 
included in the Plan.  

 
 The Chief Internal Auditor is confident that the draft Internal Audit Plan at Annex D 

provides comprehensive coverage across the council’s activities and addresses key areas 
of risk.  The Internal Audit team is sufficiently resourced to deliver this programme of work 
which will enable the Chief Internal Auditor to provide an opinion on the adequacy of the 
Council’s system of internal control for 2013/14. 

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
11. The Internal Audit team will deliver the 2013/14 Internal Audit Plan and Internal Audit 

reports will be produced and distributed in line with the Reporting and Escalation Policy. 
 
12. Completed audit reports will continue to be presented to the Committee throughout the 

year and an update on performance against the 2013/13 Plan will be reported to the 
Committee in December 2013. 

 

 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor 
 
 
CONTACT DETAILS:  telephone: 020 8541 9190 e-mail sue.lewry-jones@surreycc.gov.uk,  
 
 

Page 171



Page 172

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ANNEX A 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER  
 
1.  Purpose 
 
The Internal Audit Charter describes the purpose, authority and responsibilities of 
Surrey County Council’s Internal Audit service.  The Charter shall be reviewed 
annually and approved by the Audit and Governance Committee.  The Chief Internal 
Auditor is responsible for applying this Charter and keeping it up to date.  
 
2. Statutory Requirement 
 
Within local government the requirement for an Internal Audit function is statutory.  
The Accounts and Audit Regulations (2011) requires every local authority to maintain 
an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of 
internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal control.   
 
In addition, the Council's Chief Financial Officer has a statutory duty under Section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to establish a clear framework for the proper 
administration of the authority's financial affairs.  To perform that duty the Section 
151 Officer relies, amongst other things, upon the work of Internal Audit in reviewing 
the operation of systems of internal control and financial management. 
 
3. Standards and best practice 
  
The work of Internal Audit will be performed with due professional care and in 
accordance with the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations (2011) and with any other relevant statutory 
obligations and regulations. 
 
4. Responsibilities and Objectives 
 
The PSIAS define internal auditing as “an independent, objective assurance and 
consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations.   
It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes.” 
 
Internal Audit is not responsible for control systems.  Responsibility for effective 
internal control rests with the management of the council.   
 
5. Independence  
 
Internal Audit is independent of all activities that it audits to enable auditors to 
perform their duties in a way that allows them to make impartial and effective 
professional judgements and recommendations without giving rise to conflicts of 
interest.  Internal Auditors shall have no direct operational responsibility or authority 
over any of the activities they review.  Accordingly, they shall not develop or install 
systems or procedures, prepare records, or engage in any other activity which would 
normally be audited. 
 
Internal Audit activity must be free from interference in determining the scope of 
activity, performing work and communicating results. 
 

Page 173



 2

6. Reporting Lines 

Internal Audit is part of the Policy and Performance Service within the Chief 
Executive’s Office Directorate. 

There are a number of reporting lines in place to enable Internal Audit to be 
independent of the management of the organisation.  There are seven specific lines 
of accountability for the Chief Internal Auditor: 

(i) To the Head of Policy and Performance – who reports to the Assistant 
Chief Executive - in respect of achievement of the priorities as set out in 
the Policy and Performance  Service Plan; and, the inter-relationship with 
the wider performance improvement agenda; 

(ii) To the Head of Finance in respect of her statutory Section 151 
responsibilities, including the investigation of irregularities; 

(iii) To the Chief Executive as required in respect of investigation of matters 
requiring referral to them;    

(iv) To the Cabinet Portfolio Holder as required in respect of matters falling 
within their remit; 

(v) To the Audit and Governance Committee (‘the Board’ as defined in 
PSIAS) in discharging the corporate responsibility for Internal Audit under 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations (2011); 

(vi) To the Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees in conjunction 
with the Audit and Governance Committee on matters relating to their 
specific service areas; and/or 

(vii) To the Leader of the Council, as appropriate. 

Specifically, the Chief Internal Auditor must have free and unfettered access to the 
Chief Executive and Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
7. Scope  
 
Internal Audit may review any aspect of the council’s activities and the Chief Internal 
Auditor is required to give an annual opinion on the effectiveness of the whole of its 
internal control system, and the extent to which the council can rely on it.   
 
In support of this, Internal Audit undertake risk-based reviews and evaluations of the 
control environment (including, where appropriate, those of external bodies and 
partnerships).  The work of Internal Audit is set out in the Annual Internal Audit Plan.  
This Plan is designed to support the Annual Internal Audit Opinion and the council’s 
Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Internal Audit may undertake work for new clients by extending its work to third 
parties including schools and Parish councils.  All engagements will be performed in 
accordance with this Charter to an agreed schedule of audit days.   
 
8. Reporting  
 
The responsibility for how audits will be reported rests with the Chief Internal Auditor.  
On the completion of each audit the findings and draft recommendations will be 
discussed with the responsible officer(s).  In accordance with the Internal Audit 
Reporting and Escalation Policy a draft report summarising the work done, 
conclusions and recommendations will be issued to the responsible officer(s) for 

Page 174



 3

them to confirm its factual accuracy.  A final report is circulated along with an agreed 
management action plan. 
 
There are normally standard timeframes for the individual stages above to occur and 
these are agreed with services as a part of liaison arrangements. 
 
All final audit reports – with the exception of irregularity reports – and their completed 
management action plans are made available to the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder and all members of the Audit and Governance Committee. In addition, after 
each meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee, a list of completed audits is 
compiled for distribution to all elected Members of the Council informing them of audit 
work completed. 
 
The Chief Internal Auditor will seek to co-ordinate Internal Audit plans and activities 
with managers, external audit, inspection bodies and other review agencies to ensure 
the most effective audit coverage is achieved and duplication of effort is minimised. 
 
The Chief Internal Auditor will bring to the attention of the Audit and Governance 
Committee all issues relating to the control environment of the authority and the 
mechanisms by which Internal Audit provides assurance. 
 
9. Right of Access and Authority to Obtain Information 
 
In order for Internal Audit to discharge its responsibilities, it is granted full, free and 
unrestricted access to all council records, assets, personnel and premises as 
considered necessary for the purposes of the audit from any Member, officer, agent 
or contractor of the County Council.  This is set down in the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and is outlined on individual identity cards held by every auditor.   
 
This access should be granted on demand and is not subject to prior notice, and 
extends to partner bodies and external contractors working on behalf of the council.  
Documents and information given to Internal Audit during a review will be handled in 
the same prudent and/or confidential manner as by those employees normally 
accountable for them. 
 
10. Annual Governance Statement  
 
Annually the Chief Internal Auditor provides to the Audit and Governance Committee 
an overall opinion on the County Council’s internal control environment, risk 
management arrangements and governance framework to support the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
 
11. Fraud & Corruption 
 
Managing the risk of fraud and corruption is the responsibility of management.  
Internal Audit procedures alone, even when performed with due professional care, 
cannot guarantee that fraud or corruption will be detected.  Internal Audit does not 
have responsibility for the detection or prevention of fraud and corruption but does 
undertake periodic activities to promote an anti-fraud and anti-corruption culture.  
 
Investigations into potential financial irregularities are undertaken by Internal Audit 
whether reported directly to Internal Audit, through the Council’s whistle blowing 
policy, or through Expolink, the Council’s external whistle-blowing hotline.  Such 
investigations are as far as possible conducted sensitively and confidentially, but the 
scope and manner of the investigation is dependent on the nature of the allegations.  

Page 175



 4

Irregularity investigations often require the work to be undertaken without prior notice 
being given to local management and may also require referral to the police or other 
enforcement agencies. 
 
In certain cases Internal Audit may delegate the investigation of specific allegations 
to the service itself following an assessment of risk and financial impact. 
 
On completion, findings are reported to an appropriate level of management, who will 
then be responsible for determining the action to be taken. 
 
12. Consultancy Work 
 
Due to its detailed knowledge of County systems and processes Internal Audit is well 
placed to provide advice and support to services on issues of value for money and 
process re-engineering. 
 
The Chief Internal Auditor shall seek the approval of the Audit and Governance 
Committee for any significant additional consultancy services not already included in 
the Annual Audit Plan prior to accepting the engagement. 
 
In order to help services to develop greater understanding of audit work and have a 
point of contact in relation to any support they may need, Internal Audit has put in 
place a set of service liaison arrangements that provides a specific named contact for 
each service and regular liaison meetings.  The arrangements also enable Internal 
Audit to keep in touch with key developments within services that may impact on its 
work. 
 
13. Resources  
 
The work of Internal Audit is driven by the annual Internal Audit Plan, which is 
approved each year by the Audit and Governance Committee.  
 
The Annual Plan is derived from a risk-weighting of the known ‘audit universe’, 
prioritising potential audits in terms of their significance in risk terms.  The 
methodology for determining risk takes account of both financial and non-financial 
factors, and is in line with good practice. 
 
Activities identified within a given year in the annual Internal Audit Plan are audited 
using a variety of standard methodologies and the key financial systems are audited 
using a systems-based approach.  Separate contingency time is allowed in the 
Annual Plan for irregularity-related activities, grant claim audit, audit management 
time, consultancy work, follow-up audits and other duties. 
 
Against this list of audits is matched a determination of the available resource (in 
terms of productive days available across the team) and a ‘cut-off’ point is reached 
where the risk-ranked list of audits can be resourced by the available days. 
 
In addition to appropriate staffing, Internal Audit must have access to appropriate IT 
hardware and software (including audit management software and data interrogation 
tools) to enable delivery of the audit plan. 
 
If the Chief Internal Auditor has concerns regarding the level of resources, these will 
be raised with the Section 151 Officer at the earliest opportunity.  Inadequate 
resourcing of the Internal Audit activity may result in the Chief Internal Auditor being 
unable to provide an annual opinion on the council’s internal control environment. 

Page 176



 5

 
14. Training 
 
Internal Audit will be appropriately staffed in terms of numbers, professional 
qualifications and experience, having regard to its objective and standards.  The 
staffing of Internal Audit will be kept under review by the Chief Internal Auditor and 
the Audit and Governance Committee.  Internal Audit staff will be properly trained to 
fulfil their responsibilities and will maintain their professional competence through an 
appropriate ongoing development programme. 
 
15. Due Professional Care 
 
Internal Audit will conform to the PSIAS Code of Ethics: (i) Integrity; (ii) Objectivity; 
(iii) Confidentiality; and, (iv) Competency. 
  
If individual auditors have membership of another professional body then he or she 
must also comply with the relevant requirements of that organisation 
 
In carrying out their work, Internal Auditors must exercise due professional care by 
considering: 

(i) The extent of work needed to achieve the required objectives; 

(ii) The relative complexity, materiality or significance of matters to which 
assurance procedures should be applied; and 

(iii) The adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
control processes; 

(iv) The probability of significant errors, fraud or non-compliance; and 

(v) The cost of assurance in proportion to the potential benefits.  

 
Internal Auditors will also have due regard to the Seven Principles of Public Life – 
Selflessness; Integrity, Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Honesty; and 
Leadership. 
 
16. Quality Assurance 
 
The Chief Internal Auditor will control the work of Internal Audit at each level of 
operation to ensure that a continuously effective level of performance – compliant 
with the PSIAS is maintained.  
 
Annually, an independent assessor will review the effectiveness of Internal Audit 
against the prescribed standards.  Instances of non-conformance with the PSIAS, 
including the impact of any such non-conformance, must be disclosed to the Audit 
and Governance Committee.  Any significant deviations must be considered for 
inclusion in the council’s Annual Governance Statement. 
 
17. Internal Audit Strategy 
 
The Chief Internal Auditor will develop and maintain a Strategy for delivering the 
Internal Audit service, including how the service will be provided.  The Strategy will 
state how the assurance for the Annual Internal Audit Opinion will be demonstrated.  
This will include how the Chief Internal Auditor will review the Council’s corporate 
governance arrangements, risk management processes and key internal control 
systems. 

Page 177



 6

 
The annual Internal Audit Plan is designed to implement the Strategy, and both are 
approved by the Audit and Governance Committee on behalf of the council.  Any 
difference between the Plan and the resources available will be identified and 
reported separately. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APRIL 2013 

Page 178



 

 1

ANNEX B 

Internal Audit Strategy 2013-2017 
 
1. Mission Statement: 
 
“Internal Audit exists to support the vision of Surrey County Council to be the most 
effective council in England by 2017. Specifically it will promote and champion sound 
governance and help drive improvement through the provision of an effective and 
timely assurance function which ensures that key business controls and risks are 
addressed, stakeholder needs are met, and value for money is achieved.” 
 
2. Purpose of the Strategy: 
 
The purpose of this Strategy is to put in place a framework that will enable Internal 
Audit to be managed in such a way that will facilitate: 
 

 The provision to the Audit and Governance Committee of an overall opinion 
each year on the County Council’s internal control environment, risk 
management arrangements and governance framework to support the 
Council’s Annual Governance Statement, in line with the Committee’s Terms 
of Reference. 

 
 Risk-based audits of the control, risk management, and governance 
systems through the annual Audit Plan in a way that affords priority of 
coverage with regard to the County Council’s strategic and business 
objectives and provides evidence to form the opinion on the control 
environment. 

 

 The identification of resources required to deliver an Internal Audit service 
that meets the required professional and ethical standards. 

 

 Provision to the Council’s management of recommendations and advice 
arising from Internal Audit work. 

 

 Provision of assurance and consultancy services by Internal Audit, 
addressing significant local and national issues as they arise through 
appropriate allocation of resources in the annual Audit Plan. 

 

 Effective co-operation with both the External Auditor and, through the 
Head of Policy and Performance, other regulators. 

 
For every audit undertaken, Internal Audit will strive to provide assurance on the 
governance arrangements in place, identify areas of weakness where these exist and 
recommend improvements that will lead to better outcomes for residents and better 
value for money. 
 
 
3. Features of the strategic approach: 
 
The Strategy has the following features: 
 

 It is functionally driven – the audit ‘universe’ consists of all areas of 
operational activity (or, where appropriate, sub-areas of activity).   

 

Page 179



 

 2

 Operational activities are audited on a periodic basis determined by a risk 
assessment undertaken within Internal Audit in accordance with best practice.  
The annual Audit Plan is prepared on the basis of risk-assessed audit need, 
and is then matched to the available resources. 

 

 Internal Audit takes a systems-based audit approach to most service area 
reviews but more in-depth checking of compliance with statutory 
requirements and internal procedures and policies may also be undertaken 
where appropriate. This combination of systems-based and compliance 
auditing is aimed at providing an overall assurance to the Council on the 
adequacy of its control environment. Should the status of the Council’s 
functions and/or control environment change so that in the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s opinion it is no longer possible to maintain such a service within the 
resources available then she reserves the right to report that fact to the Chief 
Executive and the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

 Separate contingency time is allowed in the Annual Plan for fraud-related 
activities, audit management time, consultancy work, follow-up audits and 
other duties. 

 

 Work is not outsourced to third party audit suppliers: the strategy 
determines an in-house service provision to be the most effective way to 
provide the required assurances.  Where Internal Audit have particular 
expertise precedent exists for selling limited services to neighbouring local 
authorities to supplement their audit resource, providing there is no 
detrimental effect on the Council’s own audit coverage. 

 
 
Internal Audit 
Policy and Performance  
April 2013 
 
 

Page 180



Page 1 of 7 

 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit  
Reporting and Escalation 

Policy 
   

Internal Audit 
Policy and Performance 
Chief Executive’s Office 
April 2013 
Version 1.12 

Page 181



Page 2 of 7 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

INTRODUCTION:  
 
REPORTING:  
 

Draft Report 

Exit meeting 

Management Action Plan 

Ownership of the Management Action Plan 

Final Report and agreed MAP   

MAP Escalation Procedure 

Distribution list  

Structure and contents 

Protective marking  

Summary of completed audits for Members  
  
ESCALATION:  

Follow up reviews 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VERSION CONTROL:  

Page 182



Page 3 of 7 

 

INTRODUCTION:  

 

1. Timely and appropriate management responses to Internal Audit reports enable the 
Council to demonstrate that it maintains high standards of internal control and 
governance in line with corporate objectives.  

 
2.  The Audit and Governance Committee have approved this policy in order to ensure that 

issues are remedied in an appropriate and timely manner.  
 
REPORTING:  
 
3.  With the exception of investigations into alleged irregularities (which are subject to 

separate arrangements not covered in this policy), the following reporting and escalation 
arrangements apply to all audit reviews undertaken by Internal Audit.  

 
Draft Report 
 
4. Following completion of an audit review the auditor will produce a draft report, which is 

issued to the responsible manager, (the auditee). The auditee will be asked to comment 
on the factual accuracy of the report and attend an exit meeting with the auditor within 5 
working days. In this context ‘factually accurate’ means that the auditor’s report and 
recommendations are based on a correct interpretation of the systems or circumstances 
pertaining to the review.  

 
Exit meeting 
 
5. The exit meeting is held with the auditee and other officers as appropriate. It is during this 

meeting that key points arising from the audit, factual amendments and 
recommendations for improvement are discussed. Where possible service actions 
addressing audit recommendations should be captured for inclusion in a draft 
management action plan (MAP).  

 
Management Action Plan production   
 
6.  Following the exit meeting a draft MAP and revised draft report will be produced for 

distribution to the auditee, Head of Service and other key officers involved in the audit. 
Auditees must obtain agreement from their Head of Service as to the proposed actions to 
be included in the MAP. The relevant Head of Service will be recorded in the MAP as the 
Responsible Officer.  Where actions rest with one or more service, the Head of Service 
responsible for the business activity reviewed will be deemed the Responsible Officer.  

 
7. The service then has 10 working days to return a populated MAP and any further 

comments on factual accuracy to the auditor. As part of this process the service is 
responsible for ensuring that named officers with responsibility for individual actions 
within the MAP are sufficiently briefed and accepting of such responsibility before the 
MAP is returned to Internal Audit.  

 
Ownership of the Management Action Plan 
 

8. Whilst individual actions within the MAP may rest with one or more officers, the Head of 
Service has overall accountability for timely completion of the actions in the MAP, and is 
required to inform Internal Audit if timescales are likely to be missed. In assigning their 
name to the MAP, Heads of Service are confirming that they accept responsibility for 
completion of the actions therein. 

 

Page 183



Page 4 of 7 

9. Where MAPs involve recommendations for more than one service, each relevant Head of 
Service must provide confirmation that they accept responsibility for those actions related 
to their service area. 

 

10. In either case, the auditor will assume that the auditee has consulted with those officers 
listed as responsible for individual actions in the MAP, prior to said officers being 
assigned responsibility for those actions.  

 
 
Final Report and agreed MAP  

 

12. Upon receipt of the populated MAP the auditor will consider if the actions therein are 
appropriate. If the auditor is satisfied that all factual points have been addressed; that the 
service has no outstanding concerns with the report, and that the MAP sufficiently 
addresses all the findings raised in the audit report, then the final report and MAP can be 
issued.  

 
13. Final reports should be issued together with the populated MAP, both of which 

must be in PDF format. See paragraph 25 below. 
 
MAP Escalation Procedure 
 
14. If the MAP is not returned to deadline, or in the auditor’s opinion does not adequately 

address the issues raised, the Chief Internal Auditor or Audit Performance Managers will 
discuss their concerns with the Head of Service. If that discussion does not result in a 
MAP acceptable to Internal Audit the issue will be referred to the relevant Strategic 
Director for a decision.  

 
15. The Strategic Director’s decision will be either to agree an acceptable MAP on behalf of 

the Head of Service, which must then be implemented within the agreed timescale, or to 
accept the position and acknowledge that the Strategic Director accepts the risk. Risks 
tolerated in this manner should be entered into the service risk register.  

 
16. If in the opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor the Strategic Director’s decision exposes the 

Council to an unacceptable level of risk, the matter will be referred first to the Chief 
Executive and then to the Audit and Governance Committee.   

 
17. Depending upon the time taken in escalating MAP completion, the Chief Internal Auditor 

reserves the right to issue the final report without the agreed MAP. 
 
Distribution list  

 

18. The front cover of the agreed final audit report should list the officers for whom the report 
has been prepared. This includes the auditee, the Head of Service and other key officers 
as set out in the agreed Terms of Reference.  

 
19. The inside cover to the report should include a table showing who else the report has 

been circulated to. If any people in this list are included on the front cover of the report it 
will not be necessary to include them in the circulation list. The following distribution 
list may not apply should the Chief Internal Auditor deem the report to be of a 
particularly sensitive nature.   

 

• The External Auditor (through the Lotus Notes group email address) 

• Responsible manager’s level 4 report; 

• Relevant Head of Service;  

• Service Finance Manager;  

• Risk and Governance Manager;  

Page 184



Page 5 of 7 

• Section 151 Officer;  

• Relevant Strategic Director(s);  

• All members of the Audit and Governance Committee;  

• Relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder;  

• Chairman of the relevant select committee; and  

• Procurement (if applicable  - see 22) 
  

20. There may also be a requirement to circulate the final report to other officers not included 
in the above list e.g. where that officer is required to action one of the audit 
recommendations. Where this individual is known at the time of issuing the final report 
their details should be included in the circulation table.  

 
21. In all cases the Head of Policy and Performance and the Chief Internal Auditor should be 

included in the email circulation of the final audit report - this is for information purposes 
only, so they do not need to be included in the report distribution table referred to above. 
The Head of Policy and Performance will also ensure that where appropriate to do so 
final audit reports will be forwarded onto the relevant Performance Lead managers.  

 
22. All audit reports for Procurement, or reports that have recommendations for 

Procurement, should be copied to Derek Lancaster. 

 

23. If an audit report has an audit opinion of “Unsatisfactory” or “Major Improvement Needed” 
the Chief Internal Auditor will draw this to the attention of the Head of Communications. 

 

Structure and contents 
 
24. The standard reporting template is found on the Internal Audit shared drive, under: G:\CS 

Audit Team\Documentation\Galileo Templates. 
 
25. In order to aid the reader’s understanding of the report, a glossary of acronyms should be 

included as a table on the inside of the front cover under the distribution list.  
 
26. Final audit reports and MAPs should be saved as a PDF document using the format 

below. Where practical the two documents should be joined as one PDF document.  
 
 Audit name-year-Final Report  
 For example: IFRS-09-10-Fin Rep  
 
Protective marking  

 

27. Both draft and final reports should be marked in accordance with the County Council’s 
Protective Marking Policy, a copy of which is on the ‘News’ section of Galileo.  

 
28. The Chief Internal Auditor has determined that of the three levels of marking applicable to 

local government the third category – Restricted – is likely not to be relevant to audit 
reports. Consequently reports will generally either be marked as ‘Protect’ or not marked 
at all, in accordance with the extract from the Policy below:  

 
“Information created or held by the council must be classified as either:  

 

• NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED or UNMARKED: The document may have no 
markings on it or may be positively marked as NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED. 
Anyone is permitted to see the documents internally or externally; the documents 
may be published on the web or in paper form.  

 

Page 185



Page 6 of 7 

• PROTECT: Only available to a limited number of staff. Documents should be clearly 
marked as PROTECT. The information should be handled with care following the 
guidance laid out in Appendix B of the Policy.  

 
29. If an auditor is in doubt whether a report should be marked “Protect” or otherwise they 

should seek guidance from the Chief Internal Auditor or an Audit Performance Managers.  
 
30. Where the Protect marking is used, the following paragraph must be added to the front 

cover of the draft and final report above the date of issue, and should also be included in 
the email containing the report:  

 
Please note that this report has been prepared by the County Council's Internal Audit 
team for the use of management in connection with the discharge of the Council's 
business and has been marked as PROTECT due to the sensitive nature of its content. 
A copy is being provided to you on the express understanding that it enables you to 
carry out your role as an officer or Member of the Council. It is not to be copied or in 
any way shared with any other person outside the Council. 

 
 Summary of completed audits for Members  

 

31. The Chief Internal Auditor will report on all audits completed since the previous meeting 
to the Audit and Governance Committee, summarising the reason for the audit, the key 
findings, the risks resulting from those findings and the recommendations for 
improvement. The Audit and Governance Committee then considers whether there are 
any reports that it would like to review in more detail at a future meeting. A list of 
completed audit reports for the period (together with a link to full copies of those reports) 
is circulated to all members following the meeting of Audit and Governance Committee.  

 
32. Should the Audit and Governance Committee require an update on completion of actions 

for a particular audit, the relevant Head of Service is responsible for informing the Chief 
Internal Auditor of what actions have been completed or providing an explanation for any 
delay in, or change to, the action being taken.  

 
ESCALATION:  
 
Follow up reviews 
 
33. A formal follow-up review of the progress made in implementing recommendations 

agreed within the MAP may be programmed into the annual Internal Audit Plan at a time 
the Chief Internal Auditor considers appropriate.  

 
34. Upon completion of the follow-up review the auditor will report to the Responsible Officer 

drawing attention to any actions that have not been completed by the agreed date. A 
copy of the follow-up report will be sent to the full distribution list set out above.  

 
34. In addition, the Chief Internal Auditor will provide a report, at least bi-annually, to the 

Audit and Governance Committee on progress in implementing MAPs agreed for audits 
completed.  

 
Audit and Governance Committee 

 

35. The Head of Service may be required to attend the Audit and Governance Committee to 
answer questions on the reasons for the non-completion of agreed action or delay in 
implementation, and the remedial action to be taken.  

 
36. The Audit and Governance Committee having considered the report and the evidence 

provided by the Head of Service will either agree the remedial actions proposed or, if they 

Page 186



Page 7 of 7 

consider the position unsatisfactory, will refer the matter to the relevant select committee 
or to the Cabinet as necessary.  

 

Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
37. The Chief Internal Auditor provides a report for each meeting of the Council Overview     
      and Scrutiny Committee listing all audits completed in the period.  For those audits 

attracting an audit opinion of “Major Improvement Needed” or “Unsatisfactory” a summary 
of the key findings and recommendations for these audits is also provided.  The Council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may require officers to attend to provide updates on 
progress on implementing audit recommendations and/or may refer the matter to the 
relevant Select Committee or Cabinet member. 
 

VERSION CONTROL:  
 
1.0  Approved by Audit and Governance Committee 19/11/08  Effective from 01/12/2008  

1.1  Amended to include Strategic Director in circulation  Effective from 24/02/2009  

1.2  Amended to reflect comments made at Audit and Governance 
Committee 19/03/09  

Effective from 01/04/2009  

1.3  Amended to reflect Directorate/ Service Restructure  Effective from 11/01/2010  

1.4  Amended to reflect Protect designation, revised timescales for 
draft and final reporting times, additional distribution 
requirements, and incorporation of additional guidance on 
Galileo in this one document  

Draft 01/03/10  

1.5  As agreed at Audit and Governance Committee 29/03/2010  Effective from 01/04/2010  

1.6  Updated following CLT request for MAP ownership to be at 
Head of Service (or above) level.  

Effective from 04/05/2010  

1.7 Updated to highlight the requirement to issue the Final Report 
and MAP together, plus reflect changes to the audit manual. 

Effective from 09/07/2010 

1.8 Updated to reflect the responsibility of the Head of Service to 
inform Internal Audit if timescales in the MAP are likely to be 
missed. 

Effective from 20/08/2010 

1.9 Revised following Internal Audit team comments. Effective from 23/09/2010 

1.10 Amended to reflect new Service Name  Effective from 01/04/2011 

1.11 Amendments as reported to A&G committee on 05/04/2012 Effective from 05/04/2012 

1.12 Amendments as reported to A&G committee on 18/03/2012 Effective from 18/03/2012 

 

Page 187



Page 188

This page is intentionally left blank



Internal Audit Surrey County Council ANNEX D 
 

Draft Internal Audit Plan 2013/14 

*MAN = Mandatory 

Audit 
Days 

2012/13  
Risk 
Score* 

Audit 
Days 

2013/14 

    

40 Corporate Governance Arrangements   40 

  AGS - Internal Audit Opinion MAN  

  Corporate Governance - CRSA MAN  

  Risk Management Arrangements audit review MAN  

  Corporate Governance support MAN  

    

200 Key financial and Non-financial Systems   200 

  Financial Assessments and Benefits 101  

  SAP Application controls - policy, roles and access 99  

  Accounts Payable 99  

  Capital expenditure monitoring 97  

  Payroll 97  

  Accounts Receivable 96  

  Revenue budget control 94  

  Treasury Management 94  

  General Ledger 93  

  Pension Administration 85  

  Pension Fund Investments 84  

    

30 Grants  20 

  EU Grants MAN  

  Government Grants MAN  

    

110 Contract Reviews  120 

  UNICORN (Public Service Network) 86  

  Supply of ASC Equipment  83  

  Central contract management 79  

  Youth Service Commissions 79  

  Library Service global transport van service 76  

  Walton Bridge contract  76  

 Service Reviews   

150 ASC Domiciliary care external providers 85 135 

  
Supported Accommodation & Independent Living 
Service(SAILS) 85  

  Serious Case Review - recommendation tracking 83  

  AIS assessment process 82  

  ASC Safeguarding Assurance Process 80  

  ASC Commissioning Framework 79  

     

295 CSF Schools compliance 88 230 

  ICS Phase 2 - Payments to providers 86  

  Free school meals 82  

  Schools SFVS process 82  

  Community Homes 81  

  SIMS  81  

  Short Stay Schools 78  

  Homes for Children with Disabilities 78  

Page 189



Internal Audit Surrey County Council ANNEX D 
 

Draft Internal Audit Plan 2013/14 

*MAN = Mandatory 

 Audit 
Days 

2012/13  
Risk 
Score* 

Audit 
Days 

2013/14 

     

50 C&C Adult and Community Learning 84 75 

  Customer Services 79  

  Surrey Arts 78  

  Music Tuition 77  

  Blue Badges 77  

     

315 C&E Property Asset Management system (PAMS) 91 298 

  Social Care Debt 85  

  SFRS Capital Project Management 83  

  Surrey Local Assistance Scheme 83  

  Finance Dashboard 80  

  Insurance 79  

  Management of CITRIX systems 79  

  Data Centre 79  

  Imprest Accounts 79  

  Smallholdings 78  

  Shared Service Partnership arrangements 78  

  Officer Interests 78  

  Appraisal and PDP 78  

  Energy Management 78  

  Employee Expenses 78  

  People Strategy 76  

  Trust Funds 76  

     

65 CEO Information Governance 82 75 

  Communications 81  

  Support of Cabinet and Member Scrutiny 78  

  Community Budgets 78  

  Community Improvement Fund 77  

     

105 E&I Carbon Reduction Scheme MAN 130 

  Waste Charges 87  

  Waste Data System 84  

  Local Sustainable Transport Fund 80  

  Asset Management (Highways) 79  

  Highway Property Information  79  

  European office 77  

     

10 PH Public Health 84 30 

    

50 Follow-up Audits including  50 

  Direct Payments   

  Residential Care Homes   

  
Children in care dental and health checks 
Special Schools – in-house residential   

  Purchase Cards    

    

Page 190



Internal Audit Surrey County Council ANNEX D 
 

Draft Internal Audit Plan 2013/14 

*MAN = Mandatory 

    

Audit 
Days 

2012/13  
Risk 
Score* 

Audit 
Days 

2013/14 

    

136 Client support and Service liaison   136 

    

50 Innovation support/follow-up  50 

    

301 
Irregularity and Special Investigation including Fraud 

Prevention  345 

  NFI - support to other LAs   

  NFI Data Matching Exercise   

  Audit Web Page   

  Anti fraud and data interrogation   

  Irregularity contingency   

294 
Internal Management, Corporate Support and 

Organisational Learning   294 

  Audit Planning and Management   

  Audit Manual and Effectiveness Review Action Plan   

  
Corporate Support 
Audit Management System Upgrade   

  Audit and Governance Committee Support   

  Member Support and Training   

     

2201  Total Audit Days  2228 

 
 

Page 191



Page 192

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

S 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
18 March 2013 

 

Completed Internal Audit Reports 

 
 

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

 
The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the Internal Audit reports that have been 
completed since the last meeting of this Committee in February 2013 - as attached at Annex A.   
 
Although it is not the Committee’s policy to review all Internal Audit reports in detail during the 
meeting, full copies of the reports summarised have been provided to Members of the 
Committee. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
The Committee is asked to consider whether there are any audit reports or management action 
plans that it would like to review further and whether there are any matters they wish to refer to 
the relevant Select Committee. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

 
1 At the conclusion of each audit review a report is issued to the responsible manager who is 

asked to complete an action plan responding to the recommendations. 
 
2 The return of a management action plan (MAP), which in the auditor’s opinion adequately 

addresses the report findings and recommendations, signals the end of the audit process.  
Any follow up work required forms part of future audit plans at the appropriate time. 

 
3 There have been 4 audit reports issued since the last report to this Committee in February 

2013. The table below lists those audits and shows the audit opinion and number of high 
priority recommendations included in the Management Action Plan.   

 

 Audit Opinion Number of 
recommendations 

rated as High Priority 

1 Members' Disclosures and 
Declarations 
 

Effective  0 

2 Corporate Governance 
Policies 

Some Improvement Needed 0 

3 Financial Assessments and 
Charging 

Some Improvement Needed 1 

4 Network Controls Effective 0 

 

Item 11

Page 193



 

 

4 Annex A contains more details of the audits listed above and shows for each the: 

· title of the audit 

· background to the review 

· key findings 

· overall audit opinion 

· key recommendations for improvement 
 

5 The Committee will be aware that in order to respond to general Member interest in Internal 
Audit reports it has previously been agreed that a list of completed reports will be circulated 
to all Members of the County Council on a periodic basis. 

 
6 In order to fully discharge its duties in relation to governance the Committee is asked to 

review the attached list of recently completed Internal Audit reports and determine whether 
there are any matters that it would like to review further or if it would like to suggest another 
Select Committee does so. 

 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

 
7 A completed audit reports item, featuring the above audits was presented to Council 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 13 March 2013.    
 
 

IMPLICATIONS: 

 
8     Financial  
          Equalities 

 Risk management and value for money 
 

9 There are no direct implications (relating to finance, equalities, risk management or value 
for money) arising from this report.  Any such matters highlighted as part of the audit work 
referred to in this report, would be progressed through the agreed Internal Audit Reporting 
and Escalation Policy 

 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
10 See recommendations above. 
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Sue Lewry-Jones, Chief Internal Auditor, Policy and Performance 
 
CONTACT DETAILS:  telephone: 020 8541 9190 e-mail sue.lewry-jones@surreycc.gov.uk,  
 
Sources/background papers:  Final audit reports and agreed management action plans 

Page 194



Completed Audit Reports (January 2013 – March 2013) Annex A 

 

Audit Background to review Key findings Audit 
opinion (1)  
 

Recommendations for 
improvement (Priority) (2) 

Members’ 
Disclosures 
and 
Declarations 

The External Audit Annual 
Governance Statement for 
2011/12 was presented to A&G 
Committee on 3rd September 
2012. This included the following 
recommendation: 

· ensure all members' and 
officers' annual declarations 
are assessed for 
reasonableness and 
completeness against officers' 
expectations 

 
The Chief Finance Officer 
requested that Internal Audit 
undertake a follow-up audit of the 
members’ registration of interests 
 

Surrey County Council members are 
required to publically disclose 
information under two systems. One is 
under legislation pertaining to “The 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulation 2012”. 
The second system is under 
International Accounting Standard (IAS 
24), which the council is required to 
comply with. Members complete a 
paper form of any related-party 
disclosures on an annual basis. 
Both systems rely on members 
providing relevant, accurate and up to 
date information. 
 
 The internal process managed by the 
officers provided assurances there was 
a process for the members to complete 
their disclosures and declarations, 
although there were no formal checks 
made to validate member’s 
declarations. 

Effective Introduce a method of sampling 
members related party disclosure 
submissions for accuracy and 
completeness. (M) 

Network 
Controls 

This review looked at the project 
and specification model for the 
new Wide Area Network to be  
provided through British Telecom 
from 1 April 2013 
 

The project demonstrates significant 
alignment with central government’s 
strategic plan for increasing partnership 
working for the procurement of 
information infrastructure.  

Effective None 

P
age 195



 

Audit Background to 
review 

Key findings Audit 
opinion (1)  
 

Recommendations for 
improvement (Priority) (2) 

Financial 
Assessments 
and Charging 

Adults Social Care (ASC) 
is currently transferring 
financial assessments 
from the ABACUS 
system to the SWIFT 
system. There are 
approximately 5,000 
clients billed through 
SAP every month for 
annual contributions to 
their social care of 
£38.5m. The majority of 
service users are billed 
in relation to a residential 
service. 

The migration to assessment in SWIFT 
has been slower than initially hoped. 
Over 90% of residential service users 
now have a current assessment on 
SWIFT but there has been a delay in 
transferring the service users with non-
residential care. The target for the 
completion of the migration to SWIFT is 
31 March 2013, although it is likely this 
will overrun. There is a programme to 
transfer the remaining service users in 
tranches but it relies on the capacity of 
the ASC teams.  
 
A key area of the migration has been to 
ensure data quality in terms of correct 
assessments, and so frequent 
comparisons were made to compare the 
before and after migration effect on 
charges raised to ensure all were billed 
correctly, thus offsetting the delay in the 
ability to record the check in SWIFT. 
 
The audit found that one area team has 
not been completing the required 5% 
management check of all financial 
assessments. 

Some 
Improvement 
Needed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It is recommended that the resourcing 
of the migration programme is 
reviewed to ensure it meets 
management requirements. (M) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Management should ensure the 5% 
sample checks are undertaken for all 
assessments in line with agreed 
procedures. (H) 

  

P
age 196



Audit Background to 
review 

Key findings Audit 
opinion (1)  
 

Recommendations for 
improvement (Priority) (2) 

Corporate 
Governance 
Policies – 
Control Risk 
Self 
Assessment 

SCC’s Code of 
Corporate Governance 
describes the 
methodology for the 
annual review of 
governance. The Code 
refers to a list of 31 
policies that are of key 
importance to ensuring 
good governance. Using 
a cyclical programme of 
Control Risk Self 
Assessment 
Questionnaires (CRSA), 
the extent to which SCC 
management are aware 
of the contents of 
specific policies is 
assessed each year. 
This year the CRSA 
exercise covered the 
following policies: 

· Disciplinary Policy 

· Grievance Policy 

· Ending bullying and 
harassment 

· Whistle blowing  

· Change 
Management 

· Scheme of 
Delegation  

Some elements of the disciplinary policy 
and particularly the details of the appeals 
process do not appear to be fully 
understood by a significant number of 
managers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are low numbers of formal cases 
of bullying and harassment, but other 
measures of the issue (surveys etc), 
indicate a wider potential concern. Some 
behaviours are not universally accepted 
as being examples of bullying and 
harassment, which may lead to poor 
behaviour in the workplace.   
 
 
 
 
 
Some services may be holding vacant 
posts as a means of protecting the 
workforce from the potential risk of 
redundancy in the future. 

Some 
Improvement 
Needed 

The next review of the Disciplinary 
Policy should consider the specific 
points raised by the Auditor that may 
benefit from further clarification, and 
also respondents’ desire to see a policy 
that is easier to read, supported by 
case studies, training and FAQs. (M) 
 
HR should raise the level of 
management understanding of the 
Disciplinary Policy in specific areas (M) 
 
The next review of the Bullying 
Harassment and Discrimination policy 
and guidance to provide clearer 
illustrative guidelines to staff on 
unacceptable behaviour, supported by 
innovative and concise ways to explain 
unacceptable behaviours to staff e.g. 
posters, video clips on SNET. (M) 
 
Strengthen SCC’s Whistle Blowing 
Policy to reflect the British Standards 
Institute provisions. (M) 
 
HR to clarify in the next update of the 
Change Management policy, the best 
way to treat vacant posts to minimise 
redundancies, particularly where there 
is no immediate plan to recruit to these 
posts. (M) 

P
age 197



 

 

1 Audit Opinions 
 

 

Effective  Controls evaluated are adequate, appropriate, and effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that risks are being managed and objectives should 
be met.  

Some Improvement 
Needed  

A few specific control weaknesses were noted; generally however, controls 
evaluated are adequate, appropriate, and effective to provide reasonable 
assurance that risks are being managed and objectives should be met.  

Major Improvement 
Needed  

Numerous specific control weaknesses were noted. Controls evaluated are 
unlikely to provide reasonable assurance that risks are being managed and 
objectives should be met.  

Unsatisfactory  Controls evaluated are not adequate, appropriate, or effective to provide 
reasonable assurance that risks are being managed and objectives should 
be met.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
2 Audit Recommendations  
 
Priority High (H) - major control weakness requiring immediate implementation of recommendation 
Priority Medium (M) - existing procedures have a negative impact on internal control or the efficient use of resources 
Priority Low (L) - recommendation represents good practice but its implementation is not fundamental to internal control 

 

P
age 198



 1 

S 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
18 March 2013 

LEADERSHIP RISK REGISTER 

 

SUMMARY AND PURPOSE: 

 
The purpose of this report is to present the latest Leadership risk register and update 
the committee on any changes made since the last meeting. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 
Review the Leadership risk register (Annex A) and determine whether there are any 
matters that they wish to draw to the attention of the Chief Executive, Cabinet, 
specific Cabinet Member or relevant Select Committee. 

 

LEADERSHIP RISK REGISTER: 

 
1 The Leadership risk register (Annex A) is owned by the Chief Executive and 

shows the council’s key strategic risks.  The register is reviewed by the Risk 
and Resilience Steering Group (chaired by the Assistant Chief Executive) and 
then by the Corporate Board as part of their performance, finance and risk 
monitoring.  Annex B shows the movement of the risks since they were added 
to the register. 

 
2 To assist the committee in gaining assurance on the monitoring and review of 

risks on the Leadership risk register, the register also identifies when specific 
areas have been included on Select Committee agendas and also dates of 
future Select Committee reviews, where known. 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS: 

  
 Financial 
3 Ineffective risk controls or lack of timely action may impact on reputation, costs 

or service delivery. 
 
 Equalities 
4 There are no direct equalities implications of this report. 
 
 Risk management 
5 Effective risk arrangements will lead to improved governance, value for money 

and delivery of objectives. 
 

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT: 

 
The Leadership risk register will be regularly presented to the Committee. 
 
 

 

Item 12

Page 199



 2 

REPORT AUTHOR:  Cath Edwards, Risk and Governance Manager 
 
CONTACT DETAILS:  020 8541 9193 or cath.edwards@surreycc.gov.uk 
 

Page 200



Leadership risk register as at 26 February 2013 Owner: David McNulty                 Annex A 
 

 
Ref Directorate 

register ref 
Description of the risk Inherent 

risk level 
(no 

controls) 

Existing controls Risk 
owner – 
Officer 

Risk 
owner – 
Member 

Residual 
risk level 
(after 

existing 
controls) 

Committee review 

L1 ASC2 
CAC1,8,15 
CAE9 
CSF2 
EAI6,7 

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 
- Failure to achieve savings 
in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (2012-2017) 
and additional service 
demand leads to increased 
pressure on service 
provision and damage to 
reputation. 

High - Monthly reporting to Corporate Board 
and Cabinet on the forecast outturn 
position to enable prompt management 
action 
- Generation of alternative savings and 
income 
- Adequate provision through the risk 
contingency 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team / 
Sheila Little 

David 
Hodge 

High Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee - 
on each agenda 
 
Adult Social Care: 
- 14 February 2013 
(Budget monitoring) 
 
Children & Families: 
- 30 January 2013 
(Budget monitoring) 
 
Education: 
 - 28 January 2013 
(Budget Monitoring) 
 

L14 ASC5 
CAE17 
CSF22 

Future Funding 
- Gradual erosion of the 
council's main sources of 
funding (council tax and the 
proposed new method of 
calculating formula grant) 
upon which the council is 
highly dependent and 
reductions in other funding 
(for example in relation to 
academy schools) leads to 
financial loss, damage to 
reputation and failure to 
deliver services. 
 

High - Continued proactive modelling and 
horizon scanning of the financial 
implications of local government funding 
changes and subsequent review of 
Medium Term Financial Plan (2012-2017) 
assumptions as relevant 
- Close working with district and borough 
colleagues to shape the direction of 
council tax localisation and business rate 
retention policies as well as active 
responses to government consultations 
- Development of longer-term funding 
strategy to develop alternative sources of 
funding 
- Not withstanding actions above, there is 
a high risk of central government policy 
changes impacting on the council's 
financial position. 
 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team / 
Sheila Little 

David 
Hodge 

High Audit and 
Governance 
Committee: 
- 18 March 2013 
(Finance update) 

P
age 201



Leadership risk register as at 26 February 2013 Owner: David McNulty                 Annex A 
 

Ref Directorate 
register ref 

Description of the risk Inherent 
risk level 

(no 
controls) 

Existing controls Risk 
owner – 
Officer 

Risk 
owner – 
Member 

Residual 
risk level 
(after 

existing 
controls) 

Committee review 

L7 CAE12 
EAI1,2 

Waste 
- Failure to deliver key 
waste targets (including key 
waste infrastructure) could 
lead to negative impact 

High - This is a priority issue for the service 
manager with strong resourcing and 
project planning in place that is monitored 
at board level.    
- Further work with the Districts and 
Boroughs continue, to review waste plans 
to achieve the targeted increase in 
recycling.   
- Notwithstanding the controls above, 
there is still a risk that delivery could be 
delayed by external challenge and levels 
of recycling are strongly influenced by 
district and borough collection 
arrangements which are not within SCC's 
direct control.  Although the council 
continues to work in partnership to 
achieve the desired outcome. 
 

Trevor 
Pugh 

John Furey High Environment & 
Transport SC: 
- 1 March 2012 
(Waste Partnership) 

L15 
 

NEW Welfare Reform 
Multiple central government 
welfare reform changes 
impact adversely on Surrey 
residents and put additional 
pressure on Surrey County 
Council services. 

High - Effective horizon scanning to ensure 
thorough understanding of intended 
changes 
- Implementation of a welfare reform 
programme including districts and 
boroughs covering: 

• Advice and information 

• Financial resilience 

• Emergency assistance 

• Localisation of council tax support 

• Housing and homelessness 

• Employment training and support 
- Taking opportunities to influence central 
government e.g. via the LGA. 
 
 
 
 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team 

David 
Hodge 

High Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
– reviewed on a 
quarterly basis as 
part of business 
reporting  
 
Adult Social Care 
Select Committee - 
date tbc 
 
Children & Families 
SC - 20 March 2013 

P
age 202



Leadership risk register as at 26 February 2013 Owner: David McNulty                 Annex A 
 

Ref Directorate 
register ref 

Description of the risk Inherent 
risk level 

(no 
controls) 

Existing controls Risk 
owner – 
Officer 

Risk 
owner – 
Member 

Residual 
risk level 
(after 

existing 
controls) 

Committee review 

L11 ASC12 
CEO7 
CSF18 

Information Governance 
- Failure to effectively act 
upon and embed standards 
and procedures by the 
council leads to financial 
penalties, reputational 
damage and loss of public 
trust as a result of 
enforcement action taken 
by the Information 
Commissioner. 

High - Secure environment through the Egress 
encrypted email system 
- Internal Audit Management Action Plans 
in place that are monitored by Audit & 
Governance Committee and Select 
Committees 
- Ongoing communications campaign and 
training 
- Monitoring of compliance  by Quality 
Board and Governance Panel 
- Despite the actions above, there is a 
continued risk of human error that is out of 
the council's control. 
 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team 

Denise Le 
Gal 

High Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee: 
- Monitored through 
internal audit reports 

L3 CAC2,5,12 
CAE3 
CEO3 

Business Continuity, 
Emergency Planning and 
the event of industrial 
action 
- Failure to plan, prepare 
and effectively respond to a 
known event or major 
incident results in an 
inability to deliver key 
services 
 

High - The Risk and Resilience Steering Group 
meets regularly to coordinate and lead on 
strategic resilience planning. 
- The Council Risk and Resilience Forum 
reviews, moderates, implements and tests 
operational plans. 
-Services have adequate and up to date 
business continuity plans. 
- Continued consultation with Unions and 
regular communication to staff. 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team 

Kay 
Hammond 

Medium Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee: 
- 17 April 2013 
(Business Continuity) 

L2 ASC4,9 
CAE1,2,16 
CAC13 
CSF4 
EAI4,8 

Major change 
programmes 
- Failure to deliver major 
change programmes and 
work in partnership leads to 
the organisation not being 
fit for purpose, an inability 
to meet efficiency targets, 
improve performance and 
drive culture change 
 

High - Delivery of change is tracked at both 
directorate and Corporate Board level with 
key indicators included in the Quarterly 
Business Report to the Cabinet. 
- Communications, engagement and the 
STARS programme are designed to 
respond to identified issues and gaps. 
- Work to strengthen the Council’s 
approach to innovation is developing tools 
and providing support to assist services to 
redesign services. 

Corporate 
Leadership 
Team 

Cabinet Medium Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee: 
- monitored through 
quarterly business 
report 

P
age 203



Leadership risk register as at 26 February 2013 Owner: David McNulty                 Annex A 
 

Ref Directorate 
register ref 

Description of the risk Inherent 
risk level 

(no 
controls) 

Existing controls Risk 
owner – 
Officer 

Risk 
owner – 
Member 

Residual 
risk level 
(after 

existing 
controls) 

Committee review 

L9 ASC11 
CAE13 
CSF8 

NHS Reorganisation 
- The Health and Well 
Being Board does not 
provide the necessary 
whole system leadership to 
implement the Health and 
Social Care Act. 
 

High - SCC identified as a National Leader in 
implementing the Health and Social Care 
Act.   
- Transition to new system is being 
managed well with strong joint leadership 
arrangements in place 

Sarah 
Mitchell 

Michael 
Gosling 

Medium Health Scrutiny 
Committee: 
- 15 November 2012 
(NHS Surrey) 

L4 CAE5,7 IT systems 
- major breakdown and 
disruption of systems leads 
to an inability to deliver key 
services 

High - Additional resilience has been brought 
about by the go-live of the Primary and 
Secondary Data Centres. 
- Design and implementation of a new 64 
bit Citrix farm is in progress that will bring 
resilience and performance 
enhancements. 
- Work in progress to increase the 
performance of login/logout times. 
- UNICORN Network is fully on track for 
completion by the end of March 2013. 
 

Julie Fisher Denise Le 
Gal 

Medium Council Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee: 
-  1 February 2013 
(IMT service review) 

L5 ASC7,16 
CSF6,16 

Safeguarding 
- avoidable failure in 
Children's and/or Adults 
care leads to serious harm 
or death 

High - Appropriate and timely interventions by 
well recruited, trained, supervised and 
managed professionals, with robust 
quality assurance and prompt action to 
address any identified failings. 
 

Sarah 
Mitchell / 
Caroline 
Budden 

Michael 
Gosling/ 
Mary Angell 

Medium Children & Families 
Select Committee 
and Adult Social 
Care Committee: 
- on each agenda 

 

Key to references: 
ASC = Adult Social Care   CEO = Chief Executive’s Office 
CAC = Customers and Communities  CSF = Children, Schools and Families 
CAE = Change and Efficiency   EAI = Environment and Infrastructure

P
age 204



Movement of risks 
 

Ref Risk Date 

added 

Residual risk 

level when 

added 

Movement Current 

residual risk 

level 

L1 
Medium Term 
Financial Plan 

Aug 12 High - - High 

L2 
Major change 
programmes 

May 10 High Jan 12 � Medium 

L3 
Business Continuity 
and Emergency 
Management 

May 10 Medium Aug 12 � Medium 

L4 IT systems May 10 Medium - - Medium 

L5 Safeguarding May 10 Medium - - Medium 

L6 
Resource Allocation 
System in adults 
personalisation 

May 10 - Aug 12 * - 

L7 Waste May 10 High - - High 

L8 
Integrated Childrens 
System 

May 10 - Feb 11 * - 

L9 NHS reorganisation Sep 10 High Jan 12 � Medium 

L10 
2012 project 
management 

Sep 10 - Aug 12 * - 

L11 
Information 
governance 

Dec 10 High - - High 

L12 LLDD budget transfer May 11 - Mar 12 * - 

L13 
2012 command, 
control, coordination 
and communication 

Dec 11 - Sep 12 * - 

L14 Future funding Aug 12 High - - High 

L15 Welfare reform Feb 13 High - - High 

 
 
* Removed from the risk register 

Page 205



P
age 206

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING [21 February 2013]
	5 RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER
	Item 05 - Recommendations Tracker

	6 Effectiveness Review of the System of Internal Audit
	7 External Audit - audit plan
	External Audit Progress Report - Surrey County Council
	External Audit - Surrey County Council Audit Plan 2012-13

	8 Pension Fund Q3
	9 Self Assessment on issues raised in -'Financial sustainability of local authorities'
	Financial sustainability of local authorities
	Grant Thornton Towards Tipping Point

	10 Internal Audit Plan
	Annex A - SCC Internal Audit Charter
	Annex B - IA Strategy 2013-2017
	Annex C - Rep and Escln Policy
	Annex D - Audit Plan

	11 Completed Internal Audit Reports
	Completed audit reports Annex A

	12 Leadership risk register
	Annex A


